

Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health

Volume: 11 Issue: 1 Year: 2025

ISSN: 2149-214X



e-ISSN:2149-214X

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editors

Valarie L. Akerson- Indiana University, U.S.A

Seyit Ahmet Kiray, Necmettin Erbakan University, Turkiye

Section Editors

Manuel Fernandez - Universidad Europea de Madrid, Spain

Mustafa Sami Topcu - Yildiz Technical University, Turkiye

Editorial Board

Angelia Reid-Griffin- University of North Carolina, United States Ching-San Lai- National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan

Ingo Eilks - University of Bremen, Germany

Jennifer Wilhelm- University of Kentucky, United States

Lloyd Mataka-Lewis-Clark State College, United States

Manuel Fernandez - Universidad Europea de Madrid, Spain Osman Çardak - Necmettin Erbakan University

P.N. Iwuanyanwu-University of the Western Cape, S.Africa

Sinan Erten, Hacettepe University, Turkiye

Steven Sexton-College of Education, University of Otago, New Zealand V. Ferreira Pinto, Universidade Estadual do Norte Fluminense Darcy Ribeiro (UENF), Brazil

Zalpha Ayoubi- Lebanese University, Lebanon

William W. COBERN - Western Michigan University, U.S.A. Ilkka Ratinen, University of Jyväskylä, Finland Iwona Bodys-Cupak-Jagiellonian University, Poland Kamisah Osman- National University of Malaysia, Malaysia Luecha Ladachart- University of Phayao, Thailand Mustafa Sami Topcu, Yildiz Technical University, Turkiye Patrice Potvin- Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada Sandra Abegglen- London Metropolitan University, England Sofie Gårdebjer, Chalmers University of Technology, Sweden Tammy R. McKeown- Virginia Commonwealth University, U.S.A. Wan Ng- University of Technology Sydney, Australia Ying-Chih Chen, Arizona State University, United States

Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health (JESEH)

The Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health (JESEH) is a peer-reviewed and online free journal. The JESEH is published quarterly in January, April, July and October. The language of the journal is English only. As an open access journal, Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health (JESEH) does not charge article submission or processing fees. JESEH is a non-profit journal and publication is completely free of charge.

The JESEH welcomes any research papers on education in science, environment and health using techniques from and applications in any technical knowledge domain: original theoretical works, literature reviews, research reports, social issues, psychological issues, curricula, learning environments, book reviews, and review articles. The articles should be original, unpublished, and not in consideration for publication elsewhere at the time of submission to the JESEH.

Abstracting/Indexing

Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health (JESEH) is indexed by following abstracting and indexing services: Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), DOAJ, Wilson Education Index

Submissions

All submissions should be in electronic (.Doc or .Docx) format. Submissions in PDF and other non-editable formats are not acceptable. Manuscripts can be submitted through the journal website. All manuscripts should use the latest APA style. The manuscript template for formatting is available on the journal website.

Contact Info

Journal of Education in Science, Environment and Health (JESEH) Email: jesehoffice@gmail.com Web : www.jeseh.net



e-ISSN:2149-214X

CONTENTS

Reducing Environmental Pollution Through Behavioral Change and Education: A Repeated Cross- Sectional Pilot Study
Junu Shrestha, Ranju Karki, Esther A. Adewusi
The Relationship between Gifted Students' Scientific Epistemological Beliefs and Climate Change
Awareness Levels
Yesim Ozdeniz, Hilal Aktamis
Decarbonizing K-12 Schools in the United States: Challenges, Opportunities and Future Directions 24-33
Ryan Kmetz, Gus Norrbom
The Examination of the Concept of Health Literacy through Bibliometric Analysis Method 34-46 <i>Dilek Kolca, Selahattin Caner</i>
An Investigation of Coding Education Practices in terms of Primary School Students' Algorithmic Thinking Skills and Students' Opinions
Development of Science Process Skills and Learning Achievement Using Flipped Classroom Learning Management through Inquiry-Based Learning for Grade 8 Students



https://doi.org/10.55549/jeseh.750

Reducing Environmental Pollution through Behavioral Change and Education: A Repeated Cross-Sectional Pilot Study

Junu Shrestha, Ranju Karki, Esther A. Adewusi

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	This repeated cross-sectional pilot study examined the impact of environmental
Published: 01 January 2025	education on reducing overall waste generation among students enrolled in an environmental health course from Fall 2020 to Spring 2023. The data included trash generation, single-use plastic, and paper products. Each student logged
Received: 20 August 2024	their daily usage of these waste products in a standard spreadsheet. The data collection phases were divided into three behavioral change intervention timelines: Before-Intervention (BI-Week 1-5), Phase -1 (PH1I- Week 6-10), and
Accepted: 24 December 2024	Phase-2 Intervention (PH2I-Week 11-14). The study found a significant reduction in the use of grocery bags (p <0.001*), produce bags (p =0.03*), cutlery/straws (p =0.01*), paper towels (p <0.001*), toilet paper (p <0.001*), the
Keywords	weight ($p=0.003^*$) and number($p=0.02^*$) of trash. The results indicated that the mean differences in waste such as paper towels $p<0.001^*$ (PH1I VS
Environmental education Intervention Waste reduction Statistical analysis	BI); $p<0.001*(PH2I VS BI)$; $p=0.009*(PH2I VS PH1I)$], toilet paper [$p=0.003*(PH1I VS BI)$; $p=0.001*(PH2I VS BI)$; $p<0.001*(PH2I VS PH1I)$], grocery bags [$p=0.001*(PH1I VS BI)$; $p=0.001*(PH2I VS PH1I)$, Cutlery/Straw [$p=0.006*(PH1I VS BI)$; $p=0.007*(PH2I VS BI)$, and the average weight of trash bags [$p=0.002*$ (PH1I VS BI); $p=0.004*(PH2I VS PH1I)$] were statistically significant after the interventions. Therefore, the study concluded that environmental awareness, self-accountability, and education are effective in controlling single-use plastic and paper products and reducing trash generation.

Introduction

The environmental and health impacts of solid waste generation, microplastics from plastic products, paper waste, and other pollutants are extensive. These waste products contribute to various environmental and health consequences, including pollution, climate change, ecosystem degradation, and direct health risks to humans from chemical exposures and pollution-related diseases. Solid waste generation leads to significant environmental pollution, as improper disposal and accumulation of waste can contaminate soil, water, and air (Landrigan et al., 2018).

Due to increased production, solid waste generation, such as trash that includes plastics and paper products, has become critical for the environment and public health. According to the United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) Global Waste Management Outlook 2024, municipal solid waste generation is predicted to grow from 2.1 billion to 3.8 billion tonnes from 2023 to 2050 (UNEP, 2024). According to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the amount of trash generated in the United States reached approximately 292.4 million tons in 2018, highlighting the urgency of addressing waste management practices (USEPA, 2018). While solid waste management is constantly being addressed to reduce environmental pollution, it is essential to tackle the problem from the roots of per capita waste generation. Reports show that high-income countries like the United States contribute enormous amounts of solid waste to land and oceans despite the robust waste management systems (Law et al., 2020). This is due to the large coastal populations and high per capita waste generation. The US also produces an enormous amount of plastic waste in the world and has the most significant annual per capita plastic waste generation (>100 kg), followed by other highly populated countries like India and China (Kaza et al., 2018; USEPA, 2019). With growing concerns about environmental degradation and the consequences of solid waste accumulation, there is a critical need to raise awareness and explore strategies for mitigating pollution levels at an individual level.

Solid waste generated individually and municipally contributes a menace to the environment in varying degrees. Worthy of note is the particularly insidious threat that microplastics from plastic products pose. These tiny plastic particles can persist in the environment for centuries, accumulating in oceans, rivers, and soil (Hammer

2 Shrestha, Karki & Adewusi

et al., 2012, Landrigan et al., 2020). They are ingested by marine life and other wildlife, leading to the bioaccumulation of toxins up the food chain, ultimately affecting human health through the consumption of contaminated seafood and water. Additionally, microplastics can cause physical harm to organisms, disrupt endocrine systems, and carry harmful pathogens and pollutants (Jambeck et al., 2015). Although paper waste is often considered less toxic and biodegradable, it also contributes to environmental degradation. Recycling paper, although beneficial in reducing waste and conserving resources, is not without its environmental costs. Recycling requires energy and water, and the de-inking process can produce sludge that must be managed carefully to avoid environmental contamination. In addition, not all paper products are recyclable, especially those contaminated with food waste or coated with plastic, leading to more waste ending up in landfills (USEPA, 2019). The chemicals used in producing plastics and paper, such as bisphenol A (BPA) and various bleaching agents, can be toxic, leading to severe health issues, including cancer, endocrine disruption, and reproductive health illnesses. BPA, commonly found in reusable plastic water bottles, is known for its ability to mimic estrogen, leading to hormonal imbalances and associated health problems such as polycystic ovarian syndrome, hypothyroidism, and liver function abnormalities (Hengstler et al., 2011). Similarly, the bleaching agents used in paper production can release harmful substances into the environment, which may cause adverse health effects when humans are exposed. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are additives commonly used in plastic production and have been indicated in the proliferation of reproductive disorders in humans, altered hormone levels, and contamination of aquatic life even at minimal concentrations (Alabi et al., 2019). Another pollutant is methane gas - a potent greenhouse gas that exacerbates climate change and is a byproduct of organic waste decomposition in landfills. In landfills, the anaerobic decomposition of organic materials, including paper waste, produces methane, which has a global warming potential many times greater than carbon dioxide over a brief period. This makes managing organic waste critical in mitigating climate change impacts (USEPA, 2021).

Exposure to pollutants from waste further exacerbates health risks. Chemicals released during the breakdown of plastics and paper can contaminate air, water, and soil, leading to various health issues. Respiratory problems are common in areas with prominent levels of air pollution, often resulting from the incineration of waste or the release of volatile organic compounds from decomposing materials. Cardiovascular diseases are also linked to prolonged exposure to environmental pollutants, which can lead to inflammation and other adverse health outcomes (Landrigan et al., 2018; USEPA, 2018).

Research indicates that promoting healthy behaviors and reinforcing existing practices can be effectively achieved by applying research-based strategies and targeted interventions. In addressing the environmental impacts of pollution, public awareness campaigns and educational programs are critical in influencing how individuals use and dispose of potential pollutants. By fostering a deeper understanding of environmental issues and encouraging behavior change, such interventions can play a pivotal role in mitigating the negative effects of environmental pollution on ecosystems (Orji et al., 2018).

Therefore, this pilot study aims to understand how changes in individual behaviors can reduce the overall volume of solid waste produced by examining daily waste generation habits and the effectiveness of educational interventions. The research also seeks to identify practical ways to encourage more sustainable practices. This includes promoting waste reduction, increased recycling, and the adoption of more environmentally friendly consumption patterns.

Method

Study Design

The research employs a multi-year repeated cross-sectional study design to systematically track and analyze waste generation among students over several semesters. The study was conducted from Fall 2020 to Spring 2023, a total of six semesters. This study involves collecting data from students each semester, allowing for the assessment of temporal trends and variations in waste generation patterns. The data collection methodology involves students actively participating in the study by tracking their daily waste generation over an entire semester. Each student is provided with a standardized data log sheet at the beginning of the semester to ensure consistency and accuracy in data recording. The log sheet includes fields for various types of waste (e.g., recyclables, compostables, non-recyclables) and requires students to log the quantity or number of waste items generated each day. (See the Attached Appendix). This hands-on approach gathers valuable data and raises students' awareness of waste-generation habits (Figure 1).

Three distinct behavioral activities were used for data collection:

- Tracking plastic products such as grocery bags, produce bags, other bags made of plastic, and singleuse plastic such as food containers, straws, and forks.
- Tracking single-use paper products such as toilet paper and paper towels.
- Solid waste management by tracking the amount of trash and recyclables.

The study aims to educate students about waste management and sustainability practices. By involving them directly in the data collection process, students become more aware of their waste generation habits and the broader implications of waste management. This hands-on experience enhances a deeper understanding of sustainability issues. It encourages students to adopt more environmentally responsible behaviors, contributing to the overall goal of promoting sustainable practices within the community.

Institutional Review Board

This research project was approved by the University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), Protocol 21-010. The study involves the voluntary participation of students who will track their daily waste production over a semester using standardized data log sheets provided at the beginning of the term. At the end of the semester, the instructor emailed all students who completed the semester project, requesting their permission to use the collected data for this research. An informed consent form was included in the email, which is essential for approving the release of their data for further analysis. If students do not consent to release their data, the instructor will exclude it from the study.

Data Collection and Analysis

At the beginning of the semester, the instructor provided a detailed methodology for the semester project, outlining the objectives and procedures. A standard data log sheet was distributed to each student to ensure consistency in the data collection strategy, and this log sheet was also shared in an online folder for easy access and real-time updates. Students had to enter their daily waste generation data in real-time into the log sheet.

The instructor worked closely with each student throughout the semester to refine their data collection methodology and ensure accurate and consistent data recording. As our goal is to find the long-term effect of the intervention on waste management, we recognize that initial enthusiasm and commitment often wane over time. When we learn something new, we are typically excited and dedicated for the first few weeks, but maintaining consistency becomes challenging as time progresses. Therefore, we aim to evaluate the long-term effectiveness of general education about waste generation and management. To achieve this, we divided our data into three time points:

- i. Before the intervention (BI), from Week 1 to Week 5 (W1-W5)
- ii. Phase 1- Five weeks after the intervention (PH1I), from Week 6 to Week 10 (W6-W10), and
- iii. Phase 2- Four weeks after the Phase 1 intervention (PH2I), from Week 11 to Week 14 (W11-W14).

This division allows us to analyze the immediate impact of the intervention as well as its sustained effectiveness over a longer period. During the pre-intervention phase, students maintained their usual daily routines and collected data on their waste generation. In the post-intervention phase, students adopted best practices to limit their waste generation sustainably, implementing strategies learned through educational interventions. This approach allowed for a comparative analysis of waste generation before and after adopting sustainable practices. The study used an MS Excel program for data entry and then R version 4.4.1 for the statistical analysis. Data were tested for outliers and violations of normality and sphericity assumptions. The Shapiro-Wilk normality test and Mauchly's test of sphericity were employed to assess these assumptions. In cases where extreme outliers were detected, a log transformation was applied to the data to mitigate their impact and meet the necessary assumptions for further analysis.

Repeated measures ANOVA (RM-ANOVA) was used to determine whether the mean or log-transformed means of waste generated significantly differed across the three-time points (BI, PH1I, PH2I). Paired t-tests were conducted to compare all possible pairs of different time points. In cases where normality was violated, Friedman's test was used to assess significant differences between the distributions of the groups (time). The Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was employed for matched-pair comparisons of the groups.

In cases of violating the sphericity assumption, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. This correction adjusts the degrees of freedom for the F-distribution in RM-ANOVA to account for the violation of sphericity. The significance level was set at 0.05. For pairwise comparisons, significance levels were adjusted using the Bonferroni correction (i.e., 0.05 / 3 = 0.017). If a log transformation was applied, all statistical analyses were conducted on the transformed data.



Figure 1. Flowchart of the research design

Results

The data used in this study were collected from students enrolled in the Fall 2020 to Spring 2023 semesters. 109 students took the class over six semesters, and 34 consented to use their data for this study. Each semester, students were asked to track plastic products such as grocery bags, produce bags, other plastic bags, and single-use plastics like food containers, straws, and forks. They were also asked to track paper products such as paper towels and toilet paper. Additionally, they tracked the amount of trash, the number of trash bags, and recyclables for solid waste generation. 12 participants tracked single-use paper products, 11 tracked single-use plastic products, and 11 tracked solid waste generation.

Testing for Outliers, Normality, and Sphericity

After separating our data into three intervention groups (BI, PH1I, PH2I) based on our research questions, we analyzed the descriptive statistics for each group. All waste types in Table 1 had outliers, including extreme outliers. We considered these outliers to be natural and retained them in the dataset. We applied a log transformation for waste types with extreme outliers and violations of the normality assumption. If outliers were still present after transformation, we performed the analysis both with and without the outliers and compared the results. In all cases, we observed the same conclusions. We then checked the normality and sphericity assumptions for each type of waste. The results (P-values) of the Shapiro-Wilk normality test (S) and Mauchly's test of sphericity (M) are presented in Table 1 for each group.

The data for single-use produce bags, cutlery and straws, toilet paper, pounds of trash, and the number of trash bags satisfied the normality assumption but did not satisfy the sphericity assumption. Therefore, we applied one-way RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser sphericity correction. Additionally, the PH1I group for single-use grocery bags and the BI group for single-use paper towels did not satisfy the normality assumption, with P-values of 0.02 and 0.04, even after log transformation. Consequently, we used the non-parametric alternative to RM-ANOVA, the Friedman test, to check for significant differences between the distributions of the log-transformed waste amounts within groups (time).

Waste type	Tests	BI	PH1I	PH2I			
Grocory Bag*	S	0.34	0.02*	0.27			
Glocely Dag	Μ	0.08					
Produce Pag ⁺	S	0.11	0.38	0.1			
FIGUICE Dag	Μ	$< 0.001^{+}$					
Cupe and lide	S	0.58	0.15	0.51			
Cups and nus+	Μ	0.26					
Cutlory and straw ⁺	S	0.25	0.26	0.66			
Cutiery and straw	Μ	0.003^{+}					
Dapar Towal*	S	0.04*	0.11	0.39			
raper rower	Μ	0.17					
Toilat Papar*	S	0.08	0.23	0.38			
Tonet Paper	Μ	0.007*					
Dounds of Trash*	S	0.85	0.25	0.48			
Founds of Trash	Μ	0.03*					
No. of Trach back	S	0.22	0.14	0.27			
No. of Trash Dag	Μ	0.002*					
*P- values obtained from log-transformed data							
⁺ P-value obtained from	n original	data					

Table 1. Shapiro-Wilk normality test (S) and Mauchly's test (M)

Single-Used Paper Products

This study analyzed two types of paper waste generated in common households: toilet paper and paper towels. Twelve subjects were included and divided into three timeline data point groups (BI, PH1I, PH2I). Figure 2 shows the average waste generated from single-use paper products each week. The average weekly waste of single-use paper towel sheets for each person was approximately 37 during the study period. In contrast, each person's average weekly waste of single-use toilet paper sheets was approximately 107.

Toilet Paper Paper Towel 150 No. of Sheets PH1I BI PH2I 100 50 1 2 3 5 6 7 8 9 10 13 14 4 11 12 Weeks Figure 2. Average sheets of paper products

Average Sheets of Paper Products

Table 2 presents the mean and 95% confidence interval for the waste generated from single-use paper products for the BI, PH1I, and PH2I groups. The normality assumption for toilet paper waste was satisfied after log transformation; however, the sphericity assumption was not. Thus, RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser correction revealed a significant difference between the mean log number of sheets of toilet paper across the three data points BI, PH1I, and PH2I (P-value < 0.001). Since normality was not satisfied even after log transformation for one of the three groups of toilet paper waste, the Friedman test was applied. It revealed statistically significant differences between the distributions of the three paired groups (BI, PH1I, PH2I) (P-value < 0.001).

Table 2. Intervention effects	on single-use	paper products
-------------------------------	---------------	----------------

			0 0	T T T		
Waste Type		BI	PH1I	PH2I	P-value	
Depar Towal	Mean	129.78	51.72	22.71		
Paper Tower	95% CI	(44.11, 378.14)	(15, 166.8)	(6.62,77.91)	P < 0.001‡	
Toilat Dapar	Mean	328.95	136.62	80.50	P < 0.001*	
Tonet Paper	95% CI	(106, 1015.70)	(39.44, 473.25)	(23.02, 281.52)	$P < 0.001^{\circ}$	
All results are obtained from back transformation.						

*P-value is given for RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser sphericity correction.

[‡]P-value is given for Friedman's test.

Given the significant differences between groups for both types of waste—paper towels and toilet paper—we performed pairwise t-tests and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests to identify which groups differed. The results are presented in Table 3, which shows statistically significant differences in waste generation for paper towels and toilet paper between the following time points: BI and PH1I, BI and PH2I, and PH1I and PH2I (P-value < 0.017). The mean waste generation for paper towels was 60% lower during PH1I than BI. For PH2I, the mean waste generation declined 83% compared to BI and 56% compared to PH1I. Similarly, the mean waste generation PH1I for toilet paper was 58% lower than BI. For PH2I, it was 75% lower than BI and 41% lower than PH1I. Therefore, education on waste generation/management proved to be very effective in controlling the use of single-use paper products.

Table 3. Pairwise comparison between groups for single used papers

Single-use paper products		PH1I VS BI	PH2I VS BI	PH2I VS PH1I		
Paper Towel	Mean difference	0.40	0.17	0.44		
	P-value‡	< 0.001*	< 0.001*	0.009*		
Tailat Daman	Mean difference	0.42	0.25	0.59		
I offet Paper	P-value*	0.003*	0.001*	< 0.001*		
All results are ob	tained from back trans	formation.				
P-values* are obtained from paired t-tests.						
P-values [‡] are obtained from pairwise Wilcoxon signed-rank tests.						
All the P-values are adjusted Using the Bonferroni Multiple Testing correction method.						

Single-Use Plastic Products

This study analyzed four types of plastic waste generated in common households: grocery bags, produce bags, cups and lids, and cutlery and straws. Eleven subjects were divided into three data points (BI, PH1I, and PH2I). Figure 3 shows the average waste generated from single-use plastic products each week. The average weekly use of single-use grocery bags per person was approximately six, single-use produce bags were about three, and single-use cups and lids were approximately three, as was the single-use cutlery and straws per person during the study period.

Average Number of Plastic Products



Figure 3. Average number of plastic products

Table 4 presents the mean and 95% confidence interval for the waste generated from single-use plastic products for the groups BI, PH1I, and PH2I.

Grocery Bags: The normality assumption was not satisfied for grocery bags even after log transformation for one of the three groups, so the Friedman test was applied. This test revealed statistically significant differences between the distributions of the paired groups BI, PH1I, and PH2I, with a p-value of <0.001.

Cups and Lids: The normality and sphericity assumptions were satisfied for cups and lids waste, so RM-ANOVA was performed to check for significant differences between the means of the three groups (time points). The difference was not substantial, with a p-value of 0.21.

Produce Bags, Cutlery, and Straws: After the log transformation, the normality assumption was satisfied for the produce bags, cutlery, and straws, but the sphericity assumption was not. Therefore, RM-ANOVA with correction was applied, indicating significant differences between the mean numbers of produce bags, cutlery, and straws across the three groups, with p-values of 0.03 and 0.01, respectively.

_

Table 4. Intervention effects on single-use plastic products							
Waste type		BI	PH1I	PH2I	P-value		
Cueser Dect	Mean	40.29	12.18	8.41	D < 0.001 +		
Glocely Bag	95% CI	(26.52, 60.94)	(4.20, 32.37)	(3.66, 18.01)	F < 0.001		
Droduce Dec	Mean	18.27	9.27	6.18	0.02*		
Produce Bag	95% CI	(8.20, 28.34)	(5.57, 12.98)	(2.77, 9.59)	0.03		
Cups and lide	Mean	16.45	15.45	11.45	0.21+		
Cups and nus	95% CI	(9.34,23.57)	(5.71, 25.20)	(5.14, 17.77)	0.21		
Cutlery and	Mean	21.45	11.91	8.00	0.01*		
straw	95% CI	(11.93, 30.97)	(6.51, 17.31)	(3.89, 12.11)	0.01*		
†Results are obtain	ined from ba	ck transformation. †F	-value is given for	Friedman's test.			
*P-value is given for RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser sphericity correction.							
[‡] P-value is given for RM-ANOVA.							

Table 5 shows statistically significant differences between mean log waste generated from single-use plastics. Grocery Bags: There were statistically significant differences in the mean log waste generated from single-use grocery bags (P-value < 0.017), with a 58% reduction in mean usage five weeks post-intervention (PH1I) compared to before the intervention (BI) and a 29% reduction nine weeks post-intervention (PH2I) compared to PH1I. However, the difference from BI to PH2I was insignificant (P-value = 0.08) despite a 71% decrease in mean waste production.

Table 5. Pairwise comparison between groups for single-use plastic Single-use plastic products PH1I VS BI PH2I VS PH2I VS PH1I BI Grocery Bag Mean difference* 0.23 0.71 0.32 P-value* 0.001* 0.001* 0.08 Mean difference+ Produce Bag 9.0 12.10 3.10 P-value⁺ 0.06 0.02 0.05 Mean difference+ Cups and lids 1.0 5.0 4.0P-value⁺ 0.78 0.11 0.1 Cutlery and Mean difference+ 9.56 13.45 3.91 P-value⁺ 0.006* 0.007* straw 0.05 Mean differences* are obtained from back transformation. Mean difference+ are obtained from original data/without data transformation. P-values* are obtained from pairwise Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. P-values⁺ are obtained from paired t-tests.

All P-values are adjusted Using the Bonferroni Multiple Testing correction method.

Produce Bags: The RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser sphericity correction indicated a significant difference in the mean waste generated from produce bags among the three groups. However, pairwise t-tests after correction were non-significant (P-value > 0.017): P-value = 0.06 for PH1I vs. BI, P-value = 0.02 for PH2I vs. BI, and P-value = 0.05 for PH2I vs. PH1I. This may be due to the increased stringency of the correction, a smaller effect size, or a small sample size in the individual comparisons.

Cups and Lids: The results showed a mean percentage decline of 6% from BI to PH1I, 30% from BI to PH2I, and 26% from PH1I to PH2I. Both the non-significant repeated measures ANOVA (P-value > 0.05) and non-significant pairwise t-tests (P-value > 0.017) indicate no significant differences between the means of groups BI,

PH1I, and PH2I. This suggests that the educational intervention did not significantly affect the use of cups and lids.

Cutlery and Straw: There were statistically significant differences in mean waste generation from single-use cutlery and straws between BI and PH1I and between PH2I and BI (P-value < 0.017), with a mean percentage decrease of 45% and 63%, respectively. However, there was no statistically significant difference between PH2I and PH1I, with a mean percentage decline of 33%. This indicates that education on waste management had a short-term effect on reducing waste from cutlery and straws but was ineffective in the long term.

Solid Waste Generation

In this study, we analyzed two types of waste generated in common households: the number and weight of trash bags. Eleven subjects were included and divided into three different time points (BI, PH1I, and PH2I). Figure 4 shows the average number and weight of trash generated each week. The overall average weekly waste generated from trash bags per person was approximately four bags, while the overall average weekly weight of trash generated per person was approximately thirteen pounds.



Average Number of Trash Generated

Weeks Figure 4. Average number/pound of trash generated

Table 6 presents the mean and 95% confidence interval for the waste generated from the number and weight of trash bags before intervention (BI), five weeks post-intervention (PH1I), and nine weeks post-intervention (PH2I). The normality assumption was satisfied after the log transformation of the number and weight of trash generated, but the sphericity assumption was not. Thus, RM-ANOVA with correction was applied, revealing significant differences between the mean log number of trash bags and the mean log weight for the groups BI, PH1I, and PH2I, with P-values of 0.02 and 0.003, respectively.

Table 6. Intervention effects on number and pound of trash								
Waste type	BI		PH1I	PH2I	P-value			
Weight of Treah	mean	70.40	41.67	27.50	0.002*			
Weight of Trash	95% CI	(46.09, 107.53)	(22.67, 76.67)	(13.03, 58.04)	0.005*			
No. of Treads been	mean	13.89	11.12	7.49	0.02*			
No. of Trash bag	95% CI	(7.23, 26.71)	(6.22, 19.86)	(4.61, 12.17)	0.02*			
All results are obtained from back transformation.								
The P-value* is given for RM-ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser sphericity correction.								

Given the significant differences between groups, we performed pairwise t-tests to identify which groups differed, and the results are shown in Table 7. Number of Trash Bags: The results indicated that the mean number of trash bags generated was 20% lower in PH1I and 46% lower in PH2I than BI. Additionally, the mean number of trash bags generated in PH1I was 48% lower compared to PH2I. However, these differences were not significant in pairwise comparisons using the t-test after adjusting for multiple comparisons (P-value > 0.017).

Weight of Trash Bags: There were statistically significant differences in the mean log weight of trash bags (P-value < 0.017), with 41% less mean waste generated in PH1I compared to BI and 34% less mean weight in PH2I compared to PH1I. However, there was no significant difference in the mean log weight of trash bags from BI to PH2I (P-value = 0.05), even though there was a 61% decline in the mean weight of trash bags generated in PH2I compared to BI.

Table 7. Pairwise comparison between groups for number/pound of trash							
Trash Generated	PH1I VS BI PH2I VS BI PH2I VS PH						
Weight of Trach	Mean difference	0.59	0.39	0.66			
weight of Trash	P-value	0.002*	0.05	0.004*			
No. of Trach Bage	Mean difference	0.80	0.54	1.48			
No. of Trash Bags	P-value	0.04	0.02	0.03			
All results are obtained from back transformation.							
P-values are obtained from paired T-tests and were adjusted using the							
Bonferroni Multiple Testing Correction Method.							

Discussions and Conclusions

Several studies have examined the relationship between behavioral activities and environmental pollution. Individual behaviors, such as recycling and composting practices, significantly influence the amount of waste produced. Similarly, eco-friendly behaviors like reusable bags and containers can minimize environmental harm (Smith et al., 2017; Jones & Brown, 2019). Environmental education interventions (EEI) are essential in reducing waste generation and fostering pro-environmental behaviors. A study conducted among students at an academic public health institution indicated that waste generation dropped by 60.1% from the baseline measurement. The EEI program was particularly effective among women and graduate students, who significantly reduced their use of multilayer packaging and non-ecological materials (Torres-Pereda et al., 2020). Similar results were observed in our study, where students significantly reduced their waste generation through environmental education.

This study found that the mean number of trash bags generated was 20% lower during five weeks post-intervention (PH1I) compared to before the intervention (BI) and 46% reduction nine weeks post-intervention (PH2I) than before intervention (BI). We did not find a statistical significance in the mean number of trash bags generated in PH1I compared to PH2I. This means there is an effect in the first intervention but not during the second intervention for the number of trash bags generated. Similarly, the mean log weight of trash bags was 41% less waste generated in PH1I compared to BI and 34% less mean weight in PH2I compared to PH1I. However, there was no significant difference in the mean log weight of trash bags from BI and PH2I. This also showed that the long-term effects of intervention were challenging to maintain.

This study also found a significant reduction in the use of single-use paper towels and toilet paper between BI, PH1I, and PH2I, with a p-value of less than 0.001. When we compared the mean waste generation of each pair, the results indicated that the mean waste generation for paper towels was 60% lower during PH1I than BI. PH2I, the mean waste generation, declined 83% compared to BI and 56% compared to PH1I. Similarly, the mean waste generation PH1I for toilet paper was 58% lower than BI. For PH2I, it was 75% lower than BI and 41% lower than PH1I. Therefore, education on waste generation/management proved to be very effective in controlling the use of single-use paper products.

This study also analyzed single-use plastic products such as grocery bags, produce bags, cups and lids, cutlery, and straws. We found statistically significant differences in the mean log waste generated from single-use grocery bags with a P-value less than 0.017, with a 58% reduction in PH1I compared to BI and a 29% reduction in PH2I compared to PH1I. However, the difference between mean log waste generated among BI to PH2I was insignificant. This means the effect of the intervention did not last long for single-use plastic grocery bags. For single-use plastic produce bags, we found significant difference in the mean waste generated from produce bags among the three groups: BI, PH1I, and PH2I but there was not any difference between pairwise comparison. There were statistically significant differences in mean waste generation from single-use cutlery and straws between BI and PH1I and between PH2I and BI with a mean percentage decrease of 45% and 63%, respectively. However, there was no statistically significant difference between PH2I and PH1I, with a mean percentage decline of 33%. This indicates that education on waste management had a short-term effect on reducing waste from cutlery and straws but was ineffective in the long term. We did not find significant

evidence of a reduction in mean waste generated from cups and lids among BI, PH1I, and PH2I. This suggests that the educational intervention did not significantly affect the use of cups and lids.

Environmental education positively impacts students' knowledge and attitudes toward waste segregation. Studies indicate that students exposed to environmental education develop a more positive attitude toward waste segregation than those not (Erhabor, 2023). Community-based initiatives also play a key role in promoting sustainable behaviors and reducing waste generation. Educational campaigns and policy interventions encourage individuals to adopt environmentally responsible practices. Existing literature suggests that changing behavioral activities can reduce environmental pollution by addressing individual waste generation patterns. Strategies such as recycling, composting, and adopting eco-friendly consumer choices have contributed to mitigating solid waste accumulation and promoting environmental sustainability (Green et al., 2020; Steg et al., 2005; Pham et, al., 2023). However, further research is needed to assess the long-term effectiveness of these interventions and identify additional measures for enhancing environmental awareness and action. In summary, we found that environmental education positively impacts students' knowledge and attitudes toward waste generation and management. However, it is difficult to maintain the motivation to reduce waste management. So, we must frequently provide education on the importance of waste management in daily life.

Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study, it is recommended that educational institutions and policymakers incorporate targeted environmental education programs to reduce solid waste, single-use plastic, and paper waste among students. The significant reduction in waste generation observed through behavioral change interventions underscores the importance of integrating practical, hands-on learning experiences in environmental health curricula. However, in some waste generation, such as single-use plastic produce bags, plastic cups, and lids, we did not have enough evidence to prove if there is any reduction in pairwise comparison between each pair: PH1I vs. BI, PH2I vs. BI, and PH2I vs. PH1I for single-use plastic produce bags. This may be due to the increased stringency of the correction, a smaller effect size, or a small sample size in the individual comparisons. Therefore, further research should focus on expanding the sample size and exploring the long-term impacts of such educational interventions across diverse student populations. Through these collaborative efforts, institutions can be pivotal in cultivating environmentally responsible behaviors, contributing to broader sustainability goals.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

The authors declare that the scientific, ethical, and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors.

Acknowledgments or Notes

We want to thank all the students who consented to provide their data for this study.

References

- Alabi, O. A., Ologbonjaye, K. I., Awosolu, O., & Alalade, O. E. (2019). Public and environmental health effects of plastic waste disposal: A review. *Journal of Toxicology and Risk Assessment*, 5(021), 1–13.
- Erhabor, N. I. (2023). Impact of environmental education on the knowledge and attitude of University of Benin students towards waste segregation. *Preprint by Qeios, 1*, VEJM85.
- Green, K., Martinez, L., & Thompson, J. (2020). Community-based initiatives for waste reduction: A systematic review. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 108, 142–150.
- Hammer, J., Kraak, M. H., & Parsons, J. R. (2012). Plastics in the marine environment: The dark side of a modern gift. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 220, 1–44.
- Hengstler, J. G., Foth, H., Gebel, T., Kramer, P. J., Lilienblum, W., Schweinfurth, H., Volkel, W., Wollin, K. M., & Gundert-Remy, U. (2011). Critical evaluation of key evidence on the human health hazards of exposure to bisphenol A. Critical Reviews in Toxicology, 41(4), 263–291.

Jambeck, J. R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R., & Law, K. L. (2015). *Plastic Waste Inputs from Land into the Ocean. Science*, 347(6223), 768–771.

- Jones, R., & Brown, S. (2019). Consumer choices and plastic pollution: A meta-analysis of behavioral interventions. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 65, 101323.
- Kaza, S., Yao, L., Bhada-Tata, P., & Van Woerden, F. (2018). What a waste 2.0: A global snapshot of solid waste management to 2050. World Bank Publications.
- Landrigan, P. J., Fuller, R., Acosta, N. J., Adeyi, O., Arnold, R., Baldé, A. B., ... & Zhong, M. (2018). The Lancet Commission on pollution and health. *The Lancet*, *391*(10119), 462–512.
- Landrigan, P. J., Stegeman, J. J., Fleming, L. E., Allemand, D., Anderson, D. M., Backer, L. C., ...& Rampal, P. (2020). Human health and ocean pollution. *Annals of Global Health*, 86(1), 151.
- Law, K. L., Starr, N., Siegler, T. R., Jambeck, J. R., Mallos, N. J., & Leonard, G. H. (2020). The United States contribution of plastic waste to land and ocean. *Science Advances*, 6(44), eabd0288.
- Orji, R., & Moffatt, K. (2018). Persuasive technology for health and wellness: State-of-the-art and emerging trends. *Health Informatics Journal*, 24(1), 66–91.
- Pham, H. N., Thai, N. T., Heffernan, T. W., & Reynolds, N. (2023). Environmental policies and the promotion of pro-environmental consumer behavior: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Macromarketing*, 44(3), 1-29.
- Smith, A., Johnson, B., & Williams, C. (2017). Household waste generation: A review and synthesis of literature. Waste Management, 69, 465–476.
- Steg, L., Dreijerink, L., & Abrahamse, W. (2005). Factors influencing the acceptability of energy policies: A test of VBN theory. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 25(4), 415–425.
- Torres-Pereda, P., Parra-Tapia, E., Rodríguez, M. A., Félix-Arellano, E., & Riojas-Rodríguez, H. (2020). Impact of an intervention for reducing waste through educational strategy: A Mexican case study, what works, and why? Waste Management, 114, 183–195.
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). (2024). Global waste management outlook 2024: Beyond an age of waste Turning rubbish into a resource. Nairobi. https://wedocs.unep.org
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2019). Advancing sustainable materials management: 2016 and 2017 tables and figures. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/documents/2016_and_2017_facts_and_figures_data_tables_0.pdf
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2019). National overview: Facts and figures on materials, wastes and recycling. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/facts-and-figures-about-materials-waste-and-recycling/national-overview-facts-and-figures-materials
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2021). Overview of greenhouse gases. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/overview-greenhouse-gases

Authors Information

Ranju Karki

Junu Shrestha University of Illinois at Springfield One University Plaza, Springfield, IL, U.S.A. Contact e-mail: *jshre2@uis.edu* https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1202-0263

Esther A. Adewusi

University of Illinois at Springfield One University Plaza, Springfield, IL, U.S.A. https://orcid.org/0009-0003-4170-2850 Mathematics and Actuarial Science North Central College, 30 N Brainard St, Naperville, IL, U.S.A. https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3867-6041

Appendix

A	1 0	1 1 .	1	11	1	.1	C		1
Appendi	X I. S	sample	data	collection	excel	sneet	IOT	paper	products

		WEEK1					
	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7
How many sheet of paper towel							
How many sheet of toilet paper							
No. of paper napkins							
No. of paper used for printing							
No. of paperboard packaging used for food products such as breakfast cereal							
No. of carton that hold your milk, juice, or similar products							
No. of boxes for shipping products. Example: from amazon or uhaul							
No. of paper cups, plates, and bowl							
No. of sheets of newspaper							
No. of wipes (include pre-moistened wipes)							
Paper sandwich bags							
Others, Please mention							
Others, Please mention							

Appendix 2. Sample data collection excel sheet for plastic products

II IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII			W	EEK1	L		
	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7
No. of grocery bags							
No. plastic produce bags							
No. of frozen vegetable bags							
No. of food packaging products (Example: Plastic bags containing Potato Chips, Croutons, Bread and others)							
No. of plastic water bottles, beverage bottles, juice, or milk jars							
No. of plastic takeout containers (clam shell container at work)							
No. of plastic cups and lids (coffee, fountain drink)							
No. of plastic wraps or trashbags							
No. of plastic cutlery and straw							
No. of Ziplock bags (work food baggies)							
No. of plastic rings to hold beverages							
No. of plastic bottle containing Personal Care Products							
No. of disposable coffee pods							
Others , please mention							

Appendix 3. Sample data collection excel sheet for solid waste

	WEEK 1						
	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7
Tracking Solid Waste (Non-recyclable)							
No. of total trash bags generated							
What capacity of trash bag used (in gallons)							
Total pounds of trash generated (measure all trash bags with garbage)							



The Relationship between Gifted Students' Scientific Epistemological **Beliefs and Climate Change Awareness Levels**

Yesim Ozdeniz, Hilal Aktamis

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	One of the most talked about and discussed topics in our current time is climate
Published: 01 January 2025	change. Therefore, it is important to draw attention to this issue in educational environments. The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship between scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change awareness of gifted
Received: 07 September 2024	students and whether these variables differ according to gender. The study was conducted using a relational screening model. The Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale were
Accepted: 14 December 2024	used as data collection tools. The sample of the study consists of 106 gifted students at the secondary school level in a city in the western region of Turkey. The research findings showed that there was a relationship between the
Keywords	epistemological beliefs of gifted students and their awareness levels of the causes and effects of climate change, their awareness of personal initiatives, and
Climate change	their tendency to change behaviour. In addition, the awareness level of personal
Epistemological belief	initiatives to prevent climate change and the scientific epistemological belief
Science education	levels differed significantly in favor of gifted female students.

Introduction

Climate change is defined as long-term changes in the balance of climate systems worldwide as a result of human activities (Kurnaz, 2023). Global climate change has been discussed since the 1970s but has become a topic that has begun to attract attention in the 21st century as its effects have become more felt (Selcuk, 2023). For this reason, it is important for countries to develop correct and applicable strategies in case of exposure to the risks that climate change may cause (Calda et al., 2022). Education is one of the most effective methods in developing these strategies. In addition, climate change education has become one of the most emphasized topics in terms of increasing the awareness levels of individuals regarding the global environmental problem (Beasy et al., 2023; Cantell et al., 2019; Schreiner et al., 2005). However, climate change is a serious problem with no simple solutions and climate change education is also defined as a multidimensional problem (Cantell et al., 2019; IPCC, 2023; Liu & Roehrig, 2019). Climate change being a key issue in the field of natural sciences requires multifaceted scientific knowledge. Conflicts between scientific evidence and public perceptions of climate change lead to belief systems and discussions about climate change (Yli-Panula et al., 2021). Although there is a significant level of acceptance and discourse about integrating climate change into education and training activities and providing motivation for climate action (Cutter-Mackenzie & Rousell, 2018), researches show that these efforts may be ineffective in changing children's attitudes and behaviours (Benevento, 2023; Busch et al., 2019). Although school-aged individuals are interested and active in climate change, they may also be anxious and feel that they have no impact on the societal level. Some individuals may be completely indifferent to the issue of climate change or even deny its seriousness (Cordie & Maxwell, 2023; Veijonaho et al., 2024). In addition, researchers state that students have difficulty creating mental models to understand climate change and that learning and problem solving on these topics depend not only on knowledge but also on individuals' beliefs about the subject (Leiserowitz et al., 2010; Yli-Panula et al., 2021).

Engaging with scientific information, including climate change, may depend on epistemological factors that affect what a person chooses to believe and how these beliefs are justified (Quarderer et al., 2021). Epistemological cognition is a process that includes the dispositions, beliefs and skills that determine what individuals actually know, believe, doubt, or distrust (Green & Yu, 2016). Epistemological beliefs are subjective belief systems about the source of knowledge, its certainty, creation, learning and structure of knowledge (Schommer, 1990). Epistemological beliefs allow individuals to understand the ways they determine the accuracy of conflicting information, evaluate new information and make decisions that will affect their own lives and those around them (Kuhn, 1991 as cited in Sapancı, 2012). Scientific epistemology includes topics such as how scientific knowledge develops, how its accuracy is proven and how the quality of data used to obtain knowledge is evaluated, along with general subjective beliefs (Coban & Sengoren, 2020). According to

researchers in the field of science education, the subject of climate change can be seen as a tool through which students' epistemological cognitions can be explored and how students choose to believe and interpret information can affect their decisions to take action on climate (Busch et al., 2019; Sinatra et al., 2012; Ouarderer et al., 2021). Although individuals know the content of climate science, the processes that scientists go through to make their claims are not fully understood. This shows that teachers should not only provide students with understanding of how climate systems work or the causes and effects of climate change but also provide cognitive support that supports how students know what they know (Holthuis et al., 2014). How an individual learns in the context of science in general and specifically is an epistemological issue and how an individual interacts with science depends on his/her epistemological cognition or basic assumptions about knowledge and how knowledge is developed (Quarderer et al., 2021). It can be said that the current constructivist understanding in the field of education also includes epistemological beliefs, that is, it shapes individuals' learning within the framework of their epistemological beliefs (Schreiber & Shinn, 2003). Research in the literature shows that epistemological beliefs can affect students' cognitive development and therefore their learning strategies and academic performance (Asut & Koksal, 2013; Greene et al., 2018; Kılıc & Demirbağ, 2020; Schommer-Aikins & Hutter, 2002). Especially for science education, students' epistemological beliefs are an important part of gaining a deeper understanding of scientific research, the scientific process and the nature of science (Fulmer, 2014; Kılıç & Demirbag, 2020). In this context, researchers working in the field of science education will need to better understand why students support certain ideas and beliefs about climate change which will help create and shape effective learning environments that promote the development of climate literacy and epistemological cognition (Quarderer et al., 2021).

One of the learner groups that should be carefully considered in shaping learning environments is gifted individuals (Koshy & Pinheiro-Torres, 2013). Gifted students are defined as individuals who need special education due to their cognitive characteristics that differ from their peers (MEB, 2024). One of the distinguishing aspects of gifted children is that they are more sensitive to global and environmental problems than their peers (Davis & Rimm, 1989; Nacaroglu &Karakaya, 2020; Ugulu, 2013; Sontay, 2014; Karakaya et al., 2018). Researchers state that gifted children need cognitive stimulation, support to solve complex problems and goals that will challenge them to deeply investigate and question the topics they are interested in (Daglioglu, 2010; Koshy & Robinson, 2006; Taber, 2010; VanTassel-Baska, 2010). The potential of gifted children and the roles they can undertake in the world of the future should be taken into consideration, and this potential should be considered when planning educational activities (Koshy & Robinson, 2006; Yalman & Çepni, 2021). In the MEB (2024) Science and Art Centers Directive, the principles of the education and training program for gifted students include the following statements:

Programs are prepared under the guidance of relevant class/branch teachers, in a studentcentered and interdisciplinary structure, suitable for individual learning, and differentiated and enriched according to their interests, abilities, and potential in a way that will enable students to acquire high-level mental, social, personal, and academic skills that they will need in adulthood, such as effective problem solving, decision-making and creativity.

In this context, it is thought that a study on the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted students can also provide clues for differentiation in the teaching process on climate change. When the studies on gifted students are examined in the literature, it is possible to come across studies on the epistemological beliefs of students. Kilic and Demirag (2020) tried to measure the epistemological beliefs of students with a field-independent scenario in order to determine and compare the epistemological belief profiles of gifted students and their parents. Based on the study findings they stated that gifted students and their parents have definitive epistemological belief profiles. Akpınar (2018) examined the effect of STEM education on the students' selfregulation, motivation for science teaching and epistemological beliefs and at the end of the study it was revealed that there was a significant difference in the pre-test-posttest scores of self-regulated learning strategies, motivation for science learning and epistemological beliefs scale. Apart from the studies mentioned above on general epistemological beliefs in the national literature only one study (Asut & Koksal, 2013) was found on the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted students. In their study conducted with gifted students at the middle school level Asut and Koksal (2013) examined the relationship between the students' scientific epistemological beliefs and their motivation level for learning science and their success in science. In their research findings they stated that there was a statistically significant relationship between the motivation level for learning science and their scientific epistemological belief scores. It is possible to come across various studies in the national literature on the climate change awareness of gifted individuals (Akhan et al., 2022; Balaban, 2023; Bodur et al., 2013; Mutlu & Nacaroglu, 2019; Nacaroglu & Karakaya, 2020; Ozarslan, 2022; Yılmaz & Emir; 2024). This study focused on the relationship between the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted individuals and their climate change awareness levels. It is thought that this study will provide a

framework for research on the awareness of gifted individuals regarding global environmental problems, climate change, and epistemological beliefs, as well as provide clues for differentiating teaching processes for gifted students.

Purpose of the Research

The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship between scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change awareness of gifted students and whether these variables differ by gender. The research questions created for this purpose are as follows:

- 1. Is there a significant relationship between Scientific Epistemological Beliefs and Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness of gifted students?
- Are there any significant differences in the Scientific Epistemological Beliefs and Global 2. Warming/Climate Change Awareness of gifted students based on gender?

Method

Research Design

In this study the relational screening method which is one of the quantitative research methods was used. Survey studies allow the determination of the tendencies and attitudes of a sample (Creswell, 2017). In the relational screening model the relationship between the determined characteristics of the sample group is examined (Buyukozturk et al., 2019). In this study the relational screening method was used because it was aimed to examine the relationship between the Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale scores and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale scores of the students in the sample and to examine the change in scale scores depending on gender.

Participants and Procedure

The sample of the study consists of 106 gifted students at the secondary school level who are studying in three different Science and Art Centers in Aydın province in the 2023-2024 academic year. Science and art centers (BİLSEM) are institutions affiliated with the Ministry of National Education that provide support education to gifted students in Turkey. At the end of a diagnosis process determined by the Ministry of National Education, students were diagnosed as gifted according to the scores they got from the Wechsler Nonverbal (WNV) test. Typical case sampling, one of the purposive sampling methods was used in the selection of the study group. In typical case sampling a group typical of many situations in the universe related to the research problem is selected and this group is examined (Buyukozturk et al., 2019). Students' academic achievement socioeconomic status and the schools they attend show similar characteristics. The characteristics of the participants regarding gender and grade level are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Distribution of participants according to grade level and gender						
Frequency (f) Percentage (%)						
Gender	Female	50	47.2			
	Male	56	52.8			
	Total	106	100			
Grade level	5	54	50.9			
	6	38	35.8			
	7	14	13.2			
	Total	106	100			

T-11.1 D'-(-'h-('-. . . . 1 1. .1 . . 1 ..

Measurements

Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire

It was developed by Conley et al. (2004) and adapted to Turkish by Ozkan (2008). The scale used by Ozkan (2008) in his study with 7th grade students is a 26-question, five-point Likert-type scale (5; strongly agree, 1; strongly disagree). The scale aims to measure the epistemological beliefs of the participants in the subdimensions of justification of knowledge, development of knowledge, source of knowledge, and certainty of knowledge. Ozkan (2008) reported the overall reliability coefficient of the scale as .76. The Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale was also used by Kılıc and Demirbag (2020) in a study on gifted middle school students.

We examined the construct validity of the scale for the sample within the scope of this study using the LISREL program. In the first step of the confirmatory factor analysis, it was seen that the data set did not meet the normality assumption (Khattree & Naik, 1999) as a result of Mardia's multivariate normality test (Skewness=68.34, Kurtosis=295.73). Accordingly, as a result of the analysis we conducted the items with factor loadings less than .30 (1, 2, 6, 7, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 21, 26) were removed from the scale and the analyses were repeated. The Scientific Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire which was originally four-dimensional (Conley et al., 2004) was analyzed in three dimensions within the scope of this study in parallel with the study adapted to Turkish by Ozkan (2008). The Cronbach's Alpha values for the scale, which consists of a total of 15 items, are given in Table 2.

1 able 2. Renability analysis v	andes for the scientific epistemologica	i bener questionnane
Dimensions	Items	Cronb. Alpha
Justification	3,4,5,9,11,22,25	.88
Source/Certainty	10,12,20,23	.75
Development	8,13 17,24	.81
All scale	All Item	.88

Table 2. Reliability analysis values for the scientific epistemological belief questionnaire

In Table 2, it is seen that the reliability coefficient values for the dimensions of the Scientific Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire and the general reliability coefficient value are above .70 which is an acceptable value (Buyukozturk, 2011).

Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire

The questionnaire developed by Halady and Rao (2010) was adapted to Turkish by Dal et al. (2015). The sections of the four-point Likert-type scale (4; I am quite aware, 1; I am not aware) consist of awareness of the causes and effects of climate change, awareness of personal initiatives related to climate change, awareness of personal initiatives related to climate change, awareness of the causes and effects of climate change, and behavioral change tendency. Reliability coefficients were reported by Dal et al. (2015) as .91 for awareness of the causes and effects of climate change, .91 for awareness of personal initiatives related to climate change, .89 for awareness of industrial initiatives related to climate change tendency. The scale was used in a study conducted with gifted 6th grade students by Bodur et al. (2023).

In this study we examined the construct validity of the scale for a gifted sample using the LISREL program. During the application of the scale, the "Awareness of Industrial Initiatives Related to Climate Change" section was not included in the analysis as it was thought to be inappropriate for the age level of the students based on the feedback received from the students. In the first step of the confirmatory factor analysis, it was seen that the data set did not meet the normality assumption as a result of Mardia's multivariate normality test (Skewness=1611.80, Kurtosis=2839.88) (Khattree & Naik, 1999). Accordingly, at the end of the analysis, the items with factor loadings less than .30 (6, 9, 10, 20, 24) were removed from the scale and final analyses were performed. Cronbach's Alpha values for the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale are given in Table 3. Table 3 shows that the reliability coefficient values for the sections of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale are above .70, which is acceptable (Buyukozturk, 2011).

Table 3. Reliability analysis data on global warming/climate change awareness questionnaire

Sections	N	Cronb. Alpha
Reasons and impacts of climate change	15	.85
Awareness of individual initiative	23	.89
Propensity for behavioral change	7	.82

Results

Findings Regarding the First Research Question

In the first step of the analysis studies conducted for the first research question of the study, "Is there a significant relationship between the Scientific Epistemological Beliefs of gifted students and their Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness?", descriptive values of the scores for both scales were examined. Descriptive data regarding the Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale scores are presented in Table 4 and descriptive data regarding the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale are presented in Table 5. Considering the minimum and maximum scores in Table 4, it can be said that the participants' average scores are high in the scale dimensions and in the overall scale.

Table 4. Descriptive data on scientific episteniological benef scale questionnaire				
	Х	SD	Minimum	Max1mum
Justification	3.86	.87	1	5
Source/Certainty	3.97	.90	1.75	5
Development	3.95	.84	1	5
Scientific epistemological belief	3.91	.70	1.40	5

Table 4. Descriptive data on scientific epistemological belief scale questionnaire

Table 5. Descriptive data on global war	ming/climate	change aw	areness question	naire scores
	Х	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Reasons and impacts of climate change	3.09	.53	1.73	4
Awareness of individual initiative	3.19	.47	2	4
Propensity for behavioral change	3.29	.59	2	4
Global warming/Climate change	3.19	.47	2	4

When Table 5 is examined, it is seen that the scale scores vary between 1.73 and 4 and the average scores are high when the minimum and maximum scores are taken into account. A correlation test was conducted to determine whether there was a significant relationship between the scores of the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire. The normality status of the scores obtained from the scales was examined and in the normality examination, the statistical values were found to be Skewness= -1.12 Kurtosis=1.33 for the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire and Skewness= -0.40 Kurtosis= -0.22 for the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire, and it was determined that both scale scores showed a normal distribution. In this direction the parametric test Pearson test correlation was used. The analysis data regarding the correlation levels between the scores of the Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale and the scores obtained from the sections of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale are presented in Table 6.

Table 6. The level of correlation between scientific epistemological belief questionnaire scores and global warming/climate change awareness questionnaire scores

grooter warming ennate enange awa	question	mane sectes		
	Ι	II	III	IV
I. Scientific epistemological belief	1			
II. Reasons and impacts of climate change	,364**	1		
III. Awareness of individual initiative	,375**	,722**	1	
IV. Propensity for behavioral change	,523**	,619**	,631**	1
**p<.01				

When Table 6 is examined, it is seen that there is a positive significant relationship (p< .01) between the participants' Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores and the scores obtained from all three sections of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire. It can be said that the scientific epistemological belief scores are lowly related to the level of awareness of the causes and effects of climate change (r= .36); lowly related to the awareness of personal initiatives (r= .38) and moderately related to the tendency to change behavior (r= .52).

Findings Regarding the Second Research Question

In the analysis study conducted for the second research question of the study, "Are there any significant differences in the Scientific Epistemological Beliefs and Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness of gifted students based on gender?", tests were conducted using a statistical program in order to determine whether the scores obtained from the scales differed significantly according to gender. A normality analysis of the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores was performed and it was seen that the scores were normally distributed for both genders (female participant scores Skewness= -0.87 Kurtosis= 0.00; male participant scores Skewness= -1.12 Kurtosis=1.29). Statistical results were obtained by performing an independent samples t-test.

The statistical values regarding the difference in the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores according to gender are presented in Table 7:

Table 7. t-test results regarding gender-related differences in scientif	ic epistemol	logical belief	questionnaire
--	--------------	----------------	---------------

	SCO	res				
Saiantifia anistamalagiaal baliaf	Gender	Ν	Х	SD	t	р
Scientific epistemological bener	Female Male	50 56	4.07 3.78	.60 .76	2.14	.03

When Table 7 is examined, it is seen that the mean scores of the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire are higher in female students (X=4.07) than in male students (X=3.78) and this difference is significant (p<.05). A normality analysis of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire scores was conducted, and it was seen that the scores were normally distributed for both genders (female participant scores Skewness= -0.50 Kurtosis= -0.43; male participant scores Skewness= -0.31 Kurtosis=-0.70. Statistical results were obtained by performing an independent samples t-test. The statistical values regarding the gender-based differentiation status of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire scores are presented in Table 8:

Table 8. t-test results regarding gender-related differences in global warming/climate change

questionnaire scores							
Section	Gender	Ν	Х	SD	t	р	
Reasons and impacts of climate change	Female	50	3.12	.54	.67	.50	
	Male	56	3.05	.52			
Awareness of individual initiative	Female	50	3.30	.41	2.30	.02	
	Male	56	3.09	.51			
Propensity for behavioral change	Female	50	3.37	.62	1.21	.23	
	Male	56	3.23	.56			

When Table 8 is examined, it is seen that the mean scores for the Awareness and Behavior Change Tendency section on the Causes and Effects of Climate Change do not differ significantly between male and female participants while in the Awareness of Personal Initiatives section, the mean scores of female students (X=3.30) are higher than the mean scores of male students (X=3.09) and this difference is significant (p<.05).

Discussion

In this study, it was examined whether there was a significant relationship between the Scientific Epistemological Beliefs and Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness of gifted students and whether the scores of both scales differed according to the gender variable. When the descriptive data obtained in this study are compared with the data of similar studies on epistemological beliefs (Asut and Koksal, 2013; Ozbay, 2016; Ozkan, 2008), it can be said that gifted students have scientific epistemological beliefs above the average level. Considering that gifted students have skills such as innately developed reasoning abilities, questioning attitudes and the ability to reflect on what they have learned (Gilbert & Newberry, 2017; Taber, 2017), it is a predictable result that these characteristics may have also affected their epistemological belief level. The data obtained from the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness scale, another data collection tool in the study, show that the participants' global warming and climate change awareness levels are high. Yılmaz and Emir (2024) stated that there was a significant difference in favor of gifted students in terms of climate literacy in the findings of the study in which they aimed to compare the 21st century skills and climate literacy levels of gifted middle school students and their peers. Ozarslan (2022), on the other hand, stated in the findings of his study, which aimed to examine the solution proposals of gifted middle and high school students to global environmental problems, that the students emphasized air/water pollution and global warming. The findings of this study are similar to the findings of Yılmaz and Emir (2024) and Ozarslan (2022). Studies indicate that gifted students are more sensitive to global environmental problems than their peers (Davis & Rimm, 1989; Nacaroglu & Karakaya, 2020; Ugulu, 2013; Sontay, 2014; Karakaya et al., 2018). This situation may have caused the gifted students' climate change awareness levels to be high.

In the study, the relationship between the students' Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale scores was examined and it was observed that there was a positive and significant relationship between the participants' Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores and the scores obtained from all three sections of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness

Questionnaire. In the study where Quarderer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between the climate literacy level and epistemological beliefs of eighth-grade students, they stated that there was a positive relationship between the students' climate literacy level and epistemological beliefs. The data obtained from this study also revealed similar findings. The high epistemological beliefs of individuals may cause them to shape their lives regarding the information and concepts they learn. In this case, they question the information they learn about climate change from the media, the environment and the education they receive at school and structure their own beliefs according to this information (Holthuis et al., 2014; Quarderer et al., 2021). Therefore, it is an expected result that individuals with high epistemological beliefs also have high awareness of climate change.

The analysis results for the second research question of the study examined whether there was a significant difference in the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnnaire scores and Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnnaire scores of gifted students according to gender. The data obtained at the end of the analysis showed that the Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale scores differed significantly in favor of female students. Similarly, Topcu and Yılmaz-Tuzun (2009) stated in their study that female students had more developed epistemological beliefs than male students in their findings in which they examined the relationship between science achievement, metacognitive knowledge-organization and epistemological beliefs of primary and secondary school students. Schommer (1993) reported that there was a decline in the epistemological belief levels of female students compared to male students in the education and training process of the students in their study in which they examined the development of secondary school students' beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning and epistemological beliefs and the effect of these beliefs on academic performance. Along with studies showing that the epistemological beliefs of male and female students differ, there are also studies showing that epistemological beliefs do not differ by gender. For example, Yli-Panula et al. (2021) stated in their research findings that high school students' epistemological beliefs on the subject of climate change did not differ by gender. Similarly, Sapancı (2012) stated in his research that examined the epistemological belief and metacognition levels of prospective teachers in terms of various variables that the level of epistemological belief did not differ by gender. Terzi (2005) examined the scientific epistemological beliefs of university students and stated that there was no significant difference between the scientific epistemological belief levels of male and female students. Topcu and Yılmaz-Tuzun (2009) mentioned that the fact that science courses in our national education system are usually in the form of presentations and that female students have more note-taking, monitoring and planning behaviors than male students may be effective in the development of epistemological beliefs. A similar situation may be the case for gifted female students. Although gifted students receive support education at Science and Art Centers, this time is limited to one hour per week and the educational environment in full-time schools may be more disadvantageous for male students than female students in terms of metacognitive achievements.

When the differences in the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire scores were examined according to gender, it was seen that the mean scores for the Awareness and Behavior Change Tendency section towards the Causes and Effects of Climate Change did not differ significantly between male and female participants, while the scores obtained from the Awareness of Personal Initiatives section differed significantly in favor of female students. Ceylan et al. (2023) examined the attitudes of gifted 4th grade students towards the environment and stated that female students showed more responsible behaviors towards the environment than male students. Yıldırım and Utkugun (2023), in their study examining the interest of high school students in global warming and climate change, stated that the global warming/climate change awareness of female students differed significantly compared to male students. Sahin and Durkaya (2023) stated that the awareness level of high school students differed significantly in favor of female students in the findings of their study on global climate change awareness. Blocker and Eckberg (1997) stated that parents' sensitivity to environmental problems is effective in their behaviors in the family environment and that mothers are more sensitive to environmental problems in terms of their children's future than fathers. In the Turkish family structure the fact that girls have a closer relationship with their mothers in the family environment, female students take a more active role in family responsibilities and in addition to this the fact that male students are more involved with technology than girls in today's conditions may have affected the awareness level of gifted female about personal initiatives towards climate change.

Conclusion

This study focused on the relationship between gifted students' scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change awareness. The findings obtained from the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores of gifted students showed that the participating students had scientific epistemological beliefs above the average level. When the data obtained from the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire which was

another data collection tool in the study was examined together with similar studies, it showed that gifted students had high levels of awareness of global warming and climate change. When the relationship between the students' Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Scale scores was examined in the study, it was seen that there was a positive significant relationship between the Scientific Epistemological Belief Scale scores of the gifted students and the scores obtained from all three sections of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire. According to these findings, it is thought that the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted students and their global warming/climate change awareness interact and that studies to be conducted to develop the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted students will affect their climate change awareness levels. We think that when designing a curriculum for gifted students regarding global warming/climate change, studies on children's scientific epistemological beliefs can also be integrated into the content.

When the findings regarding whether there is a significant difference in the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores and the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire scores according to gender are examined, it is seen that the Scientific Epistemological Belief Questionnaire scores differ significantly in favor of female students. When the findings regarding the differentiation of the Global Warming/Climate Change Awareness Questionnaire scores according to gender are examined, it is seen that there is a difference in the scale sections according to gender. While the mean scores regarding the Awareness of the Causes and Effects of Climate Change and Behavior Change Tendency section do not differ significantly between female and male participants, it is seen that the scores obtained from the Awareness of Personal Initiatives section differ significantly in favor of female students. Within the framework of these findings, it can be said that gifted female students have more developed scientific epistemological beliefs than male students and that the awareness levels of female students regarding personal initiatives regarding climate change are higher than male students. However the fact that the sample of this study is not sufficient to make generalizations regarding the findings is one of the limitations of the research. Another limitation is that the sample was not randomly selected. In addition, gifted eighth grade students do not attend Science and Art Center due to their preparation for the high school entrance exam, so they were not included in the study.

Recommendations

In this study, the relationship between scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted middle school students and their awareness of global warming and climate change was examined using the quantitative method. Mixed design studies can be conducted to obtain in-depth data on the scientific epistemological beliefs of gifted students. In addition, it is thought that longitudinal studies on the relationship between scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change will be important in terms of examining the change in the teaching process. In addition, a larger gifted sample can be used to examine the relationship between these two variables. The relationship between scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change awareness of gifted primary and high school students can be examined and compared with the findings of the study conducted with middle school students. The changes in scientific epistemological beliefs and climate change awareness of gifted girls and boys based on gender can be investigated in depth and the reasons for gender-based differences can be examined.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

The authors declare that the scientific ethical and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors.

References

- Akhan, N. E., Cicek, S., & Kocaaga, G. (2022). Critical and creative perspectives of gifted students on global problems: Global climate change. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, *46*, 101131.
- Akkas, E., ve Tortop, H. S. (2015). Ustun yetenekliler egitiminde farklılastırma: Temel kavramlar, modellerin karsılastırılması ve oneriler. *Ustun Zekâlılar Egitimi ve Yaratıcılık Dergisi*, 2(2), 31-44.
- Akpinar, D. Ustun yetenekli ve zekâlı ogrencilerde Stem egitiminin ozduzenleme, fene yonelik motivasyonları ve epistemolojik inanclarına etkisinin incelenmesi (Master's thesis, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım Universitesi).
- Asut, N., & Koksal, M. S. (2013). Ustun zekâlı ogrencilerin epistemolojik inanclarının fen ögrenmeye yonelik motivasyon duzeyi ve basarıyla iliskisi. *Duzce Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 5(2), 22-44.

- Balaban, H. (2023). The effect of context-based approach on gifted students' understanding the topic of global warming. *Journal of Computer and Education Research*, 11(22), 572-595.
- Beasy, K., Jones, C., Kelly, R., Lucas, C., Mocatta, G., Pecl, G., & Yildiz, D. (2023). The burden of bad news: educators' experiences of navigating climate change education. *Environmental Education Research*, 29(11), 1678-1691.
- Benevento, S. V. (2023). Communicating climate change risk to children: A thematic analysis of children's literature. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *51*(2), 201-210.
- Blocker, T. J., & Eckberg, D. L. (1997). Gender and environmentalism: Results from the 1993 general social survey. *Social Science Quarterly*, 841-858.
- Bodur, N. C., Tuysuz, C., & Turan, M. D. (2023). Kutuplar: Keşfedilmeyi bekleyen topraklar etkinliginin ozel yetenekli 6. sınıf ogrencilerinin iklim degisikligi farkındalıgına etkisinin incelenmesi. *Usak Universitesi Eğitim Arastırmaları Dergisi*, 9(3), 144-161.
- Busch, K. C., Ardoin, N., Gruehn, D., & Stevenson, K. (2019). Exploring a theoretical model of climate change action for youth. *International Journal of Science Education*, 41(17), 2389-2409.
- Buyukozturk, S. (2011). Sosyal bilimler icin veri analizi el kitabı (p.141). Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Buyukozturk, S., Kılıc-Cakmak, E., Akgun, O.E., Karadeniz, S., & Demirel, F. (2019). Egitimde bilimsel arastırma yontemleri (26th ed.). Ankara: Pegem.
- Calda, B., Kutlug, E., An, N., & Kurnaz, L. (2022). Iklim degişikligi etkilerinin küresel performans gostergeleri acısından degerlendirilmesi. *Resilience*, 6(1), 171-196.
- Cantell, H., Tolppanen, S., Aarnio-Linnanvuori, E., & Lehtonen, A. (2019). Bicycle model on climate change education: Presenting and evaluating a model. *Environmental Education Research*, 25(5), 717-731.
- Ceylan, S., Tetik, T., & Peker, R. (2023). Ozel yetenekli ilkokul öğrencilerinin cevreye yonelik tutum ve sorumlu davranıslarının cesitli demografik degiskenlere gore incelenmesi. *Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 25(3), 897-917.
- Conley, A.M., Pintrich, P.R., Vekiri, I., & Harrison, D. (2004). Changes in epistemological beliefs in elementary science students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29, 186-204.
- Cordie, D. R., & Maxwell, L. (2023). Shifting from climate change denial to acceptance: a mixed-method, semester long case study in an undergraduate first-year experience course. *Environmental Education Research*, 29(12), 1870-1890.
- Creswell, J. W. (2017). Arastırma deseni nitel, nicel ve karma yontem yaklasımları (3th ed.). Ankara: Egiten Kitap.
- Cutter-Mackenzie, A., & Rousell, D. (2018). Education for what? Shaping the field of climate change education with children and young people as co-researchers. *Children's Geographies*, 17(1), 90–104.
- Coban, G. U., & Sengoren, S. K. (2020). Epistemological views of prospective physics teachers. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, *3*(3), 1224-1258.
- Dal, B., Alper, U., Ozdem-Yilmaz, Y., Ozturk, N., & Sonmez, D. (2015). A model for pre-service teachers' climate change awareness and willingness to act for pro-climate change friendly behavior: adaptation of awareness to climate change questionnaire. *International Research in Geographical and Environmental Education*, 24(3), 184-200.
- Daglioglu, H.E. (2010). Ustun yetenekli cocukların egitiminde ögretmen yeterlikleri ve ozellikleri. *Milli Egitim Dergisi*. 40(186), 72-84.
- Davis, G. A., & Rimm, S. B. (1989). Education of the gifted and talented. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Fulmer, G. W. (2014). Undergraduates' attitudes toward science and their epistemological beliefs: Positive effects of certainty and authority beliefs. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 23(1), 198–206.
- Gilbert, J.K. & Newberry, M. (2017). Fen alanında ustun yetenekli olan ve sıra dışı yetenege sahip bireylerin ozellikleri. In K.S. Taber (Ed.), *Ustun yetenekliler için fen egitimi*. (pp 21-40). Ankara: Pegem Yayınları.
- Greene, J. A., & Yu, S. B. (2016). Educating critical thinkers: The role of epistemic cognition. *Policy Insights* from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 3(1), 45-53.
- Greene, J. A., Cartiff, B. M., & Duke, R. F. (2018). A meta-analytic review of the relationship between epistemic cognition and academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *110*(8), 1084.
- Holthuis, N., Lotan, R., Saltzman, J., Mastrandrea, M., & Wild, A. (2014). Supporting and understanding students' epistemological discourse about climate change. *Journal of Geoscience Education*, 62(3), 374-387.
- IPCC. (2023). Summary for policymakers. In H. Lee, J Romero (Eds.), Climate change 2023: Synthesis report.
- Kale Oksuz, B. (2019). Bilimsel argumantasyona dayalı etkinliklerin ortaokul 7. sınıf ogrencilerinin insan ve cevre unitesindeki akademik basarılarına ve iklim değişimine yönelik farkındalıklarına etkisi (Master's thesis).

- Karakaya, F., Unal, A., Cimen, O., & Yılmaz, M. (2018). Ustun yetenekli öğrenciler ve akranlarının çevre algılarının incelenmesi. *Online Science Education Journal*, 3(1), 25-32.
- Khattree, R., & Naik, D. N. (1999). Applied multivariate statistics with SAS software. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Kılıc, M., & Demirbag, M. (2020). Ustun yetenekli ogrenciler ile velilerinin epistemolojik inanc profillerinin belirlenmesi ve karsılastırılması. *Istanbul Aydın Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 6(2), 151-173.
- Korkut, S. (2022). Environmental sensitivity of gifted children: A picture analysis based research. *Journal of Gifted Education and Creativity*, 9(3), 243-259.
- Koshy, V., & Pinheiro-Torres, C. (2013). 'Are we being de-gifted, miss?'Primary school gifted and talented coordinators' responses to the gifted and talented education policy in England. *British Educational Research Journal*, 39(6), 953-978.
- Koshy, V. & Robinson, N. M. (2006). Too long neglected: Gifted young children. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 14(2), 113-126.
- Kurnaz, M. L. (2023). Iklim degisikligi ve uyum sureclerinde Turkiye. Resilience, 7(1), 199-208.
- Kursad, M. S. (2015). Bilimsel arasstırmaya yoonelik tutum ve epistemolojik inanc arasındaki iliskinin incelenmesi. Abant Izzet Baysal Universitesi Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi, 15(2), 217-246.
- Leiserowitz, A.; Maibach, E.; Roser-Renouf, C.; Smith, N. (2010). Climate change in the American mind: Americans' global warming beliefs and attitudes. In *Yale project on climate change communication*. Yale University and George Mason University, New Haven, CT, USA.
- Liu, S., & Roehrig, G. (2019). Exploring science teachers' argumentation and personal epistemology about global climate change. *Research in Science Education*, 49, 173-189.
- Milli Egitim Bakanlığı [MEB]. (2024). Bilim ve sanat merkezleri yonergesi. Ankara: Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı.
- Mutlu, F., & Nacaroglu, O. (2019). Examination of perceptions of gifted students about climate change and global warming. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 18(5).
- Nacaroglu O. & Karaaslan G. (2020). Ozel yetenekli ogrencilerin iklim değişikliğine yönelik bilişsel yapılarının incelenmesi. *Gumushane Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Elektronik Dergisi*, 11, 1-13.
- Orbay, K., Cansaran, A., Kalkan, M. (2009). Ogretmen adaylarının küresel ısınmaya bakıs acıları. Ahmet Kelesoglu Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi, 27, 85-97.
- Ozarslan, M. (2022). Environmental problems according to the gifted and talented students and their solution proposals: A qualitative research. *IJTASE*, *11*(4), 201-216.
- Ozbay, H. E. (2016). Ortaokul öğrencilerinin akademik basarılarının bilimsel epistemolojik inanclar ve zihinsel risk alma davranışları ile iliskisinin incelenmesi. (Doctoral dissertation, Inonu University).
- Ozkan, S. (2008). Modeling elementary students' science achievement: The interrelationships among epistemological beliefs, learning approaches, and self-regulated learning strategies. Doctoral dissertation.
- Quarderer, N. A., Fulmer, G. W., Hand, B., & Neal, T. A. (2021). Unpacking the connections between 8th graders' climate literacy and epistemic cognition. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 58(10), 1527–1556.
- Sapanci, A. (2012). Ogretmen adaylarının epistemolojik inancları ile bilisustu duzeylerinin akademik başarıyla ilişkisi. *Celal Bayar Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, *10*(01), 311-331.
- Schommer, M. (1990). Effect of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension. *Journal of Educational of Psyhology*, (82), 498-504.
- Schommer, M. (1993). Epistemological development and academic performance among secondary students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85(3), 406-411.
- Schommer-Aikins, M. & Hutter, R. (2002). Epistemological beliefs and thinking about everyday controversial issues. *The Journal of Psychology*, 136(1), 5–20.
- Schreiber, J. B. & Shinn, D. (2003). Epistemological beliefs of community college students and their learning processes, *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 27(4), 699-709.
- Schreiner, C., Henriksen, E., & Hansen, P. J.K. (2005). Climate Education: Empowering today's youth to meet tomorrow's challenges. *Studies in Science Education*, 41 (1), 3-49.
- Selcuk, S. F. (2023). Uluslararası iklim degisikligi anlasmaları ve Turkiye'nin tutumu. Ulusal Cevre Bilimleri Arastırma Dergisi, 6(1), 9-19.
- Sinatra, G. M., Kardash, C. M., Taasoobshirazi, G., & Lombardi, D. (2012). Promoting attitude change and expressed willingness to take action toward climate change in college students. *Instructional Science*, 40(1), 1-17.
- Sontay, G., Gokdere, M., & Usta, E. (2014). Ustun yetenekli ogrencilerle akranlarının çevresel davranışlarının karşılastırmalı incelenmesi. *Turk Ustun Zekâ ve Egitim Dergisi*, 4(2), 90-106.
- Sahin, M., & Durkaya, B. (2023). Bartın lise ogrencileri kuresel iklim degişimi ve orman biyokutlesi farkındalıgı. *Bartın Orman Fakultesi Dergisi*, 25(3), 466-478.
- Taber, K. S. (2010). Challenging gifted learners: General principles for science educators; and exemplification in the context of teaching chemistry. *Science Education International*, 21(1), 5-30.

- Taber, K.S. (2017). Neden ustun yetenekliler icin fen egitimi? In K.S. Taber (Ed.), Ustun yetenekliler icin fen eğitimi. (pp. 3-19). Ankara: Pegem Yayınları.
- Terzi, A.R. (2005). Universite ogrencilerinin bilimsel epistemolojik inancları uzerine bir arastırma. Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 298–311.
- Topcu, M. S., & Yılmaz-Tuzun, O. (2009). İlköğretim öğrencilerinin bilis otesi ve epistemolojik inançlarıyla fen başarıları, cinsiyetleri ve sosyoekonomik durumları. *Ilkogretim Online*, 8(3), 676-693.
- Ugulu, I. (2013). Ustun zekalı/yetenekli olan ve olmayan ogrencilerin cevreye yonelik tutumlarının karsılastırılması. *Dokuz Eylul Universitesi Buca Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi*, (35), 1-14.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. ,& Wood, S. (2010). The integrated curriculum model. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 20, 345–357.
- Veijonaho, S., Ojala, M., Hietajärvi, L., & Salmela-Aro, K. (2024). Profiles of climate change distress and climate denialism during adolescence: A two-cohort longitudinal study. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 48(2), 103-112.
- Yıldırım, R., & Utkugun, C. (2023). Lise ogrencilerinin kuresel ısınma ve iklim degisikligine yonelik bilgi ve algıları. *Cumhuriyet Uluslararası Egitim Dergisi*, *12*(4), 998-1013.
- Yılmaz, S. B., & Emir, S. (2024). Comparison of the 21st century skills and climate literacy: A study on the gifted and undiagnosed gifted secondary school students. *Journal of Hasan Ali Yücel Faculty of Education/Hasan Ali Yucel Egitim Fakültesi Dergisi (HAYEF)*, 21(1), 22072
- Yli-Panula, E., Laakkonen, E., & Vauras, M. (2021). High-school students' topic-specific epistemic beliefs about climate change: An assessment-related study. *Education Sciences*, 11(8), 440.

Authors Information				
Yesim Ozdeniz	Hilal Aktamis			
Ticaret Borsasi Science and Art Center	Adnan Menderes University			
Aydin, Turkiye	Faculty of Education, Aydin, Turkiye			
Contact e-mail: yesimozdeniz@gmail.com	ORCID iD: http://orcid.org/0000-0003-0717-5770			
ORCID iD: http://orcid.org/0000-0003-2600-7887				



Volume 11, Issue 1, 2025

https://doi.org/10.55549/jeseh.754

Decarbonizing K-12 Schools in the United States: Challenges, Opportunities, and Future Directions

Ryan Kmetz, Gus Norrbom

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	K-12 schools in the United States significantly contribute to greenhouse gas
Published: 01 January 2025	emissions due to aging infrastructure, inefficient energy practices, and a heavy reliance on fossil fuels. Addressing these issues through decarbonization is not just important—it is becoming a critical initiative aimed at reducing
Received: 16 September 2024	environmental impact while simultaneously improving the educational environments we offer our students. This paper examines the current landscape of decarbonization efforts in K-12 schools, focusing on our challenges,
Accepted: 03 November 2024	opportunities, and emerging best practices. By analyzing existing strategies and policies at the federal, state, and local levels, this paper highlights how these efforts are supported—or, in some cases, hindered—by the frameworks in place.
Keywords	The benefits of decarbonization are clear: improved indoor air quality, enhanced learning conditions and reduced operational costs all of which contribute to a
Decarbonization Emissions reduction K-12 Schools	healthier and more effective educational environment. This research also delves into successful case studies, showcasing innovative approaches and replicable models in other schools nationwide.

Introduction

Given their considerable energy usage and associated carbon footprint, K-12 schools in the United States (U.S.) contribute significantly to greenhouse gas emissions. This is primarily due to outdated infrastructure, energy-inefficient practices, maintenance backlogs, and reliance on fossil fuels for heating and cooling. As a result, these factors have led to a push for decarbonization, with schools being a key area for such efforts.

These factors and myriad government funding opportunities in the U.S. have catalyzed efforts to "decarbonize" schools by removing fossil-fueled infrastructure, increasing energy efficiency, and procuring renewable energy, primarily solar or wind. Many schools view decarbonization as an opportunity to reduce operating costs, provide environmental education, and improve public health. Fully decarbonized schools provide their occupants and surrounding communities with many benefits, such as improved indoor air quality, energy savings, and visible examples of sustainable development. Many schools already serve as community hubs, making their transformation toward decarbonization a visible and impactful sustainability example for students, parents, and residents.

Specifically, this study aims to explore the current decarbonization efforts in K-12 schools across the U.S., identify the main challenges and opportunities, and provide an overview of best practices to facilitate these initiatives. This paper will explore the effectiveness of existing decarbonization strategies in K-12 schools, examining the role of federal, state, and local policies in either supporting or hindering these efforts. The objective is to offer insights into decarbonized school environments' health and educational benefits. Additionally, this paper will summarize best practices and highlight innovative case studies demonstrating the successful implementation of decarbonization projects within the K-12 educational sector.

Literature Review

State of Decarbonization Efforts in K-12 Schools

Efforts to decarbonize K-12 schools in the U.S. have gained momentum in recent years, primarily propelled by the growing recognition of their environmental impact and the availability of significant federal funding. According to the Atlas Buildings Hub (2023), substantial progress has been made in building electrification and energy efficiency improvements. Schools are increasingly adopting renewable energy sources, such as solar

panels, and implementing comprehensive retrofitting projects, such as heat pumps, thereby reducing the school's carbon footprint. Integrating renewable energy and energy efficiency measures in K-12 schools can yield substantial benefits, including lowered energy costs, improved indoor air quality, and enhanced educational opportunities for students (Iyiegbuniwe, 2014).

Practical strategies for decarbonizing K-12 schools involve leveraging the firsthand experiences of school district leaders. It is essential to provide quality data to dispel misconceptions hindering decarbonization efforts' progress and aid decision-makers. The Efficient and Healthy Schools Webinar series has contributed to this by discussing resources, best practices, and practical examples from school districts that have successfully embarked on decarbonization initiatives (Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2022). Despite the availability of guides and roadmaps, such as the Decarbonization Roadmap Guide and the Building Electrification Technology Roadmap for Schools, challenges persist in implementing decarbonization strategies. These include financial constraints, lack of technical expertise, and resistance to change within school communities (Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2023).

Benefits of Decarbonization

The benefits of decarbonizing school environments extend well beyond environmental impact. The positive outcomes are improved indoor air quality, enhanced learning conditions, and reduced operational costs. Studies have shown that students perform better academically and experience fewer health issues in well-ventilated, energy-efficient buildings (Fisk, Black, & Brunner, 2011; Haverinen-Shaughnessy, Moschandreas, & Shaughnessy, 2011; Mendell & Heath, 2005; Shendell et al., 2004; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2018). Beyond environmental impacts, these benefits provide a compelling argument for adopting sustainable practices in K-12 schools.

Improved Indoor Air Quality

Research has consistently demonstrated a positive correlation between air quality and cognitive performance. A study highlighted by Trane (2023) found that students in well-ventilated classrooms demonstrated significant improvements in cognitive tasks, including concentration, problem-solving, and memory retention. Trane's study reaffirmed the Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health findings, which quantified that higher indoor air quality improved the cognitive function scores of students by 61% (2015). Improved air quality's positive health impacts are compelling and go beyond learning benefits. Since poor air quality is a known exacerbator of conditions such as asthma and allergies, it contributes to higher rates of absenteeism among students (Shendell et al., 2004). When decarbonization efforts install enhanced ventilation systems, this reduces allergens and pollutants, thereby decreasing respiratory-related health issues and allowing students to maintain continuous academic engagement (Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, 2015).

Decarbonization efforts also involve removing onsite fossil fuel combustion, directly impacting indoor and outdoor air quality. Schools that transition away from fossil fuel-based heating and cooling systems reduce emissions of harmful pollutants such as carbon monoxide (CO) and nitrogen oxides (NOx). These pollutants are known to have adverse health effects, particularly on respiratory and cardiovascular health (Fisk et al., 2011). By eliminating the use of fossil fuels, schools not only contribute to broader climate goals but also create healthier environments. For example, schools utilizing geothermal heat pumps or solar thermal systems can achieve consistent indoor temperatures and better air quality without the drawbacks of fossil fuel combustion (Corsi et al., 2002).

Enhanced Learned Conditions

Decarbonization initiatives also significantly enhance learning conditions beyond improved air quality. Modernizing school infrastructure to incorporate sustainable design principles results in more conducive teaching and learning environments. Key components include increased natural lighting, improved acoustics, and stabilized indoor temperatures. Hathaway et al. (1992) found that students in classrooms with ample natural light scored up to 25% higher on standardized tests than those in artificially lit rooms. Natural light improves visibility and boosts mood and energy levels, improving student engagement and productivity.

Poor acoustics are common in older school buildings, leading to distractions and reduced comprehension. Decarbonization efforts often include the installation of sound-absorbing materials and the design of spaces that minimize background noise. According to the Acoustical Society of America (2014), improved classroom acoustics can enhance speech intelligibility by 25%, allowing students to understand better and retain information. Maintaining stable indoor temperatures is critical for student comfort and concentration. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) research suggests thermal comfort impacts cognitive performance, with deviations from optimal temperature ranges leading to decreased focus and productivity (EPA, 2019). Energy-efficient HVAC systems in decarbonization projects help maintain consistent indoor temperatures, supporting sustained academic performance (Wargocki & Wyon, 2007).

Decarbonization initiatives significantly enhance learning conditions by modernizing school infrastructure to incorporate sustainable design principles, resulting in more conducive teaching and learning environments. Key components of these initiatives include increased natural lighting, improved acoustics, stabilized indoor temperatures, and the introduction of air conditioning to combat extreme heat. Natural lighting has been shown to have a profound impact on student performance. Hathaway et al. (1992) found that students in classrooms with ample natural light scored up to 25% higher on standardized tests than those in artificially lit rooms. This finding is corroborated by the Heschong Mahone Group (1999), which demonstrated that students in naturally lit classrooms performed 20-26% better on tests, and by Nicklas and Bailey (1996), who found that daylighting in classrooms improves overall student performance in reading and math. Natural light enhances visibility and boosts mood and energy levels, improving student engagement and productivity.

Improved acoustics are another critical component of decarbonization efforts. Poor acoustics, common in older school buildings, lead to distractions and reduced comprehension. The installation of sound-absorbing materials and the design of spaces that minimize background noise are often included in decarbonization projects. According to the Acoustical Society of America (2014), improved classroom acoustics can enhance speech intelligibility by 25%, allowing students to understand and retain information better. Shield and Dockrell (2003) found that poor acoustics negatively affect student performance, particularly in verbal tasks, while Klatte et al. (2010) indicated that improved acoustical environments enhance reading and math scores by 10-15%. Maintaining stable indoor temperatures is critical for student comfort and concentration. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA, 2019) suggests thermal comfort impacts cognitive performance, with deviations from optimal temperature ranges leading to decreased focus and productivity. Energy-efficient HVAC systems help maintain consistent indoor temperatures, supporting sustained academic performance. Wargocki and Wyon (2007) found that improving classroom temperatures to optimal ranges can boost student performance by 7-15%.

Decarbonization efforts also provide the opportunity to introduce air conditioning, crucial for combating extreme heat that has increasingly led to school closures in recent years. Installing energy-efficient air conditioning systems ensures that classrooms remain conducive to learning even during heatwaves. Park et al. (2019) found that extreme heat negatively impacts student learning outcomes, decreasing performance as temperatures rise. Schools can mitigate these effects by introducing air conditioning and maintaining a stable learning environment.

Reduced Operation Costs

Beyond immediate educational benefits, decarbonization significantly reduces operational costs, which can then be redirected toward improving educational resources and programs. Decarbonized schools utilize energy-efficient systems that consume less power compared to traditional systems. The initial investment in technologies such as LED lighting, solar panels, and advanced HVAC systems is offset by long-term savings in utility bills. A National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) report estimates that schools can reduce energy costs by up to 25% through these upgrades (Pless et al., 2018).

The savings from reduced energy consumption can be reallocated to support various educational initiatives. For instance, schools can invest in updated textbooks, digital learning tools, and extracurricular programs. By redirecting funds saved through energy efficiency, schools can enhance the quality of education they provide. Studies have shown that access to updated learning materials, and technology can improve student engagement and academic performance. For example, Waddell (2015) found that integrating digital classroom learning tools enhances student comprehension and interaction. The resulting financial savings can be allocated to hire additional faculty, reduce class sizes, and improve student-to-teacher ratios, enhancing overall educational quality. Darling-Hammond (2000) demonstrated that smaller class sizes lead to more individualized attention

from teachers and better student outcomes. Schools that can afford to employ more faculty can provide a more supportive learning environment, contributing to higher levels of student achievement.

Decarbonization efforts align with broader sustainability goals, fostering an environmentally responsible culture within the school community. This culture benefits the environment and instills values of sustainability and stewardship in students, preparing them to be conscientious global citizens. Sustainability education, integrated into the curriculum, has been shown to increase students' environmental awareness and responsibility (Tilbury, 1995). By embedding sustainability practices into the school's operations, students learn the importance of reducing their carbon footprint and engaging in eco-friendly behaviors. Decarbonization projects often involve the school community in the planning and implementation phases, promoting a sense of ownership and participation among students, staff, and parents. Community engagement in sustainability projects can enhance social cohesion and foster collaboration (Fisman, 2005). Students who participate in these initiatives gain practical experience and develop valuable skills beyond the classroom, such as project management, teamwork, and problem-solving.

Policy Analysis

Policy frameworks are crucial in facilitating or hindering decarbonization efforts in K-12 schools. Comprehensive policies that offer financial incentives, technical support, and regulatory guidance are essential for driving progress. This section analyzes various federal, state, and local policies and programs that impact school decarbonization efforts, using specific examples to illustrate their effectiveness.

Federal Policies

The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), enacted in 2022, has allocated significant funding to support energy efficiency and renewable energy projects, including those in K-12 schools. This legislation incentivizes schools to adopt clean energy technologies and enhance energy efficiency. The impact of the IRA has been profound, enabling schools to undertake large-scale energy retrofits. A notable example is the Miami-Dade County Public Schools in Florida, which received a \$15 million grant under the IRA to install new HVAC systems and solar panels. These upgrades have led to substantial energy savings and improved indoor air quality for the district's schools (Miami-Dade County Public Schools, 2023). However, the implementation of IRA funds is challenging. The process can be complex, primarily due to the stringent application requirements and the need for matching funds from local sources, which may only sometimes be readily available. These hurdles can complicate efforts to fully leverage the IRA's benefits, particularly for schools in underfunded districts (U.S. Department of the Treasury, 2023). The Better Buildings Challenge, launched by the U.S. Department of Energy, is designed to encourage organizations, including K-12 schools, to commit to improving their energy efficiency by at least 20% over ten years. The program offers technical assistance, resources, and recognition to participating organizations to support this ambitious goal. The impact of the Better Buildings Challenge has been significant, with the Houston Independent School District in Texas serving as a prime example.

By participating in the challenge and implementing a district-wide energy management system, the district achieved a 30% reduction in energy consumption, resulting in \$1.5 million in annual energy cost savings. However, the success of the Better Buildings Challenge is contingent on several factors. The availability of technical expertise is crucial for schools to implement energy-efficient measures effectively. Additionally, the commitment of school administrators and staff to adopt and maintain these practices plays a vital role in the long-term success of energy efficiency initiatives. With strong leadership and a dedicated approach to energy management, the full potential of the Better Buildings Challenge may be easier to realize (Houston Independent School District, n.d.).

The Green Ribbon Schools Program, administered by the U.S. Department of Education, recognizes schools that have made substantial progress in reducing their environmental impact, improving health and wellness, and delivering effective sustainability education. This program highlights schools' efforts in integrating sustainability into their operations and curriculum. A notable example is the Jefferson County Public School District in Colorado, which received the Green Ribbon Schools award for its comprehensive sustainability initiatives. Among these efforts was the achievement of net-zero energy status for one of its elementary schools, accomplished through passive solar design, geothermal heating, and onsite wind energy generation. This recognition underscores the district's commitment to sustainability. It serves as a model for other schools aiming

to reduce their environmental footprint while enhancing student learning experiences (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.).

State Policies

California Clean Energy Jobs Act

The California Clean Energy Jobs Act, also known as Proposition 39, was enacted by California voters in 2012. This landmark legislation provides substantial funding to improve energy efficiency and increase the adoption of clean energy technologies in public schools and buildings. The overarching objectives of Proposition 39 include the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, lowering energy costs, and fostering healthier, more sustainable learning environments (Table 1). The Act facilitates these goals by offering grants for energy audits, efficiency retrofits, and the installation of renewable energy systems.

Table 1. Key components of proposition 39			
Component	Objective	Process/Technology	Outcome
Energy Audits and Assessments	Establish baseline energy consumption and inefficiencies	Certified energy professionals conduct audits	Reports outlining recommended improvements and projected energy savings
Energy Efficiency Upgrades	Improve energy efficiency in educational buildings	LED lighting upgrades, modernized HVAC, improved insulation	Significant reductions in energy use and operational costs
Renewable Energy Installations	Expand the use of renewable energy in schools	Solar panels, wind turbines, and other renewable systems	Decreased fossil fuel reliance and a reduced carbon footprint

The California Clean Energy Jobs Act emphasizes the state's commitment to promoting sustainability in educational settings. Through a combination of targeted financial support, comprehensive energy audits, and strategic energy efficiency measures, Proposition 39 provides a model for integrating energy-saving practices and renewable energy into schools. These efforts not only lead to significant reductions in both energy use and costs but also contribute to an enriched educational experience by raising awareness about sustainability among students. The lessons learned from California's approach offer a framework that other states can replicate to achieve similar outcomes.

The Los Angeles Unified School District's implementation of Proposition 39 highlights its success in achieving significant energy savings and advancing renewable energy adoption (Table 2). The district's efforts demonstrate how local engagement, alongside state funding and support, can result in tangible environmental and financial benefits. These initiatives offer a blueprint for scalability in other school districts facing similar challenges.

Table 2. Los Angeles Unified school district proposition 39 projects		
Component	Objective	Process/Technology
Component	Implementation	Outcome
Energy Audits	Comprehensive audits across multiple	Identification of energy efficiency
Energy Audits	campuses	improvements
Efficiency Ungrades	LED lighting retrofits, modernized HVAC,	30% reduction in district-wide energy
Efficiency opgrades	improved insulation	consumption
Solar Installations	Solar papels installed on school rooftons	Significant CO2 emissions reduction
Solar Instantions	solar paners instance on senoor roomops	and generation of clean energy
Educational Initiatives	Sustainability concepts integrated into the	Increased environmental awareness
Educational initiatives	curriculum	and student engagement
Cost Savings	Efficiency and renewable energy measures	\$5 million annual savings on energy
Cost Savings	Efficiency and renewable energy measures	bills
Community Involvement	Engagement with stakeholders and local	Increased support for sustainability
	communities	initiatives
Scalability	Pilot projects expanded to other district	Scalable solutions adaptable to other
	schools	districts
Challenges	Competitive grants and complex funding	Delayed implementation in some
Chanenges	processes	schools due to resource limitations

New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA) Programs

The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA) leads various programs that support energy efficiency and renewable energy initiatives in K-12 schools. The Clean Energy Communities Program and the K-12 Schools Program are key components of these efforts, aimed at reducing energy consumption, lowering operational costs, and fostering healthier learning environments through energy audits, retrofits, and renewable energy projects.

Table 3. NYSERDA key components			
Program	Objective	Support/Measures	Outcome
Clean Energy Communities	Promote local government adoption of clean energy practices	Grants, technical assistance, recognition	Enhanced community engagement and commitment to sustainability
K-12 Schools Program	Improve energy efficiency and renewable energy use in schools	Funding for energy audits, retrofits, and renewable installations	Reduced energy consumption, improved air quality, and increased clean energy adoption

NYSERDA's programs reflect New York State's commitment to sustainability in education by offering targeted financial and technical assistance. These efforts not only result in energy and cost savings but also enhance the learning environment and promote student engagement in sustainability practices. The experiences from case studies, such as those in the Rochester City School District, offer replicable models for other school systems aiming to implement similar programs.

Component	Implementation	Outcome	
Component		Guicollic	
Energy Audits	Comprehensive audits in multiple	Identification of energy efficiency opportunities	
	school buildings		
	Installation of efficient lighting,	25% reduction in district-wide energy	
Efficiency Upgrades	HVAC systems, improved	consumption	
	building envelopes	consumption	
Democrathle Emocratic	Solar panel installations on school	CO2 emissions reduced by hundreds of metric	
Renewable Energy	rooftops	tons annually	
	Integration of energy efficiency	T 1 / 1 / 1 / 1 1	
Educational Initiatives	and renewable energy topics into	Increased student engagement and hands-on	
	the curriculum	learning	
	Efficiency and renewable energy		
Cost Savings	projects	\$1.5 million in annual energy cost savings	
Community	Engagement with stakeholders		
Involvement	and community	Increased support for sustainability initiatives	
Scalability	Successful projects replicated at		
	other schools	Scalable solutions adaptable to other districts	
Challen and	Navigating complex funding and	Delass in ancient involution	
Challenges	technical expertise requirements	Delays in project implementation	

Table 4. Rochester city school district NYSERDA-funded projects

Maryland Energy Administration Decarbonizing Public Schools Program

Maryland is leading efforts to decarbonize K-12 schools through comprehensive programs aimed at reducing greenhouse gas emissions and increasing the use of clean energy technologies. The Maryland Energy Administration (MEA) launched the School Decarbonization Pilot Program, which provides funding and support for energy efficiency upgrades, renewable energy installations, and sustainability education.

The Maryland School Decarbonization Pilot Program exemplifies a holistic approach to reducing energy consumption and emissions in school facilities. By funding energy audits, supporting retrofits, and promoting renewable energy adoption, Maryland schools are creating healthier and more energy-efficient learning environments. These efforts also serve as a model for how educational institutions can contribute to broader sustainability goals.

Component	Objective	Support	Outcome
Energy Audits and Assessments	Identify inefficiencies and opportunities for improvement	Funded energy audits in school facilities	Actionable areas for energy savings identified
Energy Efficiency Upgrades	Retrofit school buildings for energy efficiency	Funding for LED lighting, HVAC, and insulation upgrades	Significant reduction in energy use and operational costs
Renewable Energy Installations	Increase the use of renewable energy	Supported installations of solar panels and geothermal systems	Decreased reliance on fossil fuels and lower emissions
Educational Integration	Incorporate sustainability into the curriculum	Provided resources for hands-on learning	Increased student participation in sustainability efforts

Local Policies

Seattle Public Schools' Resource Conservation Program

Seattle Public Schools has implemented a Resource Conservation Program to reduce energy and water consumption, minimize waste, and lower greenhouse gas emissions across the district. This program involves real-time energy monitoring, student-led conservation projects, and staff training to foster a culture of sustainability within schools (Table 6). Seattle Public Schools' Resource Conservation Program demonstrates how a school district can foster long-term sustainability by engaging both students and staff in conservation efforts, achieving measurable energy and cost savings.

Table 6. Seattle	public schools' resource conservation	program

Component/Action	Objective	Outcome
Deal Time Energy Manitoring	Track and manage energy	20% reduction in district-wide energy
Real-Time Energy Monitoring	consumption in real time	consumption
Student-Led Conservation Projects	Engage students in	Increased student participation in energy-saving
	sustainability initiatives	campaigns
Staff Training	Equip staff to implement	Empowered staff contributing to \$1 million in
Starr Training	conservation practices	annual utility savings

Austin Energy Green Building Program

The Austin Energy Green Building Program partners with schools to promote sustainable building practices. Through financial incentives, technical assistance, and educational resources, the program supports green building projects that reduce operational costs and create healthier learning environments (Table 7). The Austin Energy Green Building Program serves as a model for integrating energy efficiency and sustainability into educational institutions, with measurable improvements in cost savings and student engagement.

Table 7. Austin energy green building program			
Objective/Implementation	Outcome		
Encourage adoption of green building	Increased adoption of green building designs		
practices			
Provide expertise for green building	Successful execution of sustainable projects		
projects	Successful execution of sustainable projects		
Incorporate sustainability into school	Enhanced student understanding of		
curricula	sustainability practices		
	Table 7. Austin energy green bObjective/ImplementationEncourage adoption of green building practicesProvide expertise for green building projectsIncorporate sustainability into school curricula		

Interpretation of Findings

The case studies derived from the Renew America's Schools initiative underscore the multifaceted approaches that can substantially advance the decarbonization of K-12 schools. Notably, the integration of solar installations, geothermal systems, energy-efficient retrofits, and comprehensive energy management systems emerge as efficacious strategies. Each technology contributes uniquely to energy reduction and sustainability. Furthermore, embedding these technologies into educational curricula not only maximizes their operational impact but also cultivates an ethos of environmental stewardship among students. This dual approach of technological implementation and academic integration demonstrates a robust model for sustainable educational environments, potentially setting a precedent for future initiatives.

Funding & Support

The necessity for increased federal and state funding cannot be overstated. Large-scale decarbonization projects in schools require significant financial investments that are often beyond the reach of local budgets. Programs such as Renew America's Schools serve as exemplary models, illustrating how governmental support can catalyze substantial improvements in energy efficiency and sustainability. Enhanced funding mechanisms would enable broader participation and more comprehensive project scopes, ensuring that even under-resourced schools can partake in these transformative initiatives.

Policy Frameworks

For school decarbonization efforts to be sustainable and effective, consistent and comprehensive policies at both the federal and state levels are imperative. Financial incentives, technical assistance, and transparent regulatory guidance are essential components of a supportive policy framework. Such policies should aim to lower barriers to entry for renewable energy projects, streamline approval processes, and provide ongoing support through subsidies or tax incentives. A cohesive policy environment would facilitate the widespread adoption of energyefficient technologies and practices in educational settings.

Community Engagement

The success of decarbonization projects is often bolstered by active collaboration with local communities, businesses, and organizations. Community engagement enhances resource availability and fosters a sense of collective ownership and support for sustainability initiatives. Involving stakeholders from the outset can lead to innovative solutions, improved project outcomes, and increased public awareness. Schools that engage their communities in decarbonization efforts can leverage local expertise and resources, thereby enhancing the overall impact of their projects.

Educational Integration

Integrating decarbonization projects into school curricula provides invaluable experiential learning opportunities. Such integration helps students understand the practical applications of sustainability and fosters a culture of environmental responsibility. Curriculum development that includes hands-on projects, sustainability workshops, and interdisciplinary learning modules can significantly enhance student engagement and awareness. As future leaders and decision-makers, students who are educated in sustainability practices are more likely to advocate for and implement similar initiatives in their personal and professional lives.

Future Directions

To sustain and expand the progress achieved in school decarbonization efforts, future research and policy initiatives should focus on several critical areas. Firstly, scaling successful models is essential; other schools and districts can adopt effective strategies tailored to their specific needs by analyzing and replicating pilots and case studies that have demonstrated success. The dissemination of best practices and lessons learned will be crucial in facilitating this broader application.

Strengthening partnerships is another vital component. Building and maintaining strong relationships with utility companies, government agencies, and private sector partners will ensure decarbonization projects' long-

term sustainability. These collaborative efforts can enhance resource allocation, provide technical expertise, and support the continuous evolution of decarbonization initiatives.

Continuous improvement must also be a priority. Ongoing monitoring and evaluation of decarbonization projects will help identify best practices and areas for enhancement. Establishing continuous feedback loops will ensure that strategies remain effective and adaptable to changing circumstances, thereby maintaining momentum in achieving sustainability goals. Promoting innovation is essential for driving further reductions in energy consumption and environmental impact. Encouraging the development of new sustainable technologies and practices, supported by investment in research and development, will lead to advancements that can significantly impact school decarbonization.

Conclusion

The imperative to decarbonize K-12 schools in the United States has gained substantial momentum, driven by the dual mandates of environmental sustainability and operational efficiency. This study has highlighted the multifaceted approaches and diverse strategies employed across various districts to significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions, enhance energy efficiency, and foster a culture of sustainability within educational settings.

The Department of Energy's Renew America's Schools initiative has demonstrated that, with adequate support, innovative approaches, and robust community engagement, K-12 schools can significantly reduce their carbon footprint. The case studies presented in this research provide valuable insights and best practices that can be emulated nationwide. By continuing to invest in and prioritize school decarbonization, we can create healthier, more sustainable learning environments for future generations. This holistic approach benefits the environment and enriches the educational experience, equipping students with the knowledge and skills to lead in a sustainable future.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

The authors declare that the scientific ethical and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors.

References

- Acoustical Society of America. (2014). Classroom acoustics. Retrieved from https://acousticalsociety.org/classroom-acoustics/
- Colorado Real Estate Journal. (2017, September 5). *Colorado schools strive for zero net energy*. Mile High CRE. Retrieved from https://milehighcre.com/colorado-schools-strive-for-zero-net-energy/
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2000). Teacher quality and student achievement: A review of state policy evidence. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 8(1), 14507.
- Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). Thermal comfort and student performance. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov
- Fisk, W. J., Black, D., & Brunner, G. (2011). Benefits and costs of improved IEQ in U.S. offices. *Indoor Air*, 21(5), 357-367.
- Fisman, L. (2005). The effects of local learning on environmental awareness in children: An empirical investigation. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, *36*(3), 39-50.
- Hathaway, W. E., Hargreaves, J. A., Thompson, G. W., & Novitsky, D. (1992). A study into the effects of light on children of elementary school age. A case of daylight robbery. *Environment and Behavior*, 24(4), 579-600.
- Haverinen-Shaughnessy, U., Moschandreas, D. J., & Shaughnessy, R. J. (2011). Association between substandard classroom ventilation rates and students' academic achievement. *Indoor Air*, 21(2), 121-131.
- Heschong Mahone Group. (1999). Daylighting in Schools: An investigation into the relationship between daylighting and human performance. Retrieved from https://h-m-g.com/projects/daylighting/summaries.htm
- Houston Independent School District. (n.d.). *Energy and sustainability*. Retrieved from https://www.houstonisd.org/domain/8301

- Iyiegbuniwe, O. (2014). The role of renewable energy in reducing carbon emissions in schools. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 76(6), 34-40.
- Klatte, M., Bergstrom, K., & Lachmann, T. (2010). Does noise affect learning? A short review on noise effects on cognitive performance in children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1*, 582.
- Los Angeles Unified School District. (n.d.). *Solar initiative*. LAUSD Learning Green. Retrieved from http://learninggreen.laschools.org/solar-initiative.html
- Mendell, M. J., & Heath, G. A. (2005). Do indoor pollutants and thermal conditions in schools influence student performance? A critical review of the literature. *Indoor Air*, 15(1), 27-52.
- Miami-Dade County Public Schools. (2023, August 23). Miami-Dade county public schools celebrates ribbon cutting ceremony for energy-efficient school Retrieved from https://news.dadeschools.net/cmnc/new/34129
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). (2023). *Benefits of energy efficiency in schools*. Retrieved from https://www.nrel.gov
- Nicklas, M., & Bailey, G. (1996). Analysis of the performance of students in daylit schools. North Carolina Department of Public Instruction, 23(2), 56-61.
- Park, J., Sabu, M., & Mendell, M. J. (2019). A systematic review of the impact of indoor temperature on learning and cognitive performance. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 127(1), 016001.
- Pless, S. D., Torcellini, P. A., Goldwasser, D., & Zaleski, S. B. (2018). Moving K-12 zero energy schools to the mainstream: Establishing design guidelines and energy targets (Preprint) (NREL/CP-7A40-71700). National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Retrieved from https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy18osti/71700.pdf
- Shendell, D. G., Prill, R., Fisk, W. J., Apte, M. G., Blake, D., & Faulkner, D. (2004). Associations between classroom CO2 concentrations and student attendance in Washington and Idaho. *Indoor Air*, 14(5), 333-341.
- Shield, B. M., & Dockrell, J. E. (2003). The effects of noise on children's learning. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 18(2), 141-148.
- Tilbury, D. (1995). Environmental education for sustainability: Defining the new focus of environmental education in the 1990s. *Environmental Education Research*, 1(2), 195-212.

Trane. (2023). Decarbonization strategies for school buildings. Retrieved from https://www.trane.com

- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). *Green Ribbon schools awards*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/programs/green-ribbon-schools/awards.html
- U.S. Department of Energy. (2023). *Better buildings challenge*. Retrieved from https://betterbuildingssolutioncenter.energy.gov/sectors/k-12-school-districts
- U.S. Department of Energy. (2023). *Renew America's schools*. Retrieved from https://www.energy.gov/scep/renew-americas-schools
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2018). Evidence from scientific literature about improved academic performance. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/iaq-schools/evidence-scientific-literature-about-improved-academic-performance
- U.S. Green Building Council. (n.d.). *Health-centered decarbonization of K-12 schools*. Retrieved from https://www.usgbc.org/education/sessions/zero-emissions-zero-compromises-health-centered-decarbonization-k-12-schools
- U.S. Department of the Treasury. (2023, August 25). Treasury Department announces \$4.5 billion in funding to help communities cut pollution and expand clean energy economy. Retrieved from https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy2016
- Waddell, K. J. (2015). The impact of digital learning tools on student engagement and achievement. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 43(3), 171-185.
- Wargocki, P., & Wyon, D. P. (2007). The effects of moderately raised classroom temperatures and classroom ventilation rate on the performance of schoolwork by children. *HVAC&R Research*, 13(2), 193-220.

Authors Information		
Ryan Kmetz	Gus Norrbom	
M.S., Program Manager (former)	M.A., Energy Specialist	
Maryland Energy Administration 1800 Washington Bvld.,	Maryland Energy Administration, 1800 Washington Bvld.,	
Baltimore, MD 21230, U.S.A.	Baltimore, MD 21230, U.S.A.	
Contact Email: kmetzrm@gmail.com	Orcid iD: https://orcid.org/ 0009-0002-1102-3622	
Orcid iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8184-5002		


https://doi.org/10.55549/jeseh.749

The Examination of the Concept of Health Literacy through Bibliometric **Analysis Method**

Dilek Kolca, Selahattin Caner

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	The concept of health literacy has been defined by the World Health
Dublish - J	Organization for 25 years. During this period, thousands of publications related
01 January 2025	to health literacy have been produced in the literature. The aim of this study is to examine publications from the last 10 years concerning the concept of health
Received: 15 August 2024	literacy and to identify topics associated with health literacy in these studies. This article provides a general overview of research conducted on the concept of
Accepted:	health literacy using bibliometric methods. The Web of Science (WoS) database was utilized as the data source for gathering information. Over the last 10 years,
29 October 2024	it has been determined that there have been 17,864 studies conducted on health literacy. This study has examined the distribution of these studies by year, author
Keywords	names, the most frequently used 20 keywords, and the relationships between these keywords. The results of the bibliometric analysis indicate that a variety of
Health education	topics related to health literacy have been explored. Among these, the most
Health literacy	prevalent ones include mental health literacy, health improvement, and mental
Bibliometric analysis	health. In order to comprehend the concept of health literacy, it is essential to accurately identify the associated sub-concepts. Clearly elucidating the multifaceted relationship between these identified sub-concepts and health
	literacy is of great importance. The presence of diverse publications in the literature related to sub-concepts associated with health literacy highlights the need to examine these publications, providing a basis for planning future studies.

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) defined health literacy in its Health Promotion Glossary report published in 1998 as "the cognitive and social skills which determine the motivation and ability of individuals to gain access to, understand, and use information in ways which promote and maintain good health" (WHO, 1998). Originally focusing solely on individuals' reading and comprehension skills for written information, health literacy has evolved into a concept encompassing numerous factors that affect a person's ability to access, comprehend, and utilize health information from various sources. (Batterham et al., 2016).

At least one-third of the global population experiences difficulties in perceiving health-related issues. The primary cause of these perception issues is the variation in individuals' health literacy levels (Raynor, 2012). It is acknowledged that individuals with particularly low literacy levels have a negative impact on public health and healthcare services (Berkman et al., 2010). In a study, it was found that more than one-third of American adults have limited health literacy, contributing to adverse health outcomes. Health literacy is also indicated to impact patient safety, access to healthcare, and the quality of healthcare services (Hersh et al., 2015). Although health literacy is included in many global health policies, implementing the principles of health literacy in routine practice is not easy. Individuals with low health literacy impact healthcare utilization rates and lead to worse health outcomes compared to those with higher health Literacy (Batterham et al., 2016).

Health literacy is a concept that has significant effects on individual health and public health. This topic is associated with numerous health issues. This study utilizes the Web of Science database to examine publications related to health literacy and conduct bibliometric analysis. Bibliometric analysis is a research field attracting increasing interest within the scientific community, and its importance is particularly growing with the rapid development of the internet. This analysis is becoming a fundamental methodology for evaluating research in the literature. Various articles providing a comprehensive overview of bibliometric analysis exist in many research fields, including management, economics, health, innovation, and entrepreneurship. This research will provide a foresight for future studies on health literacy. The results of the research will guide in understanding the significant issues in this field and potential solutions.

Method

Bibliometric analysis is a research method commonly used to understand global research trends in a specific field through the analysis of academic publications in databases such as WoS (Web of Science). This method typically focuses on metrics such as publication numbers, citations, and author collaborations, aiming to reveal significant trends and relationships in the output of scientific studies through statistical analysis. In this study, an analysis has been conducted on publications related to the concept of "Health Literacy" published in the last 10 years in WoS (Web of Science) using Wosvier.

Results

All categories from the core database of WoS were selected with the keyword "health literacy," and a search was conducted considering the period from 2013 to 2023 (the last 10 years). As a result of the search, 17,864 studies related to the concept of health literacy were identified. Word mining, citation analysis, and bibliometric mapping analyses were performed using the VOSviewer software. As a result of the literature review, the frequency of author keywords in publications related to the concept of health literacy is presented in the table below.



Figure 1. Health literacy documents by years

When examining the distribution of publications related to health literacy over the years, there is a notable increase in the last 5 years. It can be said that the number of studies related to health literacy has increased by more than threefold in the last 10 years. The keywords found in studies related to health literacy, their frequencies, and connection strengths are provided in Table 1.

In the examination of publications based on the concept of health literacy, the most frequently used keyword is the term 'health literacy'. The concept of mental health literacy is in the second place, while the concept of health improvement is in the third place in terms of keyword frequency. Recently, among the top 10 keywords in health literacy studies, the global COVID-19 pandemic is observed.

Figure 1 depicts other sub-keywords associated with the main keyword "health literacy". The relationships between these keywords are illustrated, showing connections both within health literacy and with other sub-keywords. On the figure, the relationships between sub-keywords have been considered, and they are depicted using different colors. These colors represent 6 groups, namely red, green, blue, navy blue, yellow, and purple.

	Table 1. Aution Reywords	associated with	nearth meracy
	Keyword	Occurrences	Total Link Strength
1.	Health Literacy	5925	4679
2.	Mental Health Literacy	672	658
3.	Health Promotion	438	636
4.	Mental Health	507	633
5.	Patient Education	476	631
6.	Covd-19	510	610
7.	Health Education	382	538
8.	Depression	330	519
9.	Self-Management	287	403
10.	Education	320	389
11.	Knowledge	293	389
12.	Stigma	277	388
13.	Health Communication	255	386
14.	Readability	273	370
15.	Communication	287	345
16.	Public Health	257	321
17.	Adolescents	236	314
18.	Health Information	186	314
19.	Diabetes	219	306
20.	Ehealth	167	300

Table 1. Author keywords associated with health literacy



Figure 1. Health literacy author keyword frequency

In the above figure, it can be observed that six subsets are formed in association with the main concept of health literacy. These subsets are:

- Cluster 1- red: adherence, chronic disease, diabetes, health literacy, hypertension, nursing, medication adherence, primary care, quality of life, self-care, self-efficacy, self-management, social support, systematic review.
- Cluster 2- green: adolescents, anxiety, attitudes, children, depression, education, help-seeking, knowledge, mental health, mental health literacy, oral health, stigma.
- Cluster 3- navy blue: empowerment, health communication, health education, health information, health promotion, prevention, public health, social media.
- Cluster 4- yellow: covid-19, digital health, ehealth, ehealth literacy, mhealth, older adults, telemedicine.

- Cluster 5- purple: cancer, communication, health disparities, qualitative research.
- Cluster 6- blue: internet, patient education, readability.

In Figure 2, the relationship between the sub-keyword "mental health literacy" and other keywords is illustrated. It is observed that mental health literacy is associated with various subtopics such as depression, education, quality of life, health education, health improvement, health communication, etc.



Figure 2. Mental health literacy author keyword frequency

In Figure 3, the relationship between the sub-keyword "health promotion" and other keywords is illustrated. It is observed that health promotion is associated with various subtopics such as readability, prevention, health knowledge, health education, chronic diseases, etc.



Figure 3. Health promotion author keyword frequency

In Figure 4, the relationship between the sub-keyword "mental health" and other keywords is illustrated. It is observed that mental health is associated with various subtopics such as children, adolescents, stigma, cancer, patient education, etc.



Figure 4. Mental health author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "patient education" with other keywords is shown in Figure 5. It is observed that patient education is associated with various subtopics such as readability, health knowledge, health education, health inequality, etc.



Figure 5. Patient education author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "Covid-19" with other keywords is depicted in Figure 6. It is observed that Covid-19 is associated with various subtopics such as self-care, social support, older adults, e-health, adherence etc.



Figure 6. Covid-19 author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "health education" with other keywords is depicted in Figure 7. It is observed that health education is associated with various subtopics such as health promotion, e-health literacy, health communication, health disparities, Covid-19, etc.



Figure 7. Health education author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "depression" with other keywords is depicted in Figure 8. It is observed that depression is associated with sub-factors such as stigma, anxiety, social support, adult individuals, quality of life, etc.



Figure 8. Depression author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "self-management" with other keywords is depicted in Figure 9. Self-management is observed to be associated with sub-factors such as adherence, self-care, health disparities, patient education, communication, etc



Figure 9. Self-management author keyword frequency

The relationship of the sub-keyword "education" with other keywords is depicted in Figure 10. Education is observed to be associated with sub-factors such as oral health, depression, cancer, qualitative research, nursing, diabetes, etc.



Figure 10. Education author keyword frequency

Figure 11 provides information about authors who have published articles based on the keyword "health literacy." It is observed that authors, similar to keywords, are categorized into 6 groups. Additionally, the figure highlights the citations made by authors to each other. It is notable that Wolf, Michael S. has received the most citations for his work on health literacy. Secondly, Richard H. Osborne has received the second-highest number of citations.



Figure 11. Authors who have used the concept of health literacy

Discussion

It has been argued that health literacy emerged as an important concept for individuals with mental health issues to overcome these negative situations (Coles & Coleman, 2010). It has been observed that many individuals with mental health disorders face difficulties in seeking treatment due to negative attitudes and perceptions (Fleary et al., 2022). The lack of sufficient information and fear of being stigmatized by society have been

explained as some of the barriers to accessing treatment (Sareen et al., 2007). In a different study, the need to improve mental health literacy was emphasised as arising from the complexity of access to services. The limited availability of studies aimed at improving mental health literacy underscores the necessity for the development and monitoring of interventions in this field (De Silva, 2020).

In a study examining the relationship between health literacy and the health behaviors of adolescents, the importance of encouraging adolescents to participate in health literacy-enhancing practices is emphasized. Improving health during adolescence helps prevent negative health outcomes in later stages of life (Park et al., 2017). In a different study, a relationship between students' health literacy and health-promoting behaviors was observed, indicating that as students' health literacy levels increased, they exhibited more health-promoting behaviors (Ozturk, 2020). Similarly, adolescents with low health literacy were found to have a lower likelihood of exhibiting health-promoting behaviors compared to other adolescents (Chang, 2011). Low health literacy is associated with deteriorating overall health, unhealthy eating, weight gain, and engaging in problematic behaviors (Park et al., 2017). Fleary et al. (2018) mentioned the importance of health literacy in imparting health-promoting behaviors to adolescents and emphasized that health literacy should be addressed in school settings. Adding a curriculum that includes basic health information and healthy lifestyle behaviors would be a positive step in increasing students' health literacy. The goal is not only to inform students but also to empower them to take responsibility for their health by developing their health knowledge and supporting their help-seeking skills (Hagell et al., 2015).

A significant relationship has been identified between all dimensions of health-promoting behaviors and health literacy (Chahardah-Cherik et al., 2018). In a study, the necessity of focusing on improving patients' health literacy and thus enhancing their health levels was emphasized (Bayati et al., 2018). In a different study examining the relationship between health literacy and individuals' health behaviors, the importance of encouraging adolescents to participate in health literacy-enhancing practices was highlighted. It has been observed that improving health prevents negative health outcomes in later stages of life (Park et al., 2017). In another study, a relationship between health literacy and health-promoting behaviors was observed, indicating that as health literacy levels increased, individuals exhibited more health-promoting behaviors (Ozturk, 2020). Fleary et al. (2018) mentioned the importance of health literacy in imparting health-promoting behaviors to students and emphasized that health literacy should be addressed in school settings. Adding a curriculum that includes basic health information and healthy lifestyle behaviors would be a positive step in increasing students' health literacy. The goal is not only to inform students but also to empower them to take responsibility for their health by developing their health knowledge and supporting their help-seeking skills (Hagell et al., 2015).

When analyzed at the societal level, mental health literacy is generally found to be insufficient (Kelly et al., 2007). Individuals with low health literacy have been observed to underutilize healthcare services, leading to a negative impact on their mental health. Additionally, previous negative experiences with healthcare services are anticipated to result in low health literacy, and this, in turn, may adversely affect their mental health (Milner, 2019).

Numerous studies have emphasized that the level of mental health literacy is lower in young people and various public policies need to be developed to eliminate this negative situation. These policies can guide young people in learning about their mental health and recognizing ways of protection (Samapio et al., 2022). It is argued that strategies for mental health literacy should be evidence-based, designed with social awareness, developmentally appropriate, applicable throughout the lifespan, inclusive, and culturally sensitive (Gorczynski, 2021). In a different study, it is claimed that increasing mental health literacy presents some challenges and these challenges can be addressed with a carefully developed program. Mental health literacy programs should be inclusive, consider economic opportunity inequality, and address social issues such as discrimination and their impact on mental Health (Henderson, 2023).

The materials provided during the patient education process should ensure suitability for individuals with varying levels of health literacy. Ensuring the comprehensibility of forms in the patient education process enhances the patient's ability to access and utilize appropriate hospital services. Providing patients with more accessible health education materials will encourage them to actively participate in their care by fostering confidence in decision-making about their treatments (Demarco, 2010). A study conducted on patients with hearing impairment examined an issue related to the readability of educational materials. The inability of the patient to perform simple tasks to ensure the proper functioning of the hearing aid led to their return to the healthcare facility. This situation resulted in the patient experiencing loss of time, money, and disappointment (Nair, 2010). The provision of a patient education program to individuals with chronic diseases has been documented to increase their disease-specific knowledge. Patient education programs have encouraged patients

to play a more active role in their illness processes, resulting in an enhancement of their health literacy (Eckman, 2012).

The study revealed a negative relationship between health literacy and depressive tendencies in diabetic women (Hsu, 2020). It has been demonstrated that, compared to women, men in both Covid-19 positive and negative groups have higher health literacy scores. Previous studies have shown that, especially in elderly adults, men tend to have worse health outcomes (Tang, 2020). Therefore, improving health literacy can be a strategic approach to prevent and minimize the outcomes of Covid-19, particularly in men and the elderly (Do, 2020). It has been found that higher health literacy scores in individuals with Covid-19are associated with a lower probability of depression. This result is consistent with previous studies (Wang, 2020). It is also noted that higher health literacy is associated with lower Covid-19 fear and a lower probability of depression (Nguyen, 2020).

Improving health literacy through health education depends on long-term strategies and their implementation through specific efforts. The establishment of this system should begin from school age. In this way, lifelong habits, skills, and decision-making processes that can impact community health will be positively influenced (Auld, 2020). Health education is also a paramount responsibility of healthcare providers. Therefore, it is recommended to teach healthcare workers health literacy education strategies and skills to effectively communicate with patients with low health literacy levels (Bahramian, 2020). In health education provided by healthcare professionals, confirming understanding is a critical component of the training. However, validation methods are limited to questioning rather than using interactive skills such as feedback. The effectiveness of methods or tools used in health education needs to be tested with effective tools from the patient's perspective to confirm understanding of instructional materials. It is argued that establishing individual learning styles would be beneficial to enhance the effectiveness of patient education and health literacy (Kim, 2020).

There has been a relationship found between inadequate health literacy and individuals' tendencies toward depression (Hsu, 2020). In a study encompassing 224 patients in Australia, it was observed that depressive feelings were associated with low health literacy (Maneze, 2016). A study conducted in South Korea showed that individuals with low health literacy had significantly more depressive symptoms (Rhee, 2017). In a study in the United States, health literacy was found to be significantly associated with depressive symptoms (Kuczmarski, 2015). In a different study, individuals with lower health literacy were found to have 1.2 times higher odds of depression (Gazmararian, 2000).

Patients with adequate and limited health literacy showed different outcomes in self-management. Individuals with limited health literacy exhibited poorer performance in certain self-management behaviors. Reinforcement of previously taught behaviors led to greater improvement in the limited literacy group (Kim, 2004). To enhance self-management programs with a focus on empowering patients to manage their care, a system that centers on families should be implemented. Health care professionals should not only provide adaptable health literacy education programs but also create supportive environments, strengthen the social support function, and connect patients' self-management behaviors to social support resources (Chen, 2018). There were found to be significant relationships between critical health literacy and self-management behavior (Heijmans et al. 2015), but van der Heide et al. (2013) found that critical health literacy was not associated with patients' perceived abilities to perform self-management behaviors. It is emphasized that targeted self-management support activities based on patients' health literacy capacity should be developed through the collaborative participation of family, community, and the medical system (Qiu, 2020).

In a conducted study, it has been observed that obtaining an additional year of education has a positive and significant impact on health literacy for women. However, it has been found that it does not have a significant effect for men (Celidoni,2023). Low educational attainment has been found to be associated with poor overall health (Mackenbach et al., 2008), and it has been linked to a decline in physical and mental health (Lee et al., 2010). It is believed that strategies aimed at reducing inequalities in health through education may provide greater benefits than the focus on health literacy alone. Adapting health information to be more accessible, understandable, and usable by individuals facing challenges in reading and numeracy is suggested to enhance opportunities for them to protect or improve their Health (Van Der Heide, 2013).

Conclusion

Health literacy is an important concept, and when conducting studies related to this concept, it is crucial to define the sub-concepts associated with it. There are no limitations to the sub-concepts associated with health

literacy, and this concept encompasses all terms related to public health. In our literature search on health literacy using the Web of Science (WoS), it was observed that 17,864 documents were generated in the last 10 years. Among these publications, the top 5 sub-concepts most frequently studied in relation to health literacy were identified as mental health literacy, health promotion, mental health, patient education, and Covid-19.

The findings obtained within the scope of this study serve as a guide for researchers considering work in this field. By correlating the obtained results with other studies in the literature, a more comprehensive approach to the topic of health literacy has been adopted. Additionally, the insights gained will contribute to enriching the literature on health literacy and encouraging future researchers to approach the subject from different perspectives.

Recommendations

- A comprehensive analysis can be conducted on prominent themes such as mental health literacy and health promotion; for instance, the relationship between mental health literacy and general health literacy could be explored in greater depth.
- Through the expansion of keyword analyses, the interplay between emerging topics such as pandemics, climate change, and health literacy can be explored in greater depth.
- Comparative analyses of health literacy levels across different countries and their implications for healthcare systems can be undertaken, with priority given to studies investigating the influence of cultural differences on health literacy.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

*The authors declare that the scientific ethical and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors.

*In addition, since the study was based on scanning open access documents in WoS, ethical approval was not required.

Acknowledgements or Notes

The authors declare that they did not receive any financial support for the formation of this study. In this publication, all authors have fulfilled their responsibilities.

References

- Auld, M. E., Allen, M. P., Hampton, C., Montes, J. H., Sherry, C., Mickalide, A. D., ... & Parson, K. (2020). *Health literacy and health education in schools: Collaboration for action.* NAM Perspectives, 2020.
- Bahramian, M., Najimi, A., & Omid, A. (2020). Association between health literacy with knowledge, attitude, and performance of health-care providers in applying health literacy education strategies for health education delivery. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 9(1),10.
- Batterham, R. W., Hawkins, M., Collins, P. A., Buchbinder, R., & Osborne, R. H. (2016). Health literacy: applying current concepts to improve health services and reduce health inequalities, *Public Health*, *132*, 3–12.
- Bayati, T., Dehghan, A., Bonyadi, F., & Bazrafkan, L. (2018). Investigating the effect of education on health literacy and its relation to health-promoting behaviors in health center. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 7, 127.
- Berkman, N. D., Davis, T. C., & McCormack, L. (2010). Health literacy: What is it?. Journal of Health Communication, 15(2), 9-19.
- Celidoni, M., Guzzon, A., & Rebba, V. (2023). Health literacy and education: evidence from the English longitudinal study of ageing. *Applied Economics*, 55(38), 4441-4454.
- Chahardah-Cherik, S., MS, Gheibizadeh, M., Jahani, S., & Cheraghian, B. (2018). The relationship between health literacy and health promoting behaviors in patients with type 2 diabetes. *International Journal of Community based Nursing and Midwifery*, 6(1), 65–75.

- Chang, L. C. (2011). Health literacy, self-reported status and health promoting behaviours for adolescents in Taiwan. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 20(1-2), 190-196.
- Chen, Y. C., Chang, L. C., Liu, C. Y., Ho, Y. F., Weng, S. C., & Tsai, T. I. (2018). The roles of social support and health literacy in self-management among patients with chronic kidney disease. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 50(3), 265-275.
- Coles, M. E., & Coleman, S. L. (2010). Barriers to treatment seeking for anxiety disorders: Initial data on the role of mental health literacy. *Depression and Anxiety*, 27, 63–71.
- DeMarco, J., & Nystrom, M. (2010). The importance of health literacy in patient education. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, 14(3), 294-301.
- De Silva, L. E. D., Ponting, C., Ramos, G., Guevara, M. V. C., & Chavira, D. A. (2020). Urban Latinx parents' attitudes towards mental health: Mental health literacy and service use. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 109, 104719.
- Do, B. N., Nguyen, P. A., Pham, K. M., Nguyen, H. C., Nguyen, M. H., Tran, C. Q., ... & Duong, T. V. (2020). Determinants of health literacy and its associations with health-related behaviors, depression among the older people with and without suspected COVID-19 symptoms: a multi-institutional study. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8, 581746.
- Eckman, M. H., Wise, R., Leonard, A. C., Dixon, E., Burrows, C., Khan, F., & Warm, E. (2012). Impact of health literacy on outcomes and effectiveness of an educational intervention in patients with chronic diseases. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 87(2), 143-151.
- Fleary, S. A., Joseph, P., & Pappagianopoulos, J. E. (2018). Adolescent health literacy and health behaviors: A systematic review. *Journal of Adolescence*, 62, 116-127.
- Fleary, S. A., Joseph, P. L., Goncalves, C., Somogie, J., & Angeles, J. (2022). The relationship between health literacy and mental health attitudes and beliefs. *Health Literacy Research and Practice*, 6(4), e270–e279.
- Gazmararian, J., Baker, D., Parker, R., & Blazer, D.G. (2000). A multivariate analysis of factors associated with depression: Evaluating the role of health literacy as a potential contributor. *Arch Intern Med.*, *160*(21), 3307-3314.
- Gorczynski, P., Currie, A., Gibson, K., Gouttebarge, V., Hainline, B., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., ... & Swartz, L. (2021). Developing mental health literacy and cultural competence in elite sport. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 33(4), 387-401.
- Hagell, A., Rigby, E., & Perrow, F. (2015). Promoting health literacy in secondary schools: A review. *British Journal of School Nursing*, 10(2), 82-87.
- Heijmans, M., Waverijn, G., ...& Rademakers, J. (2015). Functional, communicative and critical health literacy of chronic disease patients and their importance for self-management. *Patient Education Counsel*, 98, 41–48.
- Henderson, C. (2023). Challenges in improving mental health literacy at population level. *World Psychiatry:* Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA), 22(3), 392–393.
- Hersh, L., Salzman, B., Snyderman, D. (2015). Health literacy in primary care practice. American Family Physician, 92(2), 118-124.
- Hsu, Y. L., Su, D. H., & Kuo, S. C. (2020). Health literacy and depression in women with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clinics*, 75, e1436.
- Kim, S., Love, F., Quistberg, D. A., & Shea, J. A. (2004). Association of health literacy with self-management behavior in patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 27(12), 2980-2982.
- Kim, M. Y., & Oh, S. (2020). Nurses' perspectives on health education and health literacy of older patients. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(18), 6455.
- Kuczmarski, A. V., Cotugna, N., Mason, M. A., Evans, M. K., & Zonderman, A. B. (2015). Depression and cognitive impairment are associated with low education and literacy status and smoking but not caffeine consumption in urban African Americans and white adults. *Journal of Caffeine Research*, 5(1), 31-41.
- Lee, S. Y., Tsai, T. I., Tsai, Y. W., & Kuo, K. N. (2010). Health literacy, health status, and healthcare utilization of Taiwanese adults: Results from a national survey. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 614.
- Mackenbach, J. P., Stirbu, I., Roskam, A. J., Schaap, M. M., Menvielle, G., Leinsalu, M., & Kunst, A. E. (2008). Socioeconomic inequalities in health in 22 European countries. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 358, 2468 – 2481.
- Maneze, D., Everett, B., Astorga, C., Yogendran, D., & Salamonson, Y. (2016). The influence of health literacy and depression on diabetes self-management: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016(1), 3458969.
- Milner, A., Shields, M., & King, T. (2019). The influence of masculine norms and mental health on health literacy among men: Evidence from the ten to men study. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 13(5), 1557988319873532.

- Nair, E. L., & Cienkowski, K. M. (2010). The impact of health literacy on patient understanding of counseling and education materials. *International Journal of Audiology*, 49(2), 71-75.
- Nguyen, H. C., Nguyen, M. H., Do, B. N., Tran, C. Q., Nguyen, T. T., Pham, K. M., ... & Duong, T. V. (2020). People with suspected COVID-19 symptoms were more likely depressed and had lower health-related quality of life: the potential benefit of health literacy. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(4), 965.
- Ozturk, F. O., & Ayaz-Alkaya, S. (2020). Health literacy and health promotion behaviors of adolescents in Turkey. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 54, e31-e35.
- Park, A., Eckert, T. L., Zaso, M. J., Scott-Sheldon, L. A., Vanable, P. A., Carey, K. B., ... & Carey, M. P. (2017). Associations between health literacy and health behaviors among urban high school students. *Journal of School Health*, 87(12), 885-893.

Raynor, D. K. T. (2012). Health literacy. BMJ, 344(2), 1-2.

- Rhee, T. G., Lee, H. Y., Kim, N. K., Han, G., Lee, J., & Kim, K. (2017). Is health literacy associated with depressive symptoms among Korean adults? Implications for mental health nursing. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 53(4), 234-242.
- Sareen, J., Jagdeo, A., Cox, B. J., Clara, I., Ten Have, M., Belik, S. L., ... & Stein, M. B. (2007). Perceived barriers to mental health service utilization in the United States, Ontario, and the Netherlands. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(3), 357-364.
- Tang, N., Bai, H., Chen, X., Gong, J., Li, D., & Sun, Z. (2020). Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 18(5), 1094-1099.
- Van Der Heide, I., Wang, J., Droomers, M., Spreeuwenberg, P., Rademakers, J., & Uiters, E. (2013). The relationship between health, education, and health literacy: results from the Dutch adult literacy and life skills survey. *Journal of Health Communication*, 18(sup1), 172-184.
- Qiu, C., Zhang, X., Zang, X., & Zhao, Y. (2020). Acceptance of illness mediate the effects of health literacy on self-management behaviour. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 19(5), 411-420.
- Wang, C., Pan, R., Wan, X., Tan, Y., Xu, L., Ho, C. S., & Ho, R. C. (2020). Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(5), 1729.
- WHO. (1998). Health promotion glossary. Retrieved from https://www.who.Int/Healthpromotion.pdf

Authors Information			
Dilek Kolca	Selahattin Caner		
Dr.	Phd Student		
Uskudar University, Istanbul, Türkiye	Nevsehir Hacibektas University, Nevsehir, Türkiye		
Contact e-mail: dileklc_@hotmail.com	ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6416-3368		
ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8631-5147			



https://doi.org/10.55549/jeseh.769

An Investigation of Coding Education Practices in terms of Primary School Students' Algorithmic Thinking Skills and Students' Opinions

Anil Erkan, Sumeyra Akkaya

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	This study aims to examine the views of fourth-grade primary school students on
Published: 01 January 2025	coding education given through the Scratch program by determining the students' skills in using the program and algorithmic thinking skills. The study was conducted as a one-group study with an embedded mixed design. The study
Received: 15 September 2024	group consisted of 32 students attending the 4th grade in a primary school. The data were collected using the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale developed by the researcher, Semi-structured Interview Form, Student Diaries, Scratch
Accepted:	Programming Skills Checklists and Researcher Diary. According to the
30 December 2024	quantitative results of the study, a significant difference was found between the Algorithmic Thinking Skill Scale pre-test and post-test results of the students in
Keywords	the experimental group. According to the results obtained from the Scratch checklists among the qualitative results of the study, it was observed that the
Coding education,	students in the experimental group generally added the decor, characters and
Scratch program,	codes in the projects correctly. According to the student diaries among the
Algorithmic thinking	qualitative results of the study, it was determined that students generally found
skills	the coding course and the projects done in the course enjoyable. The data
	obtained from the researcher's diaries also supported the student diaries. Finally,
	was concluded that the students liked the Scratch program enjoyed making
	projects and did not get bored. In this context, it is recommended to provide
	coding education to primary school students and to teach the Scratch program to
	primary school students.

Introduction

Coding

In recent years, coding education has become increasingly popular, especially among young children. From kindergarten to high school, coding education or programming is implemented in both public and private schools. Teaching coding or programming to children has become more accessible with the widespread availability of coding tools that make programming more engaging during the teaching process (Erol, 2020). Coding involves the step-by-step creation of instructions that outline the processes required for a specific action to be performed using computers. In other words, it is the process of developing various solutions to existing problems by using a language that computers can understand (Yigit, 2016). It also entails the sequential execution of predefined commands and the clear articulation of tasks to be performed through computers in the form of instructions (EBA, 2024). Coding is the process of writing one or more commands on a computer system to perform a specific task. It involves converting an algorithm developed to achieve a goal into a programming language. Computer programming or coding can be explained as the development and implementation process that uses various command sets to accomplish predetermined tasks or operations on a computer, solve encountered problems, and establish the necessary interaction between humans and computers (Sayın & Seferoğlu, 2016). Research indicates that coding education enhances children's high-level thinking skills, such as approaching problems from different perspectives, thinking systematically, generating solutions, engaging in creative thinking, and establishing cause-effect relationships (Yukselturk & Altiok, 2016). Furthermore, coding education helps students develop essential skills, including analytical thinking, creativity, digital literacy, problem-solving, collaborative work and learning, process- and result-oriented thinking, spatial reasoning, and learning through hands-on experiences (Akpınar & Altun, 2014; Demirer & Sak, 2016). Children who acquire coding skills at an early age also gain experience in communication, critical thinking, and problemsolving, which are crucial for developing 21st-century skills. These skills are indispensable for the future success of our children in an increasingly digital world (Mclennan, 2017).

At the core of coding lies algorithms. In other words, knowing how to create algorithms is essential for coding. Through coding education, students are taught algorithms and are expected to use these algorithms to write codes. According to Calıskan (2020), students who receive coding education gain numerous learning opportunities, such as the ability to construct algorithms, code the created algorithms, program effectively, develop different perspectives, and use shortcuts in problem-solving.

Algorithm

An algorithm is the sequential representation of instructions required to solve a problem within a logical framework (Ari, 2016; Ercil- Cagiltay & Fal, 2016). It is a structure composed of steps that must be followed to achieve a specific goal or solve a problem (Aytekin et al., 2018; Gibson, 2012). Olsen (2000) defined an algorithm as a set of instructions designed to solve a problem.

Algorithms are not solely a phenomenon related to computers. Much like the universal language of music that resonates with the human soul, algorithms serve as a universal language for problem-solving. Although we may not always realize it, we employ algorithms in our daily lives. In other words, algorithms are akin to computational geometries that enable individuals to articulate their thoughts. They offer general solutions to problems and play a critical role in addressing everyday challenges and contributing to advancements in the technological era (Arı, 2016; Aytekin et al., 2018). Writing an algorithm is a meticulous process that demands careful attention, as every step needs to be planned in detail. An error in any step can directly impact the outcome. Therefore, certain rules must be followed when creating an algorithm. Kucukkoc (2020) outlined these rules as follows:

- All lines in the algorithm should be numbered starting from 1.
- The first line of every algorithm should begin with "1. Start."
- Every algorithm must conclude with the "Stop" command.
- Process flow directions within the algorithm should be provided using the "Git" instruction along with the line number.
- Functions or subroutines in algorithms should be named clearly with their identifying parameters.
- The steps in the algorithm should be clear, limited in number, precise, and unambiguous.
- The expressions in the algorithm should be as simple and comprehensible as possible.
- The instructions in the algorithm should not rely on any specific operating system, hardware, or programming language.

Example Algorithm

The algorithm for multiplying two numbers (e.g., $4 \times 3 = 12$) can be represented as shown in Figure 1. An algorithm is not just a tool for problem-solving; it encompasses the thinking processes through which individuals develop important skills to organize and analyze their thought patterns. In this context, algorithms are not only instructions that perform specific tasks but also tools that shape individuals' ways of thinking. The correct writing and application of an algorithm demonstrate the importance of algorithmic thinking skills. Algorithmic thinking is not just about understanding how algorithms work, but also the ability to use these processes effectively.



Figure 1. Multiplication of two numbers algorithm

Algorithmic Thinking Skills

According to Brown (2015), algorithmic thinking is the ability to understand, create, apply, and evaluate algorithms. Csizmadia et al. (2015) define algorithmic thinking as the ability to clearly define the steps to be taken when faced with a problem and the path to follow to reach a solution. Rather than finding a single solution to a problem, algorithmic thinking involves developing rules and instructions that can generate solutions not only for the current situation but also for similar problems, by creating various algorithms. The strength of algorithmic thinking lies in making these solutions practical. The ability to think in terms of rules and sequences to understand encountered situations or solve problems is also a key component of algorithmic thinking design. This is because, when teaching a programming language, too much emphasis is placed on the features of the language, and insufficient time is allocated to developing algorithmic thinking. Therefore, it would be more effective to create algorithms using code that is appropriate to the student's level, rather than focusing solely on a programming language when teaching algorithmic thinking (Futschek, 2006).

Scratch

Scratch is a programming tool that teaches programming to users between the ages of 8 and 16 while they work on projects such as stories, games, and animations (Maloney et al., 2010). The Scratch program, marketed with the slogan "Imagine, code, share," was developed by MIT's (Massachusetts Institute of Technology) Media Lab. The program is used in over 150 countries and is available in more than 40 languages. Scratch, which allows code blocks to be connected through logical steps, can be described as a program that enables real-world problem-solving (Kızılkaya & Sart, 2017). Scratch is a coding program that allows individuals or groups to design activities with code blocks in an environment that incorporates games, and then share these designed activities with other users (Scratch About, 2023). Scratch, a programming language, is the first programming tool many people learn. It is specifically designed for beginners. Scratch is an ideal program for creating games and animations, and for teaching coding while creating them. It offers both ease of use and speed. Dragging and combining pre-made code blocks in the program facilitates project creation (Dickins et al., 2016). It is easier to produce projects by combining code blocks in Scratch than with other text-based programming projects (Genc & Karakus, 2011). It has been noted that while programming projects using Scratch are both created and shared, 21st-century skills such as systematic thinking, collaborative thinking, and creative thinking are developed (Resnick et al., 2009). Additionally, since the Scratch program is game-based, lessons can become more enjoyable, motivation can increase, and students' creative thinking and problem-solving skills can be enhanced (Gezgin et al., 2017).

Because Scratch has a visual and flexible structure, it removes the barriers to programming and enables young people to create games and develop animations. Scratch's stage is similar to a real-world theater stage. It allows especially talented students to unleash and reflect on their imaginations. The software also teaches students mathematical elements, such as the coordinate system (Lee, 2011). Scratch is a tool that students can use to learn and enjoy programming, thanks to its interactive structure and fun characters. Scratch, a programming language, is a platform that can be used by both children and adults to learn coding. No additional software is needed to use Scratch, as it also works through web browsers (Demirkol, 2017). Scratch is a wonderful programming tool that allows students to design individual animations, and games, or create interactive stories using rich media tools like sound, music, and images, all within a pleasant environment, and share these projects (Cubukluoz, 2019; Yukselturk & Ucgul, 2018). Scratch makes programming fun and helps students easily learn basic algorithm concepts and programming skills (Yukselturk & Ucgul, 2018).

Scratch helps students develop creative thinking, logical reasoning, problem-solving, and collaboration skills, and contributes to their learning of computer and mathematical concepts (Su, 2019). By using Scratch, students can improve their problem-solving skills, propose different solutions to problems, and design creative activities. They can also gain experience by working on projects, participating in collaborative learning activities, and redesigning their projects (Kordaki, 2012; Resnick et al., 2009). This study aims to fill a significant gap in coding education for elementary school students. In today's world, the widespread use of technology and the necessity of acquiring digital skills from an early age have increased the importance of coding education. As a visual programming language, Scratch enables children to develop their algorithmic thinking skills, enhance their problem-solving abilities, and foster creative thinking. Therefore, investigating the feasibility of implementing coding education at earlier ages using the Scratch program will contribute to helping students adapt to technology and meet the demands of the digital age. The contributions of this study to the literature can be summarized as follows:

- *Early coding education*: By exploring the feasibility of implementing coding education, typically offered at the middle school level, for elementary school students, the study will provide scientific data to address this gap.
- *Algorithmic thinking skills*: The study will reveal the impact of Scratch on students' algorithmic thinking skills, offering evidence that these skills can be developed at an early age.
- *Educational practices*: By analyzing students' perceptions and experiences during coding lessons using Scratch, the study will guide educators on how to use such programs more effectively.
- *Teacher perspectives*: The study will examine teachers' experiences and opinions on Scratch-based coding education, offering suggestions for integrating such practices into the education system.
- *Designing their own games*: By investigating students' processes of designing their own games after Scratch training, the study will highlight gains such as creative productivity and self-confidence.

This study not only demonstrates the benefits of early coding education but also serves as an essential resource for expanding coding education by contributing to education policies and curriculum development processes. The study aims to examine students' skills in using the Scratch program, their algorithmic thinking skills, and their perspectives on coding education provided through Scratch. It was conducted to determine whether coding education, typically offered at the middle school level, can be implemented at an earlier age. By teaching the Scratch program to elementary school students, the aim is to develop their coding skills, enhance their thinking abilities, teach the fundamental logic of coding, and enable them to design their games by the end of the training.

- 1. Does the Scratch program affect students' algorithmic thinking skills?
- 2. What are the students' abilities to use the Scratch program?
- 3. What are the students' perceptions and experiences regarding the lessons conducted using the Scratch program?
- 4. What are the teacher's perceptions and experiences regarding the lessons conducted using the Scratch program?
- 5. What are the students' opinions about coding education with Scratch?

Method

Research Design

To make the research more comprehensive, a mixed methods approach, which involves combining qualitative and quantitative data, was used. According to Johnson, Onwuegbuzie, and Turner (2007), mixed methods research is when a researcher conducts comprehensive research by integrating both qualitative and quantitative research approaches, collecting data, analyzing it, and drawing inferences. In this mixed-method study, in which we collected and analyzed both qualitative and quantitative data together, the embedded design, one of the mixed-methods designs, was used. Embedded design is a mixed methods approach in which the researcher combines traditional quantitative or qualitative data and analyzes both types of data. In an embedded design, the researcher may add a qualitative phase to a quantitative study using an experimental design, or a quantitative phase to a qualitative study using an experimental design was used in the quantitative dimension of the research. Among the experimental design types, a single-group pretest-posttest design was used, while a phenomenological research design was used in the qualitative dimension. The single-group pretest-posttest design is an experimental design conducted on an experimental group, which examines the effect of the independent variable through pretest and posttest measurements.

Since there is no control group in this design, it is considered a weak experimental design (Creswell & Plano-Clark, 2018). A phenomenological research design was also used in the qualitative dimension of the study. In phenomenological studies, the experiences of individuals related to the events or situations they have encountered are typically examined. The researcher conducts interviews with individuals to uncover their experiences with these events, and by analyzing the data obtained from these interviews, the researcher defines the phenomena.

Study Group

The study group consists of 32 students from the 4th grade at a school in the central district of Elazığ province during the 2022-2023 academic year. The study was conducted with a single group. The study group was

selected using convenience sampling, a method within purposive sampling. Convenience sampling is defined as selecting the sample from easily accessible and applicable units, providing speed and practicality to the study (Buyukozturk et al., 2020).

Data Collection Tools

In the study, the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale developed by the researcher, along with the Scratch Programming Skills Checklists, Student Diaries, Researcher Diary, and Semi-Structured Interview Form, all prepared by the researcher, were used. The reliability coefficient ($\alpha = .89$) of the 'Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale' developed by the researcher. Considering the reliability values table explained by Özdamar (2017), this coefficient is considered 'excellent in terms of reliability.' The Scratch programming checklist prepared by the researcher was created for each project taught and used individually for each student. Each step of the checklist consists of the codes found in the Scratch project. All the codes are listed in detail in the checklist. The checklist includes a column where the researcher needs to mark whether each student has executed the codes correctly or incorrectly. This allows the researcher to indicate which student made which code correct or incorrect in the relevant section. In the student diaries prepared by the researcher, students wrote their feelings, thoughts, and experiences related to the lesson of the day at the end of each class and submitted them to the researcher. In the researcher's diary, the researcher observed the process and recorded these observations to create the researcher's diary. During the process, students' attitudes and behaviors were examined in detail, and notes were taken. These notes were compiled, and the final version of the researcher's diary was created.

Implementation Process

The implementation phase of the study lasted 10 weeks (20 class hours). In the first 2 weeks (4 class hours), the Scratch program was introduced to the students. The code blocks in the program were explained in detail, separately. Game examples were shown, and students were allowed to play these games. In the remaining 8 weeks (16 class hours), games were designed with the students. Activities were planned as one game per week. In this way, students were taught 8 game design methods and were asked to design these games individually. The implementation process was carried out by the researcher, who guided the students at every stage of the process and explained the points they found difficult or could not understand.

The researcher created a teacher account on the https://scratch.mit.edu website. Then, she created a class through this account and included the students in the class. The researcher created a studio for the game designed each week and asked the students to upload their projects to this studio. Finally, the researcher examined the uploaded projects one by one and ensured that any deficiencies were addressed by notifying the students via the system. The implementation stages, the designed games, and the implementation period in the experimental group during the implementation process are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Experimental group implementation process				
Week	Implementation Phase	Implementation Duration		
Week 1	Algorithm and Programming	80 min		
Week 2	Introduction of Scratch Program	80 min		
Week 3	Dino-Dog Project	80 min		
Week 4	Ball Bouncing Project	80 min		
Week 5	Star Catching Project	80 min		
Week 6	Labyrinth Project	80 min		
Week 7	Flying Cat Project	80 min		
Week 8	Color Capture Project	80 min		
Week 9	Wheel of Fortune Project	80 min		
Week 10	Jumping the Barrier Project	80 min		

Data Analysis

In this mixed-method study, quantitative and qualitative data were analyzed separately. Techniques such as standard deviation (SD), frequency, and percentage distributions were used to analyze the quantitative data. Before analyzing the data of the experimental group, it was checked whether the data followed a normal distribution. If the statistically insignificant value (p-value) is above .05, it indicates that the data follow a

normal distribution (Pallant, 2017). The normality data for the pretest and post-test scores of the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale of the experimental group are provided in the tables below. When the normality value of the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale pretest scores of the experimental group was examined, the p-value of significance was .361 (Table 2). This value supports the assumption of normality. According to the normality data, the pretest results of the experimental group show a normal distribution.

Table 2. Analysis results regarding the normality distribution of the pretest scores of the
experimental group

experimental group				
	Shapiro-Wilk			
Experimental Group Pre-Test	Statistics	Sd	р	
Total	.964	32	.361	

Table 3. Analysis results regarding the normality distribution of the posttest scores of the experimental group

	Shapiro-Wilk		
Experimental Group Posttest	Statistics	Sd	р
Total	.721	32	.000

When the normality value of the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale posttest scores of the experimental group was examined, the p-value of significance was .000 (Table 3). This value violates the assumption of normality. According to the normality data, the post-test results of the experimental group do not show a normal distribution. Content analysis was used to analyze the qualitative data. Student diaries and semi-structured interview forms were coded based on the feedback received, and main themes were developed. The process was followed using checklists prepared by the researcher and supported by the researcher's diaries. The coding process used to analyze qualitative data was carried out by the researchers who prepared the transcripts of the interviews. Then, the main themes and categories relevant to the research questions were identified, and important statements in the interview data were labeled and coded according to these themes. During the coding process, main themes were divided into subcategories when necessary. The coded data was analyzed, similar statements were grouped, and relationships were established. This process ensured that the interview data were examined in a more systematic and meaningful way.

Findings

Findings Related to Quantitative Data

Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test of Algorithmic Thinking Skill Scale Pre-Test and Post-Test Scores of the Experimental Group

It was examined whether the scores obtained from the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale, administered to the experimental group students before and after the application, showed a statistically significant difference. The data from the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test conducted for this purpose are presented in Table 4.

Experimental Group						
Pre-Test - Post Test	Ν	Rank Mean	Row Totals	Z	р	Effect Size
Negative Sequence	7	10.14	71.00			
Positive Sequence	23	17.13	394.00	-3.331	.001	.588
Equal	2					

Table 4. Wilcoxon signed ranks test for experimental group pre-test - post-test scores

When Table 4 was examined, it was observed that the difference between the post-test and pre-test scores of 7 students in the experimental group was negative, the difference between the post-test and pre-test scores of 23 students was positive, and the difference between the post-test and pre-test scores of 2 students was zero. According to the data obtained, when the pre-test and post-test results of the Algorithmic Thinking Skills Scale for the experimental group students were analyzed, the z-value was found to be -3.332 and the p-value was .001 (p-value .000 < .05). Based on this, it was concluded that there was a significant difference between the pretest and posttest scores of the experimental group students' algorithmic thinking skills, favoring the posttest score. The value (r = .588) obtained from the pretest and posttest scores of the experimental group students and posttest scores of the experimental group students are posttest scores of the experimental group students are posttest scores of the experimental group students are and posttest scores of the experimental group students are posttest scores of the experimental group students are posttest scores of the experimental group students are posttest scores of the experimental group students indicates a large effect size.

Findings Related to Qualitative Data

Findings Related to Algorithm and Programming

The data of the student diaries applied to the students after the Algorithm and Programming course are given in Table 5. Since the students pointed to more than one category while expressing their opinions in their diaries, the number of opinions in the categories was higher than the number of students in the experimental group. When Table 5 was examined, it was observed that 48 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the Algorithm and Programming course were collected in two categories: "Positive" (48 opinions) and "Negative" (8 opinions). Under the positive category, codes were grouped into 5 subheadings, and under the negative category, codes were grouped into 2 subheadings.

Table 5. S	tudent diaries on the introduction of algorithms and programm	ing
Category / Code		f
Positive		48
	It was a lot of fun	15
	I'm so excited	12
	It was very nice to command	10
	It was fun to execute commands	6
	It was very striking.	5
Negative		8
	At first, I didn't know what to do	5
	I was afraid of not being able to say the right commands	3

When the opinions in the positive category were analyzed in detail in the table, it was found that 15 students expressed that the lesson was very fun, 12 students were very excited, 10 students enjoyed giving commands, 6 students found it enjoyable to apply the commands, and 5 students stated that the lesson was very remarkable. When the opinions in the negative category were analyzed in detail, 5 students expressed that they did not know what to do at first, and 3 students were afraid of not being able to give the correct commands.

S2: "The lesson was very fun. Especially giving commands was very enjoyable."

S5: "I was very excited when our teacher came to the lesson with a toothbrush and toothpaste. When we started the lesson, I did not know what to do at first. I thought what if I gave the commands wrong. But it was not as I feared, I had a lot of fun."

S10: "The lesson was very fun. I enjoyed giving commands and practicing the given commands."

The researcher's diary of the Algorithm and Programming course contains the following statements:

"When I entered the classroom with a toothbrush and toothpaste, the students paid attention. It was clear from their eyes that they were wondering what I was going to do with what I had. When I started to explain the lesson, they were listening to me with curious eyes. They were very surprised when they learned what an algorithm was. They loved realizing that the actions they do in daily life are algorithms. They were very impatient to stand up at the blackboard and give commands and follow them. They were very happy at the end of the lesson."

Findings Related to the Introduction of Scratch Program

The data of the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Introduction of Scratch Program course are given in Table 6. When Table 6 was examined, it was observed that 53 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the Scratch Program were gathered under three categories: "As an Entertainment Tool" (f=53), "From an Educational Perspective" (f=17), and "From a Time Perspective" (f=3). Under the category "As an Entertainment Tool," the codes were grouped into 5 subheadings; under the category "In Terms of Time," the codes were grouped into 2 subheadings. When the opinions in the "As an Entertainment Tool" category were examined in detail, 21 students expressed that it was very entertaining, 16 students stated that the lesson was very special. When the opinions in the "From an Educational Perspective" category were examined in detail, 8 students expressed that they learned how to make games, 7 students thought that the program was educational, and 2 students considered it a good program to improve themselves. When the

opinions in the "In Terms of Time" category were examined in detail, 2 students expressed that it was a bit challenging at first, and 1 student mentioned that they could not fully understand some of the codes.

S7: "Scratch program is very nice. It is very fun to make games. It is very enjoyable to write the codes."

S15: "I was very excited when I met the Scratch program. The program is very fun. I am very excited to make games with this program. I am glad I met this program."

S20: "It is a very nice program, but I still don't understand some codes. I don't know how to do them, but it is a very good program to improve ourselves."

	utaries on the introduction of the Scratch program	
Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		53
	It's a lot of fun	21
	It was very beautiful	16
	I like it a lot	8
	I'm so excited	7
	It was very special	1
Educational aspects		17
	Learning to make games	8
	Educational	7
	Good for self-improvement	2
In terms of time	-	3
	A Little Tricky	2
	I don't fully understand some codes	1

Table 6. Student diaries on the introduction of the Scratch program

The following statements are also included in the researcher's diary of the Introducing Scratch Program course:

"The students seem to enjoy going to the computer lab. I observed that they were very excited when we introduced the Scratch Program today. The main page of the program and the code sections attracted the attention of the children. They constantly asked questions about the program. There are so many things they are curious about. They want to learn everything in one day. The lessons look like they will be very enjoyable."

Table 7. Checklist for the	Dino-Puppy Project	t
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Decorations added 3 scenes	31	1
Dog 1 added his puppet	31	1
Added Dinosaur 4 puppet	28	4
Bat added his puppet	32	-
For the bat puppet	32	-
For the Dinosaur 4 puppet	32	-
For Dog 1 puppet	32	-

Findings of the Dino-Dog Project

Data on the checklist applied for the Dino-Dog Project are given in Table 7. When the checklist of the Dino-Dog Project in Table 7 was examined, it was observed that 31 students in the experimental group added decorations to 3 scenes, 1 student affected a different scene, 31 students added the Dog 1 puppet, 1 student added a different puppet, 28 students added the Dinosaur 4 puppet, 4 students added a different puppet, and all students added the Bat puppet. When the code blocks were analyzed, it was found that all students wrote the correct codes for the Bat, Dinosaur 4, and Dog 1 puppets. Analyzing the data in the Movements Checklist revealed that all students added the codes correctly, and only a few students used different props and puppets in the scenes.

Table 8. Student diari	es related to the Dino-Dog Project	
Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		54
	It was beautiful	28
	It was a lot of fun	20
	New projects excite me	3
	I lost track of time	2
	I want to code every day	1
	It's fun to watch my project	1
	The characters were chirpy	1
Educational aspects		6
	Educational	3
	I learned codes with the project	1
	Looks like an algorithm	1
	I made small mistakes at the beginning	1
In terms of time		3
	It didn't take much effort	2
	It took some time to write the code	1

The data of the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Dino-Dog Project lesson are given in Table 8. When Table 8 is examined, it is observed that 54 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the Dino-Foam project were categorized under three headings: "As a Means of Entertainment" (f=54), "From an Educational Perspective" (f=6), and "From a Time Perspective" (f=3). Under the category "As a Means of Entertainment," the codes were grouped into 7 subheadings; under the category "From an Educational Perspective," the codes were grouped into 4 subheadings; and under the category "In Terms of Time," the codes were grouped into 2 subheadings. When the opinions under the "As a Means of Entertainment" category were examined in detail, 28 students expressed that it was very beautiful, 20 students said it was very entertaining, 3 students were excited to do new projects, 2 students did not understand how time passed, 1 student wanted to code every day, 1 student enjoyed watching the project, and 1 student thought the characters were chirpy. When the opinions in the "Educational Perspective" category were analyzed in detail, 3 students stated that it was educational, 1 student learned the codes with the help of the project, 1 student thought the project was similar to an algorithm, and 1 student mentioned that they could make small mistakes at first but later write correct codes. When the opinions in the "In Terms of Time" category were analyzed in detail, 2 students said it did not take much effort, and 1 student said it took some time to write the codes.

S20: "It was very nice and fun. Writing code is very good, I liked it very much. It is very fun to make the puppets talk."

S25: "The Dino-Dog project was very fun. I liked it a lot. I did it with a lot of love and fun. I think it was a fun and beautiful project."

S18: "Dino-Dog was very fun and writing code was also very fun. It was very easy to write code. It was very enjoyable to watch the project I made, even if it was short. I did it in a short time because it was easy."

In the researcher's diary of the Dino-Dog Project lesson, the following statements were made:

"The students were very excited again on the way to the laboratory. When I told them about the project, they started to listen to me with curiosity and excitement. While I was explaining the sample application, they were worried that they could do the same process, but when they started doing the project, they realized that there was nothing to worry about. They had a lot of fun

writing the codes during the lesson. They laughed a lot when they played their last project. The happiness of having accomplished a project was visible in their eyes."

Findings of the Ball Bouncing Project

The data belonging to the checklist applied for the Ball Bouncing Project are given in Table 9.

Table 9. Checklist for the Ball B	ouncing Project	
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Decorations added 2 scenes	31	1
Baseball added his dummy	23	9
Puppet 1 drew his puppet himself	32	-
Puppet 2 drew his puppet himself	32	-
For the Baseball puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For puppet 2 puppet	32	-
added the code block		

When the checklist of the Ball Bouncing Project in Table 9 was examined, it was observed that 31 students in the experimental group added the scene of the props 2, 1 student affected a different scene, 23 students added the Baseball puppet, 9 students added a different puppet, and all students drew Puppet 1 and Puppet 2 correctly. When the code blocks were analyzed, it was found that all students wrote the correct codes for the Baseball and Puppet 2 puppets. Analyzing the data in the Movements Checklist revealed that all students added the codes correctly; however, a few students used a different stage, and especially 9 students used other ball puppets instead of the baseball puppet. Data from the Student Diaries, which were applied to the students after the Ball Bouncing Project lesson, are provided in Table 10.

Table	10.Student diaries related to the Ball Bouncing Projec	t
Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainr	nent	44
	It's a lot of fun	22
	It was very beautiful	9
	I like the game very much	6
	I saw that I could accomplish something	2
	I enjoy writing code very much	2
	It was remarkable	1
	The game was adventurous	1
	I played a lot when the game ended	1
In terms of difficulty		19
-	I had some difficulty writing code	10
	Very easy	7
	It was very easy when I got used to writing code	1
	It was not a hassle	1

When Table 10 was examined, it was observed that 44 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the ball-bouncing project were categorized under two headings: "As a Means of Entertainment," while 19 were categorized under "In Terms of Difficulty." Under the category "As a Means of Entertainment," the codes were grouped into 8 subheadings, and under the category "In Terms of Difficulty," the codes were grouped into 4 subheadings. When the opinions in the "As a Means of Entertainment" category were examined in detail, 22 students expressed that it was very entertaining, 9 students said it was very beautiful, 6

students liked the game very much, 2 students felt they could achieve something, 2 students enjoyed writing code very much, 1 student found it remarkable, 1 student described it as adventurous, and 1 student mentioned they played a lot when they finished the game. When the opinions in the "In Terms of Difficulty" category were analyzed in detail, 10 students mentioned having some difficulty in writing code, 7 students said it was very easy, 1 student said it became easy once they got used to writing code, and 1 student said it was not challenging.

S11: "Ball bouncing was very nice. I had some difficulties while making it at home, but I played with it a lot after the game was finished. I had a lot of fun. I am very happy that I learned Scratch." S31: "I had a lot of fun making the game but it was a bit challenging. Although the Ball Bouncing game was challenging, I think it was still a fun game." S20: "Ball bouncing was very fun. It was fun, beautiful and easy. I liked it very much. The pleasure of this game is different."

The researcher's diary for the Ball Bouncing Project lesson includes the following statements:

"The students were very excited again on the way to the laboratory. They were very happy when I told them about the project. When I played the project I had prepared before, they watched me with amazement. Then a few students also played. They seemed very enjoyable. When I started writing the codes, they had difficulty at first. They thought they couldn't do it, but when I helped them, they did it easily. We finished the project and they played the game they made during the rest of the lesson. There was laughter, anger, and shouting in the class. They said they enjoyed it very much. They even insisted that we play one more lesson."

Findings of the Star Catching Project

Data on the checklist applied for the Star Capture Project are given in Table 11. When the checklist of the Star Catching Project in Table 24 was examined, it was observed that all of the students in the experimental group affected the Space scene, the Robot puppet, the Starfish puppet, the duration variable, and the score variable. When the code blocks were analyzed, it was found that all students wrote the correct codes for the Robot and Starfish puppets. Analyzing the data in the Movements Checklist revealed that all students added the puppets and codes correctly. This indicates that the students had a clearer understanding of the Scratch program.

Table 11. Checklist for the Annual	Catching Project	
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Added the Space scene	32	-
He added the robot puppet	32	-
Starfish added his puppet	32	-
Added score variable	32	-
Added duration variable	32	-
For the robot puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For the Starfish puppet	32	-
addad the code block		
added the code block		

Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		50
	It's fun	16
	I had no difficulty in making it	11
	It was beautiful	11
	I like it a lot	9
	I always want to do it	1
	It wasn't very exciting	1
	It was a bit boring	1
In terms of difficulty	-	12
-	I had some difficulty	8
	The codes were long	3
	At first, it seemed strange, but then I understood	1

Table 12. Student diaries related to the Star Catching Project

Data from the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Star Catching Project lesson are given in Table 12. When Table 12 was examined, it was found that the feelings, thoughts, and experiences of 50 experimental group students regarding the Star Catching project were categorized under two headings: "As a Means of Entertainment" (f=50) and "In Terms of Difficulty" (f=12). Under the "As a Means of Entertainment" category, the codes were grouped into 7 subheadings, while under the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, the codes were grouped into 3 subheadings. Detailed analysis of the opinions in the "As a Means of Entertainment" category revealed that 16 students found the project fun, 11 had no difficulty doing it, 11 thought it was very beautiful, 9 liked it very much, 1 always wanted to do coding, 1 thought the game was not very exciting, and 1 thought it was a little boring. Detailed analysis of the opinions in the "In Terms of Difficulty" category showed that 8 students thought it was a little difficult, 3 thought the codes were long, and 1 found the game strange at first but understood it later.

S14: "Although I had a little difficulty, it was very good. I like to play the game after making it. I have a lot of fun while playing, I enjoy doing it very much. I am glad that we make games. I want to do it all the time."

S9: "It is a little difficult to make a game, but it is very fun and very good to play. It is like downloading a game and playing it."

S10: "The project we did today was very good. I had some difficulties while doing it, but the end was very good. We played a perfect game. I thank my teacher very much."

The researcher's diary of the Star Capture Project lesson also contains the following statements:

"The students were very excited again on the way to the laboratory. They were very happy when I told them about the project. They were very happy when I played the project I prepared for them. I explained how to write the codes. This time they found the codes a bit long and started asking if they could do it. They had a hard time at first, but when they understood the logic, they did it easily. After finishing the project, they started to play the game they made as in other lessons. I think this is the most enjoyable part of the lesson. Both the happiness of accomplishing something and the joy of playing the game they made..."

Findings of the Labyrinth Project

Data on the checklist applied for the Labyrinth Project are given in Table 13. When the checklist of the Labyrinth Project in Table 13 was examined, it was found that all of the students in the experimental group affected the labyrinth image from the computer, the Giga puppet, the Penguin 2 puppet, and the duration variable. Analysis of the code blocks revealed that all of the students wrote the correct codes for the Giga puppet. Further analysis of the checklist data showed that all of the students added the puppets and codes correctly. This indicates that the students have gained a clearer understanding of the Scratch program.

Data from the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Labyrinth Project lesson are given in Table 14. When Table 14 was examined, it was found that 44 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the Labyrinth project were categorized under "As a Means of Entertainment," while 19 students' opinions were categorized under "In Terms of Difficulty." Under the "As a Means of Entertainment"

category, the codes were grouped into 7 subheadings, and under the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, they were grouped into 4 subheadings.

Table 13. Checklist for the Labyr	inth Project	
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
added the image from the computer	32	-
Giga added his dummy	32	-
Penguin 2 has added his puppet	32	-
Added duration variable	32	-
For the Giga puppet	32	-
added the code block.		

Table 14. Student diaries related to the Labyrinth	Project
Category / Code	f
As a means of entertainment	44
It was very beautiful	21
It was a lot of fun	13
It's fun to play the games I make	2
One of my favorite projects	2
Remarkable	2
I wish Scratch would never end	2
Beyond perfect	2
In terms of difficulty	19
It was a little hard to play	9
I had some difficulty	8
Pro player level	1
I had no difficulty in making it, it was easy	1

Upon analyzing the opinions in the "As a Means of Entertainment" category in detail, 21 students expressed that it was very beautiful, 13 found it very entertaining, 2 enjoyed playing the games they created, 2 considered it one of their favorite projects, 2 found it remarkable, 1 did not want the Scratch lesson to end, and 1 considered it beyond perfect. When the opinions in the "In Terms of Difficulty" category were examined in detail, 9 students reported that playing the game was a bit difficult, 8 experienced some difficulty in writing the codes, 1 stated that the game was at a pro-player level, and 1 mentioned that they did not have difficulty in making the game and found it easy.

S3: "The game was fun. It was very nice. I had a lot of fun. I think it was a good project. I didn't have any difficulty doing it, I think it was easy."

S30: "It was very nice to make the maze game. Giga and Penguin were very cute. I had a little difficulty catching Giga in the maze, but the game was very nice. I am glad my teacher made us do it."

S20: "The maze project is one of my favorite projects. It is a nice project. But I had a little bit of difficulty when I played it because it went back to the beginning when it said black lines. Still, it's a nice project, it's fun."

In the researcher's diary of the Labyrinth Project lesson, the following statements were made:

"They are very happy when we go to the laboratory every week. They were very surprised when I told them about the project. They started to say how we were going to do it. When they played the project for the first time, they constantly burned out and got very angry. They listened attentively to the project and immediately grasped how to do it. Now it doesn't take time to make a game like before. The children have now grasped the logic. They also got to know the program well. We finished the project together and it was time to play with the games we made. Since this game requires high precision, they constantly hit the edges of the maze and went back to the beginning. Although this made them a little angry, they told us how much they liked the game when they returned to the classroom."

Findings of the Flying Cat Project

Table 15. Checklist for the Flyin	ng Cat Project	
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Added the Blue Sky scene	32	-
Cat Flying added his puppet	32	-
Added Buildings dummy	32	-
Dragon added his puppet	32	-
Donut added his puppet	32	-
Added the Donut variable	32	-
Added the variable Can	32	-
For the Cat Flying puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For Buildings puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For the Dragon puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For the donut puppet	32	-
added the code block		

The data belonging to the checklist applied for the Flying Cat Project are given in Table 15. When examining the checklist of the Flying Cat Project in Table 15, it was observed that all of the students in the experimental

group added the Blue Sky scene, Cat Flying puppet, Buildings puppet, Giga puppet, Dragon puppet, Donut puppet, Donut variable, and Can variable. Upon analyzing the code blocks, it was found that all of the students correctly wrote the codes for the Cat Flying, Buildings, Dragon, and Donut puppets. Furthermore, when the data in the checklist were examined, it was determined that all students added the puppets and codes correctly. This indicates that there are no longer any aspects of the Scratch program that students are unable to understand and that the program has been sufficiently comprehended. Data from the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Flying Cat Project lesson are given in Table 16.

Table 16.	Student	diaries	related	to the	Flving	Cat]	Proiect
					1 0		

Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		43
	It's so beautiful	19
	It's a lot of fun	14
	I played a lot	4
	Scratch lessons don't end	2
	I like it a lot	1
	One of my favorite projects	1
	It was like real games	1
	The movement of the buildings was spectacular	1
In terms of difficulty		13
	I had no difficulty in making it	8
	I had some difficulty	4
	The codes are a bit long	1

When Table 16 was examined, it was observed that 43 of the experimental group students' feelings, thoughts, and experiences about the Flying Cat project were categorized under "As a Means of Entertainment," while 13 were categorized under "In Terms of Difficulty." Under the category "As a Means of Entertainment," the codes were grouped into 8 subheadings, and under the category "In Terms of Difficulty," the codes were grouped into 3 subheadings. Upon a detailed analysis of the opinions in the "As a Means of Entertainment" category, 19 students expressed that it is very beautiful, 14 found it very entertaining, 4 played a lot with the game they created, 2 did not want the Scratch lessons to end, 1 liked the project very much, 1 considered it one of their favorite projects, 1 felt it was like real games, and 1 found the movement of the buildings eye-catching. When the opinions in the "In Terms of Difficulty" category were examined, 8 students reported having no difficulty in making the project, 4 experienced some difficulty, and 1 felt that the codes were a bit long.

S32: "The flying cat game was like real games. It was one of the most beautiful things. I played a lot. The dragon moves and I always miss it. It was as fun to make as it was to play."

S2: "It is a very nice project. The codes are a bit long but it is very fun. I made the game and played it for an hour."

S9: "The flying cat was very beautiful. The movement of the buildings in the game was eye-catching. The cat seemed to fly. It was fun to catch the spawns and escape from the dragon. I am glad my teacher made us do it."

The researcher's diary of the Flying Cat Project lesson includes the following statements:

"They were very happy when we went to the laboratory this week. They were very curious about the project. The name of the airplane cat excited them. They had a lot of fun playing the project I did. They said it was very easy to play this project. I don't know, maybe they got used to Scratch... The codes were a bit long, but they didn't have any difficulty in writing them. Now they are doing projects in a shorter time. This makes me so happy. I am proud to see my students using the Scratch program. After finishing the project today, we had more time to play the game. The children played the game until the end of the lesson. They told each other the scores they got from the game. The lesson was very enjoyable. Children leave the Scratch lessons very happy and having fun."

Findings of the Color Capture Project

Data on the checklist applied for the Color Capture Project are given in Table 17.

Table 17. Checklist for the Colo	r Capture Project	
Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Added Blue Sky 2 scene	32	-
Ball added his puppet	32	-
Color puppet uploaded from computer	32	-
Added score variable	32	-
For Ball puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For color puppet	32	-
added the code block		

When the checklist of the Color Capture Project in Table 17 was examined, it was found that all of the students in the experimental group added the Blue Sky 2 scene, and the Ball puppet, uploaded the Color puppet from the computer and added the Score variable. Upon analyzing the code blocks, it was observed that all of the students correctly wrote the codes for the Ball and Color puppets. A further examination of the data in the checklist revealed that all of the students correctly added the puppets and codes. This indicates that the Scratch program is now more clearly understood by the students. The data of the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Color Capture Project lesson are given in Table 18.

|--|

Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		43
	Beautiful	15
	It's a lot of fun	14
	I like it a lot	5
	I didn't like it very much	2
	It was boring	2
	Remarkable	1
	Like a brain teaser	1
	These codes are important for my future games	1
	My favorite project	1
	Like a real game	1
In terms of difficulty		13
	The codes were easy to write	6
	It was a bit difficult	4
	I had a hard time downloading the color puppet	3

When Table 18 was examined, it was found that the feelings, thoughts, and experiences of 43 experimental group students regarding the Color Capture project were gathered under two categories: "As a Means of Entertainment" and "In Terms of Difficulty," with 13 opinions falling under the latter. Under the category "As a Fun Tool," the codes were grouped under 10 subheadings, while under the category "In Terms of Difficulty," the codes were grouped under 3 subheadings. Upon examining the opinions in the "As a Means of Entertainment" category in detail, 15 students found it beautiful, 14 thought it was very entertaining, 5 liked the project very much, 2 did not like it very much, 1 found it boring, 1 found it remarkable, 1 likened it to an intelligence game, 1 believed the codes were important for future games, 1 considered it their favorite project, and 1 thought it was

like a real game. In the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, 6 students thought it was easy to write the codes, 4 found it a little difficult, and 3 had difficulty in downloading the color puppet.

S25: "It took a very short time, but I had a hard time loading it. I liked it very much. I like projects like this very much. I always want to do it."

S2: "I had a hard time downloading the color puppet and I didn't like the game very much, but the game was still good. I think these codes are important for the games I will make in the future." S9: "I think it was very fun. I enjoyed doing it and I liked it very much. I would like to make games similar to the color capture game. It was very easy and I have fun doing it."

The following statements are also included in the researcher's diary of the Color Capture Project lesson:

"When they first heard about the color capture project, they didn't make much sense. When they started playing the game I made, they generally enjoyed it. However, I also had bored students. They said that the ball landed too fast and that they could not change colors immediately and that they were bored because of this. I noticed that they had fun when they started to write the codes themselves. There was a problem in the beginning about downloading the color puppet from the computer, but then they easily solved it. When they finished the project and started to play, they were very happy again. There was the happiness of doing another project. When they left the laboratory, they said they had a lot of fun again."

Codes	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Decorations added 1 scene	32	-
Added the Wheel of Fortune puppet	32	-
Puppet 1 drew his puppet himself	32	-
Giga added his dummy	32	-
Added score variable	32	-
For the passionflower puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For the Giga puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For Puppet 1 puppet	32	-
addad the code block		

Table 19. Checklist for the Wheel of Fortune Project

Findings Related to the Wheel of Fortune Project

Data on the checklist applied for the Wheel of Fortune Project are given in Table 19. When the checklist of the Wheel of Fortune Project in Table 19 was examined, it was observed that all the students in the experimental group added the Props 1 scene, the Wheel of Fortune puppet, the Giga puppet, the score variable, and independently drew the Puppet 1 puppet. An analysis of the code blocks revealed that all students correctly coded the Wheel of Fortune, Giga, and Puppet 1 puppets. The data in the checklist confirmed that all students accurately added the required puppets and codes. This indicates that the students have developed a clear understanding of the Scratch program. Data on the Student Diaries applied to students after the Wheel of Fortune Project lesson are given in Table 20.

Table 20. Student diaries on the Wheel of Fortune Project		
Category / Code	f	
As a means of entertainment	35	
It was very beautiful	20	
It's a lot of fun	10	
It was the best game so far	4	
It was boring to play	1	
In terms of difficulty		
The codes were easy	7	
A little bit tricky	4	
The codes were long	2	

When Table 20 was examined, it was observed that 35 of the experimental group students' opinions about the Wheel of Fortune project were categorized under "As a Means of Entertainment," while 13 were categorized under "In Terms of Difficulty." In the "As a Means of Entertainment" category, the codes were grouped into 4 subheadings, and in the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, the codes were grouped into 3 subheadings. Detailed analysis of the "As a Means of Entertainment" category revealed that 20 students found the project very beautiful, 10 found it very entertaining, 4 considered it the best game they had created so far, and 1 found playing the game boring. In the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, 7 students found it easy to write the codes, 4 felt that creating the game was somewhat challenging, and 2 thought the codes were lengthy.

S27: "I think it was very good. I had a lot of fun doing it. I always want to do it. I hope all my projects will be complete. Because I had a lot of fun. It is very fun to make games similar to the Wheel of Fortune. I think it was very easy."

S18: "Wheel of Fortune was a very nice project. The more I turned it, the more points I got. Wheel of Fortune was colorful. I got 1000 only once and I was very happy."

S13: "The codes were long. It was fun and beautiful. It was easy and I didn't have any difficulty in doing it. I liked the game. It was a bit long but it was still good."

The researcher's diary of the Wheel of Fortune Project lesson includes the following statements:

"The Wheel of Fortune project was one of the projects that attracted the attention of the students. They said that they saw this game a lot on the internet. But they expressed that they did not know how to do it. They were very happy when they started writing the codes. They had no difficulty in writing codes this week. Only because the codes were a bit long, did they start to ask when it would be over. I think they were a bit bored... When the game was over, they started playing again. They didn't like the fact that luck was very important in this game. Sometimes they were bankrupt all the time. But they still seemed to have a lot of fun and were happy. The process went very well. Now we are coming to the end of our application. The children don't want the Scratch lessons to end..."

Findings of the Jumping from Obstacle Project

The data belonging to the checklist applied for the Jumping from the Barrier Project are given in Table 21. When examining the checklist of the Jumping Through Obstacles Project in Table 21, it was observed that all students in the experimental group included the Boardwalk scene, the Pico Walking puppet, the Tree 1 puppet, and the following Block puppets: Block-G, Block-A, Block-M, Block-M, Block-E, Block-O, Block-V, Block-E, Block-R, as well as the Score variable.

Table 21. Checklist for the Jumpi	ng the Hurdle Projec	$\frac{1}{1}$
	Added by (f)	Did not add (f)
Boardwalk scene added	32 20	-
Pico Walking added his puppet	32	-
Tree I added his dummy	32	-
Block-G added his dummy	32	-
Block A added his dummy	32	-
Block M added his dummy	32	-
Block E added his dummy	32	-
Block-O added his dummy	32	-
Block V added his dummy	32	-
Block E added his dummy	32	-
Block-R added his dummy	32	-
Added score variable	32	-
For the Pico Walking puppet	32	-
added the code block.		
For Tree 1 puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For Block-G puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For Block-A puppet	32	-
added the code block	22	
For Block-M puppet	32	-
added the code block	20	
For Block-E puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For Block-O puppet	32	-

Table 21 Checklist for the Jumping the Hurdle Project

		
added the code block		
For Block-V puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For Block-E puppet	32	-
added the code block		
For Block-R puppet	32	-
6 77		
added the code block		

Analysis of the code blocks revealed that all students correctly wrote the codes for Pico Walking, Tree 1, and all Block puppets. The checklist data indicated that all students successfully added the required puppets and codes. The detailed selection and completion of this project demonstrated the students' advanced understanding of the program. The inclusion of all puppets and accurately written codes confirms that the Scratch program has been comprehensively understood by the students. The data of the Student Diaries applied to the students after the Jumping through Obstacles lesson are given in Table 22.

Table 22. Student diaries related	l to jui	mping	over	obstacles
-----------------------------------	----------	-------	------	-----------

Category / Code		f
As a means of entertainment		49
	It was a lot of fun	26
	It was very beautiful	13
	The game was adventurous	4
	I was very excited when I played	2
	It was remarkable	1
	I enjoyed doing it	1
	It was like real games	1
	It was my best project	1
In terms of difficulty		19
·	The codes were too long	16
	I got tired of writing the code	2
	I had no difficulty writing the code	1

When Table 22 was examined, it was found that the opinions of 49 experimental group students about the Jumping Through Obstacles project were grouped under two categories: "As a Means of Entertainment" and "In Terms of Difficulty." Under the "As a Means of Entertainment" category, 26 students described the project as very entertaining, 13 found it very beautiful, 4 thought it was adventurous, 2 felt very excited while playing, and 1 student each remarked that it was remarkable, enjoyable to create, similar to real games, and the best project they had ever done. Under the "In Terms of Difficulty" category, 16 students expressed that the game's codes were too long, 2 felt tired while writing the codes, and 1 reported no difficulty in writing them. Overall, while the project was widely regarded as engaging and enjoyable, the length of the codes posed a challenge for some students, suggesting room for simplifying or better pacing the exercises.

S31: "The game was very good. It was very enjoyable to play, but the codes were very long. I got tired while writing the codes but it was worth it."

S10: "I did not have any difficulty in making the game. It was like real games. I enjoyed it very much."

S32: "I was very excited while playing the game because it is necessary not to touch the obstacles while jumping over them. It was the best project I have ever done. I am glad that our teacher taught us this game."

The following statements are also included in the researcher's diary of the Jumping from the Barrier Project lesson:

"The children were both very happy and a little sad this week. Because this week we are doing the last Scratch lesson. They wished it would not end. We finished our application with a project worthy of the last week. The children were very surprised when they saw the codes because the codes were long. They started to say that we couldn't do it, but when they started writing the codes, they realized that the codes were not difficult even though they were long. Now they have a good grasp of the codes. They can even do long codes. This is a great happiness for me because I cannot tell you how happy it made me to have given a training that I have been thinking about for years and most importantly to see that it was learned by the students. When the children finished the project, they started to play. Playing with the game was more fun than writing the codes. They weeks. We have completed our last week without any problems and in a pleasant way."

Findings Related to Student Opinions

The students in the experimental group were asked, "What kind of program do you think Scratch is?" The categories, codes, and their frequency values, based on the students' responses, are presented in Table 23.

Table 23. Ideas about the Scratch Program		
Category / Code		f
Emotionally		36
	It's a lot of fun	12
	It was very beautiful	8
	Magnificent	7
	Super for making games	4
	Coding is exciting	3
	It's great.	2
Cognitive aspects		9
	A program that teaches codes	4
	A program that improves our intelligence	2
	A program that teaches algorithms	2
	People think they are informaticians	1

Table 23. Ideas about the Scratch Program

When the feelings, thoughts, and experiences of the experimental group students about the Scratch program were analyzed as shown in Table 23, it was found that 36 opinions were categorized as "Emotional" and 9 as "Cognitive." Under the "Emotional" category, the codes were grouped into six subheadings, while under the "Cognitive" category, the codes were grouped into four subheadings. In the "Emotional Perspective" category, 12 students stated that Scratch is very fun, 8 described it as very beautiful, 7 found it magnificent, 4 expressed that making games is super, 3 mentioned that coding is exciting, and 2 referred to it as great. In the "Cognitive Perspective" category, 4 students remarked that Scratch is a program that teaches coding, 2 highlighted it as a program that develops intelligence, 2 considered it as a program that teaches algorithms, and 1 student mentioned that using Scratch makes them feel like an informatician while writing code.

S8: "It is a very fun program. I enjoyed doing it very much."
S5: "It was very nice and coding excites you. While coding, you think you are a cognitive scientist."
S15: "Scratch is a program that teaches codes. It is both very fun and very enjoyable."

The experimental group students were asked the question, "Did you like the Scratch program? Why?" The categories, codes, and their frequency values derived from the students' responses are presented in Table 24.

Category / Cod	e	f
Yes		38
	It's fun	19
	I learned to code	7
	We made a game	6
	It was easy	2
	My dream has come true	1
	I felt like a scientist while making a game	1
	I was proud of myself when I learned about the program	1
	It develops our imagination	1

Table 24. Liking the Scratch Program

When Table 24 was examined, it was observed that 38 student opinions fell under the "Yes" category regarding their liking for the Scratch program, reflecting their feelings, thoughts, and experiences. The codes within the "Yes" category were organized into eight subheadings. A detailed analysis of the "Yes" responses revealed that 19 students found the program fun, 7 students appreciated learning coding, 6 students enjoyed creating games, 2 students found the program easy, and 1 student expressed that the program made their dream of learning coding come true. Additionally, 1 student mentioned feeling like a scientist while creating games, another student felt proud upon mastering the program, and 1 student believed that the program helped develop their imagination.

S20: "I liked the Scratch program because it contains algorithms. I had no difficulty in writing the codes. I participated because it was fun. I was proud of myself when I wrote all the codes correctly. At the same time, when I knew and wrote the codes, it was as if I entered the digital world."

S17: "Yes, I liked it because we can make games. We do coding. It is fun and we learn how to make games."

S30: "I liked the Scratch program very much because I felt like a scientist while making the games. I was in the air, in short, making games was really fun."

The students in the experimental group were asked the question, "How did you feel while making games with Scratch?". The categories/codes and their frequency values obtained from the students' responses are provided in Table 25.

1 a	Die 25. Feelings while making games with Scratch	
Category / Code		f
Emotionally		45
	I enjoyed it very much	21
	I'm so happy	16
	I'm so excited	5
	I was scared at the beginning but it didn't happen as I feared	2
	I'm not bored	1
It was the best time of my life		1
I relax while coding.		1
I have a new hobby		1

Table 25. Feelings while making games with Scratch

When Table 25 was examined, it was seen that 45 of the experimental group students' opinions were grouped into 4 categories: "Emotionally," 1 as "The Best Time of My Life," 1 as "I Relax While Writing Code," and 1 as "Acquiring a New Hobby." Under the "Emotionally" category, the codes were grouped into 5 subheadings. When the opinions in the "Emotionally" category are examined in detail, 21 of the student's opinions were that they enjoyed it very much, 16 were very happy, 5 were very excited, 2 were afraid at the beginning but it was not as they feared, and 1 was not bored.

S32: "I had fun, I enjoyed it, I felt warm inside as if the characters were real while doing the project. I felt very good, I was relaxing while writing code."

S12: "I was excited when I was making a game with Scratch because I had questions in my mind such as can I succeed or did you write the codes correctly? At the end of the game, if I succeeded, if the game was correct, I was very happy."

S5: "I felt very excited when I made my first game with Scratch. I was very happy when I played my first game. It was one of the happiest moments of my life."

When the experimental group students were asked, "Which project did you enjoy doing the most? Why?", the categories/codes and their frequency values obtained as a result of the answers received from the students are provided in Table 26.

	Table 20. The most enjoyable projects	
Category / Code		f
Ball Bouncing		14
	It was as much fun as real games	7
	It was beautiful	5
	It was easy	1
	Because it's my own game	1
I like them all		11
	They were all beautiful	4
	I enjoyed doing it all	3
	They were all fun	2
	Educational	1
	Improving our intelligence	1
Wheel of Fortune		10
	It was a lot of fun	6
	It was colorful	1
	We made the game that everyone loved	1
	It was like the games I played on the internet	1
	Because I wrote the code myself	1
Dino Dog		8
	The characters were funny	4
	Dialogues were good	2
	It was fun	2
Labyrinth		6
	It was fun	3
	The voice in the game was delightful	2
	It was very beautiful	2
Star Chasing		2
	It was very enjoyable	2
Color Capture		2
-	It was a lot of fun	1
	It was exciting	1

When the feelings, thoughts, and experiences of the experimental group students regarding the projects they enjoyed were examined, it was found that 14 of the students' opinions were gathered under 7 categories, including "Ball Bouncing Project," 11 under "I liked it all," 10 under "Wheel of Fortune Project," 8 under "Dino Foam Project," 6 under "Labyrinth Project," 2 under "Star Chasing Project," and 2 under "Color Catching Project." Under the "Ball Bouncing Project" category, the codes were grouped under 4 subheadings. When examined in detail, 7 of the students found it as fun as real games, 5 thought it was beautiful, 1 found it easy, and 1 appreciated having their own game. Under the "I Like It All" category, the codes were grouped under 5 subheadings. Detailed analysis showed that 4 students felt all the projects were beautiful, 3 enjoyed doing all of them, 2 found all of them fun, 1 thought they were educational, and 1 felt they enhanced their intelligence. In the "Wheel of Fortune Project" category, the codes were grouped under 5 subheadings. Detailed analysis revealed that 6 students found it very entertaining, 1 thought it was colorful, 1 made a game that everyone loved, 1 felt it resembled internet games, and 1 wrote the code themselves. Under the "Dino-Dog Project" category, the codes were grouped under 3 subheadings. 4 students found the characters funny, 2 appreciated the dialogues, and 2 enjoyed the project overall. In the "Labyrinth Project" category, the codes were grouped under 3 subheadings. Detailed analysis revealed that 3 students found it fun, 2 enjoyed the sound of the game, and 2 thought it was beautiful. Under the "Star Chasing Project" category, the codes were grouped under 1 subheading. 2 students found it very enjoyable. In the "Color Catching Project" category, the codes were grouped under 2 subheadings. 1 student found it very fun, and 1 found it exciting.

S19: "I enjoyed the Ball Bouncing game the most because the ball was bouncing and we were trying not to drop it and lose it. It was as fun as real games."

S8: "I enjoyed doing all the games and they were fun. The reason is that it is educational and improves your intelligence."
S21: "Wheel of Fortune because it is enjoyable like the games on the internet and we make the game that everyone loves. It is very enjoyable"

It seems like you're referring to Table 27, but I don't have the specific details from that table. If you'd like, you can share the data or key points from Table 27, and I can help you structure or analyze the information.

	Table 27. Difficulties in creating projects with Scratch	
Category / Code		f
I had some difficulty.		14
	I struggled with some projects	4
	When codes are long	3
	Locating code blocks is a bit tricky	3
	When I load something from the computer	2
	Hard to generate code	2
No difficulty at all		10
	It was easy	5
	I enjoyed it very much	2
	My teacher's guidance was good	1
	It was fun to play	1
	It was fun	1
Difficulty		8
-	In my first projects	4
	The codes were sometimes confusing	2
	I was having a hard time downloading it from my computer	1
	There was a lot of work to be done	1

When the feelings, thoughts, and experiences of the experimental group students regarding the difficulties they faced in creating projects with Scratch were analyzed in Table 27, it was found that 14 of the students' opinions were grouped under the category "I had some difficulty," 10 of them under "I had no difficulty," and 8 of them under "I had difficulty." The codes under the "I had some difficulty" category were grouped under 5 subheadings, the codes under the "I had no difficulty" category were grouped under 5 subheadings, and the codes under the "I had no difficulty" category were grouped under 4 subheadings. In the "I had some difficulty" category, 4 students reported difficulty with certain projects, 3 mentioned difficulty when the codes were long, 3 found it challenging to locate code blocks, 2 struggled when loading files from the computer, and 2 found it hard to create codes. In the "I had no difficulty" category, 5 students felt that the projects were easy, 2 enjoyed them greatly, 1 appreciated the teacher's guidance, 1 found making games enjoyable, and 1 found it fun. In the "I had difficulty" category, 4 students reported difficulty with their first projects, 2 felt the codes were sometimes complicated, 1 had difficulty downloading files from the computer, and 1 found the tasks had too many operations to complete.

S15: "I did not have any difficulty in making a game with Scratch because the codes and characters were easy. Since I did the codes carefully, I did not make any mistakes." S24: "Yes, I had difficulty in some projects, but in general it was easy. Even though it was difficult, I liked it very much."

S31: "Yes, it was difficult because choosing the characters, making their codes one by one, downloading the background from the computer and downloading it to Scratch... there is a lot to do."

Conclusion and Discussion

According to the results of the Algorithmic Thinking Skill Scale, which was developed to examine the effect of the Scratch program on coding education for 4th-grade primary school students, a significant difference was found between the post-test and pre-test scores of the experimental group, with post-test scores being higher. This indicates that the Scratch program had a significant impact on the algorithmic thinking skills of primary school students. When reviewing the literature, it was noted that few studies have specifically addressed the effect of the Scratch program on algorithmic thinking skills. For example, Bahar (2023) found that Scratch applications had a significant impact on algorithmic thinking, critical thinking, and creativity, but did not significantly affect problem-solving skills. Similarly, Cakıcı and Ozdemir (2022) concluded that coding education without computers led to a statistically significant improvement in students' problem-solving and

algorithmic thinking skills. The findings from these studies are consistent with the results of this study, supporting the idea that Scratch programming positively influences algorithmic thinking skills.

According to the results of the checklists for the Scratch lessons and the projects developed, it was concluded that some of the students in the experimental group initially misplaced certain puppets and decorations in their first projects. However, as they became more familiar with the program, all students were able to complete the projects. This suggests that with practice and experience, the students' understanding and skills in using Scratch improved, enabling them to finish the tasks accurately.

According to the results obtained from the student diaries regarding the Scratch lessons and the projects developed, the opinions of the experimental group students were generally positive. They expressed that they found the projects fun, and they liked the projects very much. The students reported that they enjoyed writing code and did not experience difficulty in completing the projects. Additionally, they mentioned that they would like to continue with Scratch lessons. The students also stated that playing the games they created was highly enjoyable, as it gave them a sense of accomplishment. They found the projects remarkable and expressed excitement while playing the games they developed.

According to the results obtained from the students' opinions about the Scratch program, the experimental group of students expressed that the Scratch program was very fun, visually beautiful, and wonderful. They stated that making games was an exciting and enjoyable experience. The students mentioned feeling very happy and excited while working with Scratch, although some initially felt scared, they found it less challenging than they anticipated. They enjoyed the process very much and expressed that they liked all the projects. Additionally, the majority of the students reported not facing difficulty in creating the projects. When reviewing the literature, it is noted that there are limited studies on primary school students' opinions about the Scratch program. For instance, Yurtbakan (2022) found that gifted students viewed the Scratch program as fun during the qualitative phase of their study. Ozturk (2021) reported that middle school students found games designed with Scratch interesting, visually appealing, and entertaining. Similarly, Cubukluoz (2019) concluded that students found games created using Scratch to be interesting and fun. The findings from these studies are consistent with the results of this study.

Recommendations

In this study, where the teaching of the Scratch program was conducted, it was observed that elementary school students easily learned to use the Scratch program. Therefore, coding education can be provided to elementary school students, and the Scratch program can be taught. The Scratch program can be taught over a longer period, giving students more opportunities to create games. Students can be encouraged to make different games using the Scratch program. The Scratch program can also be taught to 3rd-grade elementary school students, and teachers can use Scratch activities to increase students' interest and motivation in the lesson. The effects of coding education on other cognitive skills can be examined, and due to the lack of sufficient studies on coding education in elementary schools in the literature, researchers can focus on this area. Additionally, the Ministry of National Education can include coding education in the elementary school curriculum.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

*The authors declare that the scientific ethical and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors.

*In this study, ethical approval was obtained from the Social and Human Sciences Research Ethics Committee of Inonu University with the approval number 2022/14-8, dated 30.06.2022.

Acknowledgements or Notes

This study is based on the doctoral thesis titled "An Examination of Coding Education Practices in terms of Elementary School Students' Algorithmic Thinking Skills and Student Opinions," completed by the first author under the supervision of the second author (Doctoral Thesis, İnönü University, Malatya, Turkey, 2024).

References

- Akpınar, Y., & Altun, A. (2014). Bilgi toplumu okullarında programlama egitimi gereksinimi. *Ilkogretim Online Dergisi, 13*(1), 1-4.
- Arı, E. (2016). Orneklerle algoritma ve C# programlama. Seckin Yayıncılık.
- Aytekin, A., Cakır, F. S., Yucel, Y. B. & Kulaozu, I. (2018). Algoritmaların hayatımızdaki yeri ve onemi. Avrasya Sosyal ve Ekonomi Arasstırmaları Dergisi, 5(7), 143-150.
- Bahar, N. (2021). Scratch'ın cocukların ingilizce ve bilissel beceri uzerine etkisi. (Master's thesis, Middle East Technical University).
- Brown, W. (2015). *Introduction to algorithmic thinking*. Retrieved from www.cs4fn.com/algoritmicthinking.php.
- Buyukozturk, S., Kılıc- Cakmak, E., Akgun, O. A., Karadeniz, S., & Demirel, F. (2020). *Bilimsel arastırma yontemleri* (28th ed.). Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Creswell, J. W. (2017). Arastırma deseni nitel, nicel ve karma yontem yaklasımları. Egiten Kitap.
- Cakıcı, Y., & Ozdemir, S. M. (2022). Bilgisayarsiz kodlama egitiminin ilkokul ogrencilerinin dikkatini toplama, problem cozme ve algoritmik dusunnme becerileri uzerine etkisi. *Uluslararası Bilim ve Egitim Dergisi*, 5(3), 235-254.
- Calıskan, E. (2020). Code.org etkinliklerinin ortaokul ogrencilerinin problem cozme becerilerine ve programlama oz-yeterliklerine etkisinin incelenmesi. *Journal of Instructional Technologies and Teacher Education*, 9(2), 114-124.
- Csizmadia, A., Curzon, P., Dorling, M., Humphreys, S., Ng, T., Selby, C., & Woollard, J. (2015). *Computational thinking-A guide for teachers*. Retrieved from https://community.computingatschool.org
- Cubukluoz, O. (2019). 6. sınıf öğrencilerinin matematik dersindeki ogrenme zorluklarının Scratch programıyla tasarlanan matematiksel oyunlarla giderilmesi: Bir eylem araştırması (Master's thesis, Bartın University).
- Delice, A. (2018). Karma yöntem desen seçimi. In Karma yontem arastırmaları tasarımı (pp. 61-114). Anı Yayıncılık.
- Demirer, V., & Sak, N. (2016). Programming education and new approaches around the world and in Turkey. *Egitimde Kuram ve Uygulama*, 12(3), 521-546.
- Demirkol, Z. (2017). Ogretmen ve ebeveyn rehberliginde çocuklar icin kodlama. Pusula 20 Teknoloji ve Yayıncılık.
- Dickins, R., Melmoth, J., & Stowell, L. (2016). Scratch ile yeni baslayanlar icin kodlama. Altın Kitaplar Yayınevi.
- EBA. (2024). *Egitim bilisim agi*. Retrieved from https://www.eba.gov.tr/arama?q=kodlama.
- Ercil- Cagiltay, N., & Fal, M. (2015). Scratch ile programlamayı ogreniyorum. ODTU Yayıncılık.
- Erol, O. (2020). Kodlama ogretimi programlamadan kodlamaya yaklasımlar ve ornek uygulamalar. Anı Yayıncılık.
- Futschek, G. (2006). Algorithmic thinking: The key for understanding computer science. *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Informatics in Secondary Schools: Evolution and Perspectives (ISSEP)* (pp.159–168).
- Genc, Z., & Karakus, S. (2011). Tasarımla ogrenme: Egitsel bilgisayar oyunları tasarımında Scratch kullanımı. 5th International Computer & Instructional Technologies Symposium (ICITS).
- Gezgin, D. M., Ozcan, S. N., Ergun, K., Kose, O., & Emir, N. (2017) Bilgisayar programlama egitiminde Scratch programi kullanımına iliskin lise öğrencilerinin gorusleri. *Uluslararası Bilimsel Araştırmalar* Dergisi, 182-188.
- Gibson, J.P. (2012). Teaching graph algorithms to children of all ages. *ITiCSE '12:17th Annual Conference on Innovation and Technology in Computer Science Education*, 34-39.
- Gultekin, M., Gundogan-Bayır, O., & Yasar, E. (2020). Karma arastırma yontemi. B. Oral & A. Coban (Ed.), *Kuramdan uygulamaya egitimde bilimsel arastırma yontemleri* (pp. 317-354). Ankara: Pegem.Akademi.
- Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J. & Turner, L. A. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(2), 112-133.
- Kızılkaya, M. & Sart, G. (2017). Super Scratch programlama yolculugu. Aba Yayın.
- Kordaki, M. (2012). Diverse categories of programming learning activities could be performed within Scratch. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *46*, 1162-1166.
- Küçükkoç, I. (2020). Algoritma ve programlamaya giris ders notları. Retrieved from https://birecik.harran.edu.tr/assets/uploads/other/files/birecik/files/3Algoritma_ve_Programlamaya_Giri %C5%9F_Ders_Notlar%C4%B1.pdf
- Lee, Y.J. (2011). Scratch: Multimedia programming environment for young gifted learners. *Gifted Child Today*, 34(2), 26-31.

Maloney, J., Resnick, M., Rusk, N., Silverman, B., & Eastmond, E. (2010). The Scratch programming language and environment. ACM Transactions on Computing Education (TOCE), 10(4), 1-15.

Mclennan, D.C. (2017). Creating coding stories and games. Teaching Young Children, 10(3), 18-21.

- Olsen, F. (2000). Computer scientist says all students should learn to think 'algorithmically. In *The chronicle of high education*. Springer.
- Ozturk, A. (2021). Ortaokul matematik ogretmenlerinin Scratch programıyla tasarladıkları oyunların ogretmen ve ogrenci goruseri dogrultusunda incelenmesi: cebirden yansımalar(Master's thesis, Bartın University).
- Ozdamar, K. (2017). Egitim, sağlık ve davranıs bilimlerinde olcek ve test gelistirme yapısal esitlik modellemesi IBM SPSS, IBM SPSS, AMOS ve MINITAB uygulamalı. Nisan Kitabevi.
- Pallant, P. (2017). SPSS kullanma kılavuzu SPSS ile adım adım veri analizi. (S. Balcı & B. Ahi, Trans.). Anı Yayıncılık.
- Resnick, M., Maloney, J., Monroy-Hernández, A., Rusk, N., Eastmond, E., Brennan, K. & Kafai, Y. (2009). Scratch: Programming for all. *Communications of the ACM*, 52(11), 60-67.
- Sayın, Z. & Seferoglu, S. S. (2016). Yeni bir 21. yuzyıl becerisi olarak kodlama eğitimi ve kodlamanın eğitim politikalarına etkisi. Akademik Bilisim Konferansı, 3-5.
- Scratch. (2023). Scratch about.Retrieved From: http://scratch.mit.edu/about/.
- Su, G. (2019). Scratch ile programlama. KodlabYayın Dagıtım.
- Yiğit, M. F. (2016). Gorsel programlama ortamı ile ogretimin öğrencilerin bilgisayar programlamayı öğrenmesine ve programlamaya karsı tutumlarına etkisinin incelenmesi. (Master's thesis, On Dokuz Mayıs University).
- Yukselturk, E., & Altıok, S. (2015). Bilisim teknolojileri ogretmen adaylarının bilgisayar programlama ogretimine yonelik gorusleri. Amasya Universitesi Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi, 4(1), 50-65.
- Yükseltuurk, E., & Ucgul, M. (2018). Blok tabanlı programlama. In Y. Guulbahar & H. Karal (Ed.), Kuramdan uygulamaya programlama ogretimi (pp. 273-296). Pegem Akademi.
- Yurtbakan, E. (2022). Ozel yetenekli ilkokul ogrencilerinin yazma egilimleri, kaygıları ve tutumlarında Scratch kodlama programının etkisi. *Mersin Universitesi Egitim Fakultesi Dergisi*, 18(3), 241-258.

Authors Information				
Anil Erkan	Sumeyra Akkaya			
Toki Firat Primary School	Inonu University			
Elazıg/Turkiye	Malatya/Turkiye			
Contact e-mail: anilgok86@gmail.com	ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9942-9848			
ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3036-1208				



Volume 11, Issue 1, 2025

https://doi.org/10.55549/jeseh.761

Development of Science Process Skills and Learning Achievement Using Flipped Classroom Learning Management through Inquiry-Based Learning for Grade 8 Students

Yolradee Supornpanitkul, Apantee Poonputta, Orrasa Prasitnok

Article Info	Abstract
Article History	The objectives of this research are: (1) to develop a flipped classroom learning
Published: 01 January 2025	plan using inquiry-based learning on the topic of substance separation for Grade 8 students, to achieve effectiveness according to the 75/75 criteria; (2) to compare science process skills and learning achievement before and after
Received: 16 August 2024	implementing the developed learning plan. The study included 45 Grade 8 students from a high school in Khon Kaen Province, Thailand, during the second semester of the 2022 academic year. The students were chosen using cluster
Accepted: 10 November 2024	random sampling. The research tools included: (1) six flipped classroom learning management through inquiry-based learning on the topic of mixture separation, totaling 11 hours; (2) a multiple-choice test with 30 questions on the topic of
Keywords	mixture separation to measure learning achievement; and (3) a multiple-choice test with 30 questions to assess science process skills. The statistical analysis
Learning achievement	includes mean, percentage, standard deviation, and hypothesis testing with
Science process skills	Hotelling's T-Square. The research findings were: (1) the flipped classroom
Flipped classroom	learning plan using inquiry-based learning had an effectiveness of 89.2/77.5; (2)
Inquiry-based learning	the learning achievement and science process skills of students after
	implementing the developed learning plans were significantly higher than
	before, with statistical significance at the .05 level.

Introduction

In modern education, developing science process skills and improving learning outcomes are essential objectives, especially in secondary school science teaching. With technological advancements and pedagogical strategies, educators are increasingly adopting innovative approaches to enhance student engagement and understanding. Two such approaches, flipped classroom learning and inquiry-based learning, have gained attention due to their ability to reshape traditional approaches to teaching science. The flipped classroom model, which shifts direct instruction outside the classroom and utilizes class time for interactive activities, has increased student engagement and achievement (Egara & Mosimege, 2024; Jonathan Bergmann, 2012; Yu et al., 2023). On the other hand, inquiry-based learning (IBL) emphasizes student-driven exploration and problem-solving, which are essential for developing scientific process skills (Gillies, 2023; Hmelo-Silver, 2004). Combined, these approaches offer a promising framework for enhancing secondary school students' understanding of complex scientific concepts such as separation of mixture.

The flipped classroom model has become accepted for its ability to create a more interactive and engaging learning environment. Bergmann and Sams (2012) (Jonathan Bergmann, 2012) describe this approach as a reversal of traditional teaching methods, where students first encounter new content through pre-class materials such as videos and then apply their understanding during in-class activities. This model facilitates deeper engagement and allows teachers to provide more personalized support during class. According to a meta-analysis(Jensen et al., 2015; Lazonder & Harmsen, 2016), the flipped classroom approach can significantly improve student learning outcomes and engagement, particularly when combined with active learning strategies. Inquiry-based learning (IBL) focuses on students actively exploring scientific questions and problems, which fosters critical thinking and a deeper understanding of scientific concepts (Sucilestari & Arizona, 2020). Students develop essential scientific process skills by engaging in hands-on investigations and discussions, such as hypothesizing, experimenting, and analyzing data (Hmelo-Silver, 2004). Research indicates that IBL can enhance students' ability to apply scientific principles and improve their problem-solving skills (Antonio & Prudente, 2023). Scientific process skills, including observation, measurement, experimentation, and analysis, are crucial for students' science understanding and investigation ability (Gizaw & Sorsa, 2023). These skills are often developed through inquiry-based approaches emphasizing active participation and critical thinking. Many

research highlights that students who engage in inquiry-based activities demonstrate better mastery of scientific process skills than those who receive traditional instruction (Bordin, Said, Sabil, & Arshad, 2022; Minner et al., 2010; Orkwiszewski, 2009; Wilson et al., 2010).

Separation techniques in science, including filtration, distillation, and chromatography, are fundamental in chemistry education. These techniques provide practical applications of scientific principles and are critical for students to master as they form the basis for more advanced scientific inquiry (Miranda, 2021). By integrating the flipped classroom model with inquiry-based learning, educators can create an environment that not only introduces these techniques effectively but also encourages students to engage in their application and understanding actively. This combination can potentially lead to improved scientific process skills and better learning outcomes, aligning with current educational goals for science instruction (Dellatola et al., 2020; Lage et al., 2000; Love et al., 2016). Combining flipped classroom methods with inquiry-based learning can provide a robust framework for developing scientific process skills. For instance, the pre-class content in a flipped classroom can introduce theoretical concepts related to substance separation. At the same time, in-class inquiry-based activities allow students to apply these concepts through experiments and problem-solving tasks. This approach not only reinforces theoretical knowledge but also enhances practical skills and fosters a deeper understanding of the subject matter (Loizou & Lee, 2020)

Despite the potential benefits of integrating flipped classroom and inquiry-based learning approaches, there remains a gap in understanding how these methods specifically impact the development of scientific process skills and learning outcomes in the context of substance separation for secondary school students. Previous research has separately highlighted the effectiveness of flipped classrooms and inquiry-based learning (Ogunleye et al., 2024; Potvin et al., 2017; Scott & Friesen, 2013; Yu et al., 2023). Still, there is limited empirical evidence on their combined impact in the specific context of teaching mixture separation techniques. Additionally, while both approaches have been shown to enhance student engagement and performance in various subjects, their effectiveness in developing scientific process skills and improving learning outcomes in secondary school chemistry remains underexplored.

This research examines how integrating flipped classroom learning with inquiry-based approaches affects secondary school students' development of scientific process skills and their learning outcomes in the context of mixture separation. By examining this combination, the study seeks to provide insights into its effectiveness and practical implications for enhancing science education. **The objectives of this work include:** 1) To develop an effective flipped classroom learning management plan using inquiry-based learning on mixture separation for Grade 8 students to achieve the 75/75 criteria and 2) To compare learning achievement and science process skills of students before and after implementing the developed learning plans.

Method

Population and Sample

The population includes 11 classes, totaling 495 Grade 8 students in regular classrooms (non-special ability) during the second semester of the 2022 academic year at a high school in Khon Kaen Province, Thailand. The sample was selected through random cluster sampling, comprised of a single class of 45 students.

Research Tools

1) The flipped classroom learning management plan using inquiry-based learning on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 students consists of 6 plans totaling 11 hours, as follows:

Learning plan 1: Evaporation - 1 hour

Learning plan 2: Crystallization - 3 hours

Learning plan 3: Distillation - 1 hour

Learning plan 4: Solvent Extraction - 2 hours

Learning plan 5: Paper Chromatography - 1 hour

Learning plan 6: Mixture Separation in Daily Life - 3 hours

Each plan was reviewed by five experts, receiving an average score of 4.89 out of 5. The evaluation summary highlights a high level of quality and suitability.

- 2) A multiple-choice test with 30 questions on mixture separation to measure learning achievement. The item objective congruence (IOC) values for the items range from 0.60 to 1.00, with a discrimination index between 0.25 and 0.67. The reliability, assessed using the Lovett method, is 0.94.
- The science process skills test is a 30-question multiple-choice assessment. The IOC values range from 0.60 3) to 1.00, with difficulty levels between 0.52 and 0.79 and discrimination indices from 0.21 to 0.36. The test has an overall reliability score of 0.97.

Data Collection

The researcher collected data using the following steps: (1) clarified the details of the procedures in the sample classroom, (2) conducted a pre-test with the sample group using both the achievement test and the science process skills test, (3) implemented the developed learning plan, following each plan sequentially and recording scores during the lessons, (4) after completing six learning plans, conducted a post-test using the same achievement test and science process skills test as used in the pre-test.

Statistics and Data Analysis

In analyzing the data using the following statistical methods: (1) basic statistics, including percentages, means, and standard deviations to analyze the data, (2) to assess the quality of research tools, the objective congruence (IOC) for **content validity** which involves expert judgment to determine if the tool covers all relevant content. The effectiveness of the learning plans was evaluated against the 75/75 criteria using the E1/E2 formula. Discrimination power for individual items was analyzed using Brennan's B-Index method. The reliability of the achievement test was measured using Lovett's formula. Difficulty (p) and discrimination (r) indices were calculated. The reliability of the entire test was assessed using the Kuder-Richardson Formula KR-20, (3) statistics for hypothesis testing to compare science process skills and learning achievement before and after the implementation, the Multivariate Paired Hotelling's T-Square test was used.

Results and Discussion

Effectiveness of the Learning Management Plans

The effectiveness of the learning management plans was assessed using E1/E2. E1 is process effectiveness measured by evaluating the scores from the class activity and the final quizzes of the learning plans, which indicate knowledge (Knowledge: K) and process skills (Process: P). E2 is outcome effectiveness measured using the achievement test scores, compared against the 75/75 criteria, as shown in Table 1.

	Table 1. Effectivenes	s of the develop	ed learning plans		
Items	Full Score	Ā	S.D.	р	
E ₁	600	535.47	22.81	89.25	
E_2	30	23.24	3.23	77.48	
$E_1/E_2 = 89.25/77.48$					

Table 1 Effective

From Table 1, it is found that the flipped classroom learning management plan using inquiry-based learning on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 students has an effectiveness score of 89.25/77.48, which meets the established criteria of 75/75.

Comparison of Student Learning Achievement Before and After Implementing the Learning Plans

Hypothesis testing for Hotelling's T-Square statistic was evaluated using three approaches:

- 1) Ensuring that each population follows a multivariate normal distribution and accounting for outliers, results shown in Table 2
- 2) Verifying initial assumptions about correlation, result shown in Table 3
- 3) Verifying initial assumptions concerning variance using box's test of equality of covariance matrices, result shown in Table 4

Table 2 Preliminary assumptions for multivariate normal distribution and outliers					
Items	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	S.D.	
Mahalanobis Distance	0.137	11.814	3.911	2.666	
critical values used for comparison df = 2, χ^2 = 13.82					

Table 2 Preliminary ass	umptions for m	ultivariate normal	distribution and outliers
-------------------------	----------------	--------------------	---------------------------

From Table 2, the overall data analysis using the maximum value of Mahalanobis Distance vielded a value of 11.814, less than the critical value ($\gamma^2 = 13.82$). This indicates that there are no multivariate outliers, and it can be concluded that the distribution of the analyzed data approximates a multivariate normal distribution.

Table 2 Examination	fromiable completions	hafana and often in	an lanaantin a tha	looming monogoment
Table 5 Examination (of variable correlations	before and after m	ipiementing the	learning management.

Dependent Variables	Scientific Process Skills	Learning Outcomes
Scientific process skills (before), r _{xy}	1.00	0.259*
Learning outcomes (before), r _{xy}		1.00
Scientific process skills (after), rxy	1.00	0.544**
Learning outcomes (after), rxy		1.00

From Table 3, verifying initial assumptions about correlation, it was found that the analysis of the correlation coefficients between scientific process skills and learning outcomes before and after implementing the learning management shows a positive and statistically significant correlation at the .05 level.

	Table 4. Verif	ying initial assu	mptions concerning varia	nce.
Box's M	F	df1	df2	р
3.261	1.060	3	1393920.000	.365

From Table 4, the analysis of the box's M or box's test of equality of covariance matrices showed a value of 3.261, with an F value of 1.060 and a probability (Prob) of 0.365, which is greater than 0.05. This indicates that the population variance-covariance matrices (homogeneity of variance-covariance matrices) are equal.

From these results, the analysis indicates that the data distribution approximates a multivariate normal distribution. The correlation checks for dependent variables, both before and after the learning management using the flipped classroom with inquiry-based learning on substance separation for Grade 8 students, show that all variables are correlated. Additionally, the variance-covariance matrices are equal. As a result, using multivariate analysis of variance or Hotelling's T-Square is considered suitable for analysis.

Comparing Scientific Process Skills and Learning Outcomes Before and After Implementing the Learning Management

The results showed that students' science process skills and learning outcomes were significantly higher after the implementation of the developed learning plan, with statistical significance at the .05 level, as show in Table 5

Table 5. Comparing	g scientific process	skills and learning	outcomes before	and after impleme	enting the lea	arning
		managai	mont			

	man	agemen	ι.				
Independent variables	before		after		T^2	F	р
	x	S.D	x	S.D			
Scientific process skills	16.91	3.27	23.16	3.84	372.299	177.688	0.00
learning outcomes	11.80	2.79	23.24	3.26			

The results indicate significant improvements in both scientific process skills and learning outcomes after implementing the developed learning management. Specifically, the mean score for scientific process skills increased from 16.91 (SD = 3.27) before the implementation to 23.16 (SD = 3.84) afterward, yielding a Hotelling's T² value of 372.299 and an F-value of 177.688, with a p-value of 0.00, demonstrating vital statistical significance. Similarly, learning outcomes showed a notable improvement, with the mean score increasing from 11.80 (SD = 2.79) to 23.24 (SD = 3.26). These findings suggest that the implemented strategies effectively enhanced students' skills and knowledge, supporting the efficacy of the educational approach used. The results of developing science process skills and academic achievement through the use of an inquiry-based flipped classroom learning approach on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 students can be discussed as follows:

1. The inquiry-based flipped classroom learning management on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 students shows an effectiveness of 89.25/77.48, meeting the criteria of 75/75. This means that students achieved an average score of 89.25% from the combined assessments during the inquiry-based flipped classroom, with the scores equally weighted between 50:50 for the activity logs and the post-test. The average post-test academic achievement score was 77.48%, meeting the specified criteria. It can be observed that the inquiry-based flipped classroom learning plan effectively enhances both science process skills and learning achievement. This approach can be implemented efficiently by transitioning from traditional lecture-based instruction to a method where students learn independently and engage in activities together in the classroom. This shift increases interaction between teachers and students and among students themselves. By using technology in learning management, instructors can save time on lessons, allowing them more time to collaborate with students and engage in interactive learning activities. The inquiry-based flipped classroom learning approach emphasizes student-centered learning. Students study the content at home through online systems, videos, or other online resources the teacher provides before attending class. The teacher's role is to offer guidance and answer questions during classroom activities. Students define problems independently based on given scenarios, which enhances their understanding and allows them to apply the knowledge they gained before class in designing their research to find answers. Additionally, the study found the inquiry-based flipped classroom learning plan on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 students was effective, with scores of 89.25/77.48. However, it was noted that the E1 and E2 scores differed by more than 5%, which indicates an imbalance between the student activities and the post-test exam. For example, if the E1 score is higher than the E2 score, it may imply that the tasks given were easier than the teaching content. This indicates that the mixture separation activity logs and the post-test scores used to measure process skills and learning achievement were not balanced. Therefore, to improve the difficulty of the post-test exam, more questions should be added, focusing more on analytical thinking or including open-ended questions (Loizou & Lee, 2020; Ramadhansyah, 2021; Schallert et al., 2022).

2. Students who engaged in the inquiry-based flipped classroom learning on the topic of mixture separation for Grade 8 show significantly higher science process skills and learning achievement after the learning implementation, with statistical significance at the .05 level. Several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of inquiry-based flipped classroom models in enhancing students' science process skills and learning achievement. For example, a study involving Grade 9 students in the Philippines found that students in the flipped classroom environment, which integrated inquiry-based learning, showed significant improvements in their conceptual understanding and science process skills compared to traditional teaching methods. Moreover, the combination of the flipped classroom and inquiry-based approaches has been particularly effective in STEM education, enabling students to engage more deeply with scientific concepts through active learning and exploration during class time. This has been shown to promote not only a better understanding of scientific topics but also higher achievement levels in various subjects, including science and mathematics (Rusnilawati et al., 2023; Tan et al., 2020). The application of these models, particularly in mixture separation, allows for efficient use of class time for inquiry and problem-solving, significantly improving students' learning outcomes with statistical significance at the 0.05 level. This is consistent with the research by Rafon and Mistades (Rafon-Paghubasan & Mistades, 2020), who found that when students studied prepared materials independently, class time was effectively utilized for collaborative activities like problem-solving and active discussions. This student-centered method promoted deeper comprehension, encouraging learners to explore topics independently and engage in group discussion, ultimately boosting their academic success and interaction skills. The approach enhanced both individual accountability and group collaboration, allowing for a more interactive and productive learning environment.

3. Considering individual scores, some students show improved learning achievement and science process skills after the implementation. However, despite progress, their post-learning scores remained below the class average. This could be due to the diversity and differences among students. Students may face challenges such as limited access to technology, affecting their ability to engage with pre-class materials in a flipped classroom model fully. Additionally, varying levels of prior knowledge, study habits, and learning skills can influence how effectively they process new information, leading to disparities in performance even after making progress. These factors highlight the need for differentiated support. Therefore, teachers should consider incorporating various learning styles or teaching techniques that are more diverse and appropriate, possibly increasing the time for learning pre-class materials to support student learning better.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the inquiry-based flipped classroom model is appropriate for teaching and learning. It focuses on student-centered learning, uses technology as a medium for education, and helps prepare students before

engaging in classroom activities. This approach ensures that students have ample time to participate in activities and engage thoroughly in the learning process, enabling them to build their knowledge through hands-on experience. The teacher acts as a facilitator and guide, which helps ensure that the effectiveness of the science learning plan meets the set criteria and effectively enhances both scientific process skills and academic achievement.

Recommendations

Suggestions for implementation of the developed inquiry-based flipped classroom model or recommendations for future research are as follows:

- 1) Since the learning process involves experimental skills and the use of scientific glassware, students should be provided with additional training in the primary use of laboratory equipment to ensure they are well-prepared for experiments.
- 2) During the research process, it was observed that students initially experienced confusion when working in groups and were slow in dividing tasks, which made each activity step time-consuming. Therefore, teachers should encourage them to recognize the roles of group members, task division, discussion, and collaborative learning. While students are engaged in group activities, teachers should prompt them to help and consult with others and carefully observe their group working.
- 3) The inquiry-based flipped classroom model integrates learning both in and out of the classroom. Therefore, teachers should create a variety of easily accessible instructional resources, such as visual aids, interactive infographics, digital flashcards, **e-books**, **or** podcasts, to engage students' interests and address their individual differences.
- 4) Teachers should provide immediate feedback on students' activities to ensure students are aware of their individual and group performance. Positive reinforcement should be encouraged when students successfully and promptly complete learning activities, boosting their enthusiasm and motivation for learning.
- 5) The inquiry-based flipped classroom model should be applied in other learning units to promote ongoing student learning improvement.
- 6) It would be beneficial to examine the integration of the inquiry-based flipped classroom model with other teaching methods, such as combining it with problem-based learning.
- 7) It is advisable to study the inquiry-based flipped classroom model with other dependent variables, such as analytical thinking or attitudes toward learning science.

Scientific Ethics Declaration

The authors declare that the scientific ethical and legal responsibility of this article published in JESEH journal belongs to the authors

Acknowledgements or Notes

This research project was financially supported by Mahasarakham University, Thailand

References

- Antonio, R., & Prudente, M. (2023). Effects of inquiry-based approaches on students' higher-order thinking skills in science: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics Science and Technology*, 12, 251-281.
- Bordin, S.N., Said, R.R., Sabil, A.M, & Arshad, M.M. (2022). Implementation of higher order thinking skills (HOTs) in teaching Malay language writing skills among preschool teachers. *The Eurasia Proceedings* of Educational & Social Sciences (EPESS), 25, 86-94.
- Dellatola, E., Daradoumis, T., & Dimitriadis, Y. (2020). Exploring students' engagement within a collaborative inquiry-based language learning activity in a blended environment. In S. Yu, M. Ally, & A. Tsinakos (Eds.), *Emerging technologies and pedagogies in the curriculum* (pp. 355-375). Singapore: Springer.

- Egara, F. O., & Mosimege, M. (2024). Effect of flipped classroom learning approach on mathematics achievement and interest among secondary school students. *Education and Information Technologies*, 29(7), 8131-8150.
- Gillies, R. M. (2023). Using cooperative learning to enhance students' learning and engagement during inquirybased science. *Education Sciences*, 13(12), 1242.
- Gizaw, G., & Sorsa, S. (2023). Improving science process skills of students: A review of literature. *Science Education International*, 34, 216-224.
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2004). Problem-based learning: What and how do students learn? *Educational Psychology Review*, *16*(3), 235-266.
- Jensen, J. L., Kummer, T. A., & d, M. G. P. D. (2015). Improvements from a flipped classroom may simply be the fruits of active learning. *CBE Life Science Education*, 14(1), ar5.
- Jonathan- Bergmann, A. S. (2012). Flip your classroom: reach every student in every class every day. Retrieved from

https://www.rcboe.org/cms/lib/GA01903614/Centricity/Domain/15451/Flip_Your_Classroom.pdf

- Lage, M. J., Platt, G. J., & Treglia, M. (2000). Inverting the classroom: A Gateway to creating an inclusive learning environment. *The Journal of Economic Education*, *31*(1), 30-43.
- Lazonder, A. W., & Harmsen, R. (2016). Meta-analysis of inquiry-based learning: Effects of guidance. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(3), 681-718.
- Loizou, M., & Lee, K. (2020). A flipped classroom model for inquiry-based learning in primary education context. *Research in Learning Technology*, 28, 2287.
- Love, B., Hodge, A., Corritore, C., & Ernst, D. (2016). Inquiry-based learning and the flipped classroom model. *PRIMUS*, 25(8), 1046005
- Minner, D. D., Levy, A. J., & Century, J. (2010). Inquiry-based science instruction—what is it and does it matter? Results from a research synthesis years 1984 to 2002. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(4), 474-496.
- Miranda, M. (2021). Mixtures and their separation methods: The use of didactic games, the jigsaw method and everyday life as facilitators to construct chemical knowledge in high school. *Orbital The Electronic Journal of Chemistry*, *13*(5), 428-433.
- Ogunleye, A., Onifade, O., Ogundeji, A., & Sonde, P. (2024). Effect of flipped classroom strategy on the performance and cognitive style of senior secondary school biology students in Ogun state, Nigeria. *Ilorin Journal of Educatio*, 44, 318-329.
- Orkwiszewski, T. (2009). Moving from didactic to inquiry-based instruction in a science laboratory. *The American Biology Teacher*, 68, 342-345.
- Potvin, P., Hasni, A., & Sy, O. (2017). Using inquiry-based interventions to improve secondary students' interest in science and technology. *European Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 5, 262-270.
- Rafon-Paghubasan, J., & Mistades, V. (2020). Interactive engagement in rotational motion via flipped classroom and 5E Instructional Model. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 10, 905-910.
- Ramadhansyah, M., Mawardi. (2021). Development of guided inquiry-based flipped classroom learning system on reaction rate for 11th grade senior high school students. *International Journal of Progressive Sciences and Technologies* 27(2), 5.
- Rusnilawati, R., Rahaimah, S., Hasan, M., Sutama, S., & Rahman, F. (2023). The Implementation of flipped learning model and Stem approach in elementary education: A systematic literature review. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 12(4),1795-1814.
- Schallert, S., Lavicza, Z., & Vandervieren, E. (2022). Towards inquiry-based flipped classroom scenarios: A design heuristic and principles for lesson planning. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 20(2), 277-297.
- Scott, D., & Friesen, S. (2013). Inquiry-based learning: A review of the research literature. *Alberta Education*, *1*, 1-29.
- Sucilestari, R., & Arizona, K. (2020). The impact of inquiry-based learning on students' critical thinking skills. *ICONIST 2019, 408,* 172-175.
- Tan, R. M., Yangco, R. T., & Que, E. N. (2020). Students' conceptual understanding and science process skills in an inquiry-based flipped classroom environment. *Malaysian Journal of Learning and Instruction*, 17(1), 159-184.
- Wilson, C. D., Taylor, J. A., Kowalski, S. M., & Carlson, J. (2010). The relative effects and equity of inquirybased and commonplace science teaching on students' knowledge, reasoning, and argumentation. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(3), 276-301.

Yu, L., Li, Y., Lan, Y., & Zheng, H. (2023). Impacts of the flipped classroom on student performance and problem solving skills in secondary school chemistry courses Chemistry Education Research and Practice, 24(3), 1025-1034.

Author	s Information
Yolradee Supornpanitkul	Apantee Poonputta
Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science,	Department of Educational Research and Development
Mahasarakham University	Faculty of Education, Mahasarakham University
Khamriang Sub-District, Kantarawichai District	Nakhonsawan Road, Ta-Lad Sub-district, Muang District
Maha Sarakham Province 44150 Thailand	Maha Sarakham Province 44000 Thailand
Contact e-mail: yolradee.su@gmail.com	ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6182-7333
ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0009-0007-0667-0477	
Orrasa Prasitnok	
Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science	
Mahasarakham University	
Khamriang Sub-District, Kantarawichai District	
Maha Sarakham Province 44150 Thailand	
ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2245-2564	